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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Results (for the year ended 30 June)

— Revenue

— Attributable loss”

— Attributable loss from continuing
operations®

— Attributable profit from discontinued
operations®

— Dividends

— Loss per share (in HK dollars)
(restated)*

Financial Position (as at 30 June)
— Cash and cash equivalents*

— Total assets

— Equity/(Deficit)*

Financial Ratios (as at 30 June)
— Current assets/Current liabilities
— Assets/Equity”

— Sales/Assets
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Attributable to owners of the Company
Adjusted pursuant to the rights issue in December 2021
* Adjusted pursuant to the share capital reorganisation on 19 March 2024
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CHAIRPERSON'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the Champion Group’s annual report for 2024,
highlighting significant progress in our Smart City Solution Business. Turnover
surged from HK$12 million in 2023 to HK$179 million in 2024, representing
an increase of nearly 14 times. Additionally, turnover from our Renewable
Energy Business rose from HK$13 million in 2023 to HK$28 million in 2024,
more than doubling compared to the previous year.

While the profit margins for both lines of business remain low, the counterparty
risk is exceptionally low thanks to the Group’s cautious customer selection
policy, which prioritizes state-owned enterprises and reputable companies
with strong financial stability and good credit ratings. Despite this low credit
risk, recent accounting standards mandate provisions for impairment based
heavily on the timing of settlements, which has consequently had a negative
impact on the Group’s overall performance.

In recent years, the global economy has encountered significant challenges,
including the pandemic, geopoalitical conflicts, and a rise in international
protectionism, which have similarly affected the Asia-Pacific region. As a
result, many domestic companies are experiencing a significant slowdown in
capital flow.

To navigate these challenges effectively, our management team strategically
focuses on industries that receive robust government backing. We prioritize
partnerships with state-owned enterprises, central enterprises, and those
under local government control.

While it is true that these clients may have longer capital turnover periods,
their solid foundations and high levels of governmental support greatly
reduce the risk of bad debts. This strategic approach not only safeguards
our investments but also positions us for sustainable growth in a challenging
economic landscape.

The good news is that China’s recent fiscal stimulus measures are expected
to enhance liquidity within the financial system, facilitating easier lending by
banks to both businesses and consumers. It is hoped that these measures
will accelerate the liquidity cycles within the Group’s smart city solution
business.
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CHAIRPERSON'S STATEMENT

The ongoing conflicts in Ukraine and in the Middle East have significant
implications for the world economy, affecting various sectors and markets.
The impacts of the Russian-Ukraine war and the Israeli-Palestinian conflict
on the global economy are multifaceted. Increased energy costs, food
supply disruptions, inflationary pressures, and shifting trade dynamics are all
significant consequences that can influence economic stability and growth in
various regions worldwide. The interconnected nature of the global economy
means that these conflicts can have far-reaching effects beyond their
immediate geographic areas.

For this reason, the Group has prioritized low-cost green energy as a key
agenda item to create value.

After several months of diligent study, observation, and negotiation, the
management of the Group decided in June 2024 to acquire a 51% equity
stake in a new energy company (Innovative Ecoglory Technology Company
Limited).

| am glad to inform the shareholders that in August 2024, we successfully
secured official validation of our technology from government examination
authorities, paving the way for the inaugural trial production of our
Oxyhydrogen Gas System with the Group’s self-developed cold nuclear
fusion technology. The Group’s first Oxyhydrogen Gas System was
delivered to a customer in Guangzhou, where it commenced production of
Oxyhydrogen Gas in the last week of September 2024.

The preliminary data collected over the past month has been promising,
indicating the generation of highly efficient energy at a remarkably low cost.
Consequently, the management anticipates that this Green Energy Project will
generate attractive profits for the Group in the foreseeable future.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express my heartfelt
appreciation to our management team and staff for their hard work and
dedication. | also want to extend my gratitude to our shareholders for their
ongoing support and trust.

Ms. WONG Man Winny
Chairperson
Hong Kong

30 September 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In recent years, the global economy has encountered significant challenges,
including the pandemic, geopolitical conflicts, and a rise in international
protectionism, which have similarly affected the Asia-Pacific region. As a
result, many domestic companies are experiencing a significant slowdown in
capital flow.

To navigate these challenges effectively, our management team strategically
focuses on industries such as smart city solution businesses that receive
robust government backing. We prioritize partnerships with state-owned
enterprises, central enterprises, and those under local government control.

While it is true that these clients may have longer capital turnover periods,
their solid foundations and high levels of governmental support greatly
reduce the risk of bad debts. This strategic approach not only safeguards
our investments but also positions us for sustainable growth in a challenging
economic landscape.

However, China’s latest fiscal stimulus measures are expected to enhance
liquidity within the financial system, facilitating easier lending by banks to both
businesses and consumers. It is hoped that these measures will accelerate
the liquidity cycles within the Group’s smart city solution business.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Revenue

Champion Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) reported a total revenue for the year under review
of approximately HK$209 million as compared with approximately HK$25
million, representing an increase of approximately 736 percent. This was
mainly due to the significant increase in revenue generated from smart city
solution business during the year.

Loss Attributable to Owners of the Company

Loss for the year under review was approximately HK$12.2 million (2023:
HK$12 million). Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company
was approximately HK$12.4 million (2023: approximately HK$12.2 million).
The decrease for the year was mainly due to the combined effect (i) the
increase in contribution from the smart city solution business and renewable
energy business, (i) the recognition of fair value loss of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of approximately HK$19.5 million (2023: gain of
approximately HK$11 million); and (i) no impairment losses recognised for
inventories (2023: HK$6.5 million). Gross profit ratio had decreased from 16%
t0 5.5%, it was mainly due to the lower margin on smart city solution business
by its nature. Loss per share for the year under review is HK1.82 cents (2023:
HK1.78 cents).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS (continued)

Other Income, Gains and Losses

During the year under review, the Group recognized other gain of
approximately HK$2.2 milion (2023: approximately HK$3.2 million). The
decrease in other income was mainly due to decrease in interest income
during the year.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the year under review increased
by approximately 16.9% percent to approximately HK$23 million (2023:
approximately HK$19 million). The increase was attributable to the increase in
business volume of the Group. However, the management of the Company
has continued to streamline our workforce to cope our new development and
our strategy of pursuing a more cost-efficient management of overheads. It
is the current management’s strategy to adopt a stringent and cost-effective
overhead structure so as to enhance the return on investments.

Fair Value (Loss)/Gain on Financial Assets at Fair
Value through Profit or Loss

During the year under review, the Group recognised fair value loss on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$19.5 million as
compared with the fair value gain of approximately HK$11 million last year.
The detailed information is set out in the “Review of Operations” section
below.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year remain at a low level of approximately HK$40,000 (2023:
approximately HK$172,000). Finance cost mainly arisen from the interest on
lease liabilities.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Since its inception, the Group’s primary business model has been the delivery
of comprehensive solutions through technology packages that integrate
relevant hardware and software for customers, referred to as the “Tech
Business Model.” A defining characteristic of this model is the necessity for
continuous innovation, requiring regular introductions of new products to stay
in sync with the rapidly evolving technological landscape. Notably, both the
Smart City Solutions and Renewable Energy sectors are recognized as key
components of this Tech Business Model.

The table below sets out the details of the Tech Business Model of the Smart
City Solution Business and Renewable Energy Business:

Details of the Tech Business Model

MEBEERENFE

Business segments

EB D

E 3 4CI)

BRINK AEENIZHERA—ER
BRARAMRATFPRERHAEABRTR &
TEATHBEOBERGANRE BAIKMA
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o E A E M AR £ RR B e Bl
RE-BERIBNR BERTHRANTERER
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TRAMANE TEBRMBRTREBMA
BAEREREBORMEEEANARE

Renewable Energy Business

A BERRER

Sales of Smart Construction
Solution Business

BEREBRITREY

Sales of loT Solution Business

L EEE S

IDC Business

EMBBIEPLER

The Group designs and installs SPV system (the hardware) and energy management system (a
byproduct using the loT technology) (the software) for customers, through which customers
can monitor the operation of solar system and the production of energy.
EEATPRMUB[FTULEKNIGE R () MR E 1R R it (6 A Y8 B &l
Em(iEE)) BEPAEBZERNREEANGRRSGNEEMER -

Revenue from the Sales of Smart Construction Solution Business is generated through
the design of hardware stack and development of software by the Group for customers to
monitor the on-site construction progress.
EEREMARTENEBWAERAEERABHEANBERERMMEL AT EE
FEERSHEIER -

Revenue from the Sales of loT Solution Business is generated through the design and
development of lIoT enabling and enabled devices, web and internet interfaces, analytics and
customized software solutions by the Group for customers to use in different scenarios such
as classrooms, libraries, etc.
MBEBATREREFNHERAZSEBRIVBEAIENERE BRAOLHH
NEH SMTEREFPEFIMABARTREHNHE BEESFSNRNEMAT
RMES -

The intelligent computing platforms installed by the Group consists of hardware and software
to satisfy the computing functions in different scenarios, in data centres.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Technology — Smart City Solution Business

The smart city solution business of the Group mainly consists of the Sales
of smart construction solution business, Sales of loT Solution Business,
including Internet Data Centre (“IDC”) Business which involves the sale &
installation of data centre systems, and the business of leasing out internet
data center (collectively “Smart City Solutions Business”).

During the review period, the Group made significant strides in its Smart City
Solutions Business, securing several major service contracts and building
strong relationships with key customers. The IDC Business focuses on
delivering training computing platforms, Al models, and education cloud
platforms, along with the necessary infrastructure, to meet the increasing
demand for data centers and technological solutions.

The Group has been selecting financially stable customers, primarily
government-owned entities, which instills a high level of confidence in their
reliability and minimizes the risk of default. We are all aware that payment
cycles in the Mainland China have been slow due to the struggling economy;
however, the actual demand and strong support these entities receive from
the government further reinforce their stability.

Additionally, our suppliers have been very accommodating by granting
us extended credit periods, recognizing that most of our customers are
government-owned enterprises with low credit risk, even though these
customers also require lengthy credit terms from us.

The Group is dedicated to building long-term relationships with our
customers. We have implemented proactive measures to ensure the
successful execution of our projects, including timely installation and rigorous
testing. These efforts are designed to provide our customers with reliable and
efficient solutions tailored to their specific needs.

Moreover, our commitment to cultivating relationships with sizable and
reputable clients has been a crucial factor in our success. Our customer base
primarily consists of state-owned enterprises and well established publicly
listed companies, reflecting the Group’s strong reputation and credibility in
the Mainland market.

In summary, the Group’s Smart City Solutions Business has made significant
progress in securing service contracts, forming partnerships, and delivering
solutions that address the evolving requirements of our customers. We remain
focused on driving growth, expanding our service offerings, and seizing
emerging opportunities in the data center and technological services sectors.
With a robust project pipeline and a commitment to customer satisfaction, we
are confident in our ability to achieve sustainable and profitable growth in this
area.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Technology — Renewable Energy Business

Since 2018, the Group has invested significant resources into the research
and development of our Solar Photovoltaic (SPV) technology products.
It's important to note that the Renewable Energy Business encountered
substantial challenges between 2020 and early 2024 due to factors beyond
our control. These challenges included delays in obtaining necessary
approvals and permits, and the obstacles and additional costs incurred due
to frequent changes of requirements by the power company.

Furthermore, the Hong Kong Government’s sudden cut in Feed-in Tariff
(FiT) rates dissuaded some customers from proceeding with their orders. It's
essential to understand that business resilience across all sectors requires a
buffer period for adaptation and recovery. The scheduled termination of the
Feed-in Tariff (FiT) scheme in Hong Kong in December 2033 signifies that the ‘internal
rate of return’ for the Solar Photovoltaic (SPV) renewable energy business has
entered a phase of diminishing returns. This situation fails to provide adequate
incentives for investors to maintain their investments in this sector in Hong
Kong.

The Group’s Renewable Energy Business consists of

(i) the sales of SPV system (the “Sales of SPV Business”);

(i) the sales of the inverter and energy storage systems and the provision
of technical services and support (the “Inverter-related Business”);
and

(i)  feed-in tariff rates business (the “FiT Rates Business”).

The Sales of SPV Business and the Inverter-related Business are the core

business under the Renewable Energy Business.

During review period, sales of inverters were temporarily halted due to

changes in market conditions and geopolitical factors in Europe, where our

major customer is located.

On a positive note, the Group successfully commenced sales of its SPV

Systems in the second half of the year to Southeast Asia customers as part
of our efforts to expand our market presence.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Gasoil Trading Business

Throughout the review period, the Company adopted a cautious wait-and-see
approach regarding the potential resumption of its gasoil business. However,
management has ultimately decided to fully focus on green energy and will no
longer engage in activities related to fossil fuels. This decision stems from an
understanding of the harmful impact of fossil fuels on the environment, as well
as the rising risks and uncertainties in the oil market due to ongoing wars and
conflicts in the Middle East and Eastern Europe.

Cultural Products

As in previous years, the Company maintains a cautious approach to
managing its cultural products. We stay informed about market conditions to
seize the right opportunities for selling some of the Group’s inventory at the
best possible prices. Additionally, we showcase our cultural products, which
are also works of art, on our Company’s website to raise public awareness.
These strategies are consistent with our practices from prior years.

Securities Investments

As part of the Group’s short-term investment activities, the Group has
invested in some Hong Kong listed securities, the details and information of
which are as follows:

During the Period, the Group recorded an overall fair value loss on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$19.5 million
which was attributable to pessimistic market sentiment on most of the stocks.
On the other hand, the concerns about a deepening global recession and
tensions between the United States and China negatively impacted the global
markets (2023: fair value gain of approximately HK$11 million). Moreover, the
share price of STAR CM dropped by more than 75% due to last year’s recent
incident related to the popular Chinese singing competition, “Sing! China”
which was met with a temporary suspension by Zhejiang Television following
a series of controversies and revelations surrounding unfair practices. The
decision came in the wake of multiple audio recordings and video clips
that surfaced, exposing the inner workings of the show and sparking a
wave of allegations from singers and contestants regarding past injustices
and suppression. Zhejiang Television then announced the suspension of
the latest season of “Sing! China”, stating that they were conducting an
investigation into the concerns raised by the audience and online community.
The suspension of the program has sent shockwaves throughout the
entertainment industry, significantly impacting the stock price of STAR CM
Holdings, the production company responsible for “Sing! China”.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

Therefore, our management sold all the shares of STAR CM during the period
under review in order to reduce of the risk of further drop in the share price of
STAR CM. The investment in STAR CM Holdings Limited last year recorded
a fair value gain of HK$17.4 million, this proves the original decision in this
investment was proper, however, the captioned unfortunate incident was
totally unpredictable.

As at 30 June 2024, the fair value of the listed equity investments in
Hong Kong classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
amounted to approximately HK$10.4 million (30 June 2023: approximately
HK$34 million). These investment portfolios comprised 8 (30 June 2023: 8
equity securities listed in The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) of which 6 (30 June 2023: 5) equity securities are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange while the remaining 2 (30 June 2023: 3)
equity securities are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

A summary of the Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
is given below:

¥KEE®

EHERE @

it MO EEERBBERALE THEAE
ETEXHRG UBREEREE—FTK
HER ZAFFREEETEXHREARE
B % 217,400,0008 7L - =B HERIEED
REZIEREN A WENTEFEHETE
FORTERA o

MR2024F6A30H B AZRAAEEA
BRZEMEEZESLMEFREZLAR
fE1E #) /A10,400,0007% 7T (202346 A30H : 4
34,000,000/ L) - BN ZEHREHABREE
SHIRNEBEBHERSGMABR LB (B £
MHIE % (2023F6 A30H :8) * HFGIBEEH
REE P EMR LT (20236 A308 :5) M
#% T2IH & & N B X FTGEM Lk 1 (20236 A
308 :3)-

AEBEREAABEFAEBRZEZEREEMRS
EANT :

Percentage of
the issued
Number of share capital Accumulated Percentage
shares held by  of the relevant Investment unrealised of total held-
the Group at company at cost at fair value  Fair value at for-trading
Company Name/Stock Code AAEB/ BHRSE Notes 30 June2024 30 June 2024 30 June 2024 (loss)/gain 30 June 2024 investment
A5 20245
R2024 6A30HZ
6H30H EERAR R2024%F REAER 20245 RIFEE
BEZ ERTRA  6A30HZ AREE 6A30Rz RELEZ
Bt R 8 E REEL RERE (FE) hz AfRERE BA
% HKS HKS HKS %
BT BT BT
Financial assets at fair value BRAABEFABEZEREE
through profit or loss
Ziing International Financial Holdings % #iBIE ¢ @A R A &)
Limited (Stock code: 8340) (B {71158 - 8340) 1 1,561,000 174% 12724659 (12,507,680) 216,979 2.08%
China Fortune Financial Group Limited F Bl & %8 EEHR A A
(Stock code: 290) (B 5% - 200) 2 1,423,400 0.02% 2,334,376 (910,976) 1,423,400 13.66%
Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd ERORERDA
(Stock code: 8292) (RHRE : 8202) 3 180,000 003% 2286000  (2,276,280) 9,720 0.09%
Summit Ascent Holdings Limited AAERERDA
(Stock code: 102) (RHRE : 102) 4 2,500,000 006% 2434500 (2,317,000 117,500 1.13%
China Star Entertainment Limited FREEEARAA
(Stock code: 326) (B 15 - 326) 5 12,240,000 0.5% 9,885,455 (2,296,655) 7,588,800 72.82%
Differ Group Holdings Co., Ltd REEEABEERAA
(Stock code: 6878) (RHRE - 6878) 6 300,000 003% 6210000 (6,176,100 33,900 0.33%
Kantone Holdings Limited EREEERAA
(Stock code: 1059) (BRHRE : 1059) 7 1,500,000 0.48% 419,400 143,100 562,500 5.40%
China Environment Resources Group T BIREE RSB ER AR
Limited (Stock code: 1130) (B 5 - 1130) 8 2,340,000 0.48% 518,156 (50,156) 468,000 4.49%
36,812,546 (26,391,747) 10,420,799 100.0%
BEREEEEFRAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

Notes:

14

8340 Zijing International Financial Holdings Limited

Zijing International Financial Holdings Limited (“Zijing Financial”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Zijing Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of corporate finance advisory
services in Hong Kong.

According to Zijing Financial’s third quarterly report for the nine months
ended 30 June 2024, the Zijing Financial Group recorded revenue
of approximately HK$20.8 milion and total comprehensive loss of
approximately HK$3.0 milion. As mentioned in our interim report
2023/2024, they remained on track and their business was considered
viable and sustainable.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group held 1,561,000 shares in Zijing
Financial and the Group recorded an accumulated unrealised loss of
HK$12,507,680 in respect of such investment during the Year. There
was no disposal of the shares in Zijing Financial during the Year.

290 China Fortune Financial Group Limited

China Fortune Financial Group Limited (“China Fortune”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “China Fortune Group”) are
principally engaged in securities and insurance brokerage and provision
of asset management, corporate finance, margin financing and money
lending services.

As mentioned in the interim report 2023/2024 we have kept assessing
the status of China Fortune and we will sell the stock at the appropriate
time and price level, This plan has not changed since the time when we
released our annual report 2023.

According to China Fortune’s annual report for the year ended 31
March 2024, China Fortune Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$49.6 million and total comprehensive expenses of approximately
HK$37.1 million. As at 30 June 2024, the Group held 1,423,400 shares
in China Fortune and the Group recorded an accumulated unrealised
loss of HK$910,976 in respect of such investment during the Year.
There was no disposal of shares of China Fortune during the Year.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

3.

8292 Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd

Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd (“Worldgate”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Worldgate Group”) are principally engaged in the
provision of comprehensive international freight services, transportation
services as well as warehousing services to customers worldwide and
trading of used mobile phones in Hong Kong.

According to Worldgate’s interim report for the six months ended
30 June 2024, Worldgate Group recorded revenue of approximately
Malaysian Ringgit (“RM”) 36 milion and total comprehensive loss
of approximately RM6.9 million. However, under the current market
situation, as stated in our interim report 2023/2024, our plan is still to
sell the stock if price is right.

As 30 June 2024, the Group held 180,000 shares in Worldgate and the
Group recorded an accumulated unrealised loss of HK$2,276,280 in
respect of such investment during the Year.

There was no disposal of the shares in Worldgate during the Year.

102 Summit Ascent Holdings Limited

Summit Ascent Holdings Limited (“Summit Ascent”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Summit Ascent Group”)
conducted through its 60 percent equity interest in Oriental Regent
Limited (“Oriental Regent”) in the operation of gaming and hotel.

The Summit Ascent Group received a management fee income
calculated at 3 percent of the total gaming revenue, net of rebates,
generated by G1 Entertainment Limited Liability Company, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Oriental Regent.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

4.

16

102 Summit Ascent Holdings Limited (Continued)

In their interim report 2023, they mentioned that, with their main project,
Tigre de Cristal, the Summit Ascent Group’s integrated resort nestled
near Vladivostok in the Russian Far East, had admirably sustained
a robust domestic business operation and was still the key revenue
generator of the Group in the first half of 2023. Tigre de Cristal superbly
solidified its acumen in the industry as a well-loved Russians’ integrated
resort amid the then economic ambiguity. With local business swinging
towards an upward trajectory, the near term outlook coming from its
Russian locals for the resort appeared steady. Nonetheless, the drastic
drop in the number of inbound tourist arrivals in the Russian Federation
due to geopolitical tensions were unprecedented and they had taken
every action to mitigate the impact on the Summit Ascent Group.

From a risk management perspective, given uncertainties associated
with the ongoing Russia-Ukraine conflict, compounded by Western
countries’ sanctions and the ban on Russian airspace, have impeded
the free flow of funds. Thus it may not serve their shareholders’
interests to continue deploying capital in building the TdC Phase II.

During these challenging times, the Summit Ascent Group has been
pursuing all available options, as well as potentially looking for strategic
local partners who might be able to bring value in operating the
integrated resort. Besides, the Summit Ascent Group completed the
acquisition of the land parcels in Miyakojima City, Okinawa Prefecture
of Japan in July 2023 for developing into a luxury hotel with seaside
cabins. As the Group has rich experience in building and operating five-
star hotels such as Tigre de Cristal, there is strong potential synergy
and cross selling opportunities for its integrated resort business. The
acquisition is consistent with the Summit Ascent Group’s strategy to
diversify its geographical presence in Asia and allocate the surplus
capital towards investments that have the potential to generate the
highest retumns.

However, Summit Ascent suspended for trading since 11 January
2024, therefore an updated market value is not available for
benchmarking the value of the Group’s shareholding in Summit
Ascent as of 30 June 2024. The Group will closely monitor the latest
development of the resumption process of Summit Ascent and take
appropriate investment decision from time to time.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

4.

102 Summit Ascent Holdings Limited (Continued)

As at 30 June 2024, the Group held 2,500,000 shares in Summit
Ascent and recorded an accumulated unrealized loss of HK$2,317,000
in respect of such investment during the Year.

There was no disposal of the shares in Summit Ascent during the Year.

326 China Star Entertainment Limited

China Star Entertainment Limited (“China Star Entertainment”), and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “China Star Entertainment
Group”) are principally engaged in investment, production, distribution
and licensing of films and television drama series, provision of artist
management services and properties development and investment
operations.

According to China Star’'s annual report 2023, China Star Group
recorded revenue of approximately HK$206.2 million and total
comprehensive expenses of approximately HK$289.3 million. China
Star Entertainment recorded significant growth in property development
and investment operations. The increase in loss was mainly attributable
to substantial increase in finance cost amount to HK$143 million (2022:
HK$2.4 million), substantial marketing, selling and distribution expenses
amounted to HK$79.1 million (2022: HK$11.1 million) as substantial
marketing and selling expenses were incurred in property sales and
multi-media and entertainment business operations.

According to China Star’s interim report for the six months ended
30 June 2024, China Star Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$193.3 million and total comprehensive expenses of approximately
HK$133.5 million.

As the anticipation that the United States may consider cutting interest
rates in the final quarter of 2024 will help the unit price and provide
favourable conditions for Macau properties. Therefore, despite short-
term market volatilities, the China Star Group remains confident in
the long term prospects of Macau’s property market. For the multi-
media and entertainment business operations, the China Star Group
will continue to expand its reach for a wider consumer base and to
enhance its supply chain and private label product portfolio.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

18

326 China Star Entertainment Limited (Continued)

As at 30 June 2024, the Group held 12,240,000 shares in China Star
and the Group recorded an unrealised loss of HK$2,296,655 in respect
of such investment.

There was no disposal of shares of China Star Entertainment during the
Year.

6878 Differ Group Auto Limited

Differ Group Auto Limited (“Differ”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Differ Group”) are principally engaged in the
provision of automobile e-commerce business, assets management
business, financial related services and commodity trading business.

From mid-Jdune 2023, Differ has been proactively preparing
and formulating a restructuring plan for its liabilities (“Proposed
Restructuring”). If the Proposed Restructuring is supported by
most creditors, Differ is confident in repaying debts in an orderly
manner. Meanwhile, the Differ Group will continue to ensure stable
operation of its existing business lines, from construction projects in
the asset management business to the development of automobile
e-commerce business. The Differ Group will both continue to leverage
its strength and core competencies and adopt a prudent approach
to the asset management business, by closely monitoring the rapidly
changing environment of the Chinese property market, seizing various
opportunities to transact for valuable assets at a suitable time and
ensuring steady income streams to generate satisfactory returns for
shareholders. With the objective of reducing both the Differ Group’s
borrowings and interest burden, the Differ Group will continue to
respond calmly and focus on active communication with creditors of all
parties by pushing forward debt restructuring in their best interests.

In addition, given the resilient Chinese economy and wider policy
support, the Differ Group is also cautiously optimistic about the gradual
recovery of the property industry and market confidence in 2024.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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Securities Investments (Continued) EHERE @
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6878 Differ Group Auto Limited (Continued)

According to Differ Group’s annual report for year ended 31 December
2023, the Differ Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB2,251.6
million and other total comprehensive expenses of approximately
RMB2,547.7 million.

Regarding to the Proposed Restructuring, in June 2024, the High Court
of Hong Kong has granted an order to Differ to convene a meeting of
the creditors of Differ for the Proposed Restructuring Scheme. Such
creditors’ meeting was originally scheduled to be held on 16 August
2024 and has been postponed to another date to be announced. Differ
will strive for a revised Proposed Restructuring Scheme and make
application to the Court for the convening of a new Scheme Meeting as
soon as practicable.

According to Differ Group’s interim report for the six months ended
30 June 2024, the Differ Group recorded revenue of approximately
RMB190.9 million and total comprehensive expenses of approximately
RMB118.4 million.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group held 3,000,000 shares of Differ, and the

Group recorded an accumulated unrealized loss of HK$6,176,100 in
respect of such investment during the Year.

There was no disposal of the shares in Differ during the Year.

6878 L EEHEFR A A ()
BIESLEBEEE2023F12 531 HHE
W RE2EEMNRANAEARKE2.516
B MEMBEEIEOABEARE
2547718 T °

BHREZEHE N2024%68 BESSE
ERBESRENEREE T EREE
AEE - ZEEAZERTEN2024F8
B16BRTVETEEEETAMBN S —
A - RLBFIBEITEREELHE
WRERRATITH IS I T 2 R AART BB 5
BRFHERLTHSE -

BIES L EBEHZE202496 A30H
HfE SLEENBKAOABARE
190,900,000 ' MBLRET HOAAR
# 118,400,000 7T °

B E2024F6H30H SEHARLEE
% #93,000,000 & B 0 - EARFE A - &%
HERENRFREREIE 56,176,100
BT e

AHALELHERESORND

BEMNEEBERALT
—E_MFFR 19



EEENWmE D
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)
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Notes: (Continued)

7.

20

1059 Kantone Holdings Limited

Kantone Holdings Limited (“Kantone”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Kantone Group”) are specialised
in critical messaging systems and principally engaged in sales of
systems including software licensing and provision of installation and
maintenance service, leasing of system products.

According to Kantone Group interim report 2023/24, Kantone
Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$83.6 million and total
comprehensive income of approximately HK$6.3 milion. Kantone
Group remained on track and their business was considered as
sustainable.

Our studies indicate that the Critical Messaging Market is projected to
experience substantial growth at a significant CAGR, maintaining its
position in the foreseeable future.

As at 30 Jun 2024, the Group held 1,500,000 shares in Kantone
Group and the Group recorded an accumulated unrealised gain of
HK$143,000 in respect of such investment during the Year.

1130 China Environmental Resources Group Limited

China Environmental Resources Group Limited (“CER”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “CER Group”) are principally
engaged in metal recycle business, motor and motor accessories
business, car parking spaces rental, money lending business, hotel
and related business, securities trading and investment business and
distribution of plantation products, environmental system and plantation
materials.

According to CER Group interim report 2023/24, CER Group recorded
revenue of approximately HK$40.5 million and total comprehensive loss
of approximately HK$40.3 million. CER Group remained on track and
their business was considered as sustainable.

As at 30 Jun 2024, the Group held 2,340,000 shares in CER Group
and the Group recorded an accumulated unrealised loss of HK$50,156
in respect of such investment during the Year.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Money Lending Transactions

Money lending services were provided by a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, which operates as a money lender, and were also offered
incidentally by the Company’s subsidiary in the Mainland of China (Mainland).
The Mainland subsidiary has never presented itself to the public as a money
lender nor sought out borrowers for loans. In Hong Kong, money lending
occurred on a sporadic basis, contingent upon the availability of funds and
referrals from the directors, as the Company did not engage in marketing of
these services. Consequently, the Directors do not view money lending as a
principal or core business of the Company during this fiscal year.

The lending activities were limited to term loans with fixed interest rates.
Each proposed loan was evaluated individually, with no specific industry
designated for lending purposes. However, the Company does maintain a
money lending checklist that the Directors must adhere to if the need arises.
Loans are only issued from idle funds and are extended solely to individuals
or their companies who approach the subsidiary’s directors through personal
connections. The directors then conduct a credit assessment, and if the
results are satisfactory, they submit their recommendations to the Directors in
Hong Kong for further evaluation and approval.

The assessment and Know Your Client (KYC) processes adhere to the
following procedures:

—

Verify the identities of the directors of the borrowers and guarantors (where
appropriate).

2. Confirm the address proof for both the borrowers and guarantors.

3. Obtain a copy of the business registration certificate and the company
number, if applicable.

4. Review the memorandum and articles of association for both the
borrower and the guarantor, if applicable.

5. Consult with external legal advisors, if necessary.

After collecting and verifying the background information of the prospective
borrowers, the director of our Hong Kong money-lending operation or
the director from the Mainland subsidiary will conduct a loan assessment
process. This includes evaluating the creditworthiness and financial standing
of the borrowers by reviewing the management accounts, and the personal
financial background of the guarantor, where applicable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Money Lending Transactions (Continued)

Taking into account the borrower’s financial condition, the extent and quality
of collaterals or guarantees, as well as the loan tenure, the director of the
Hong Kong money-lending operation or the relevant Mainland subsidiary
will propose an interest rate aimed at rationalising profit while ensuring
compliance with the interest rate regulations in Hong Kong and the Mainland.
This is to ensure that we do not impose interest rates exceeding the statutory
limits. Normally, the Mainland subsidiary will charge no less than double the
China Loan Prime Rate (CLPR), while the Hong Kong money lender will add a
reasonable premium atop the Hong Kong Prime Rate.

The due diligence report, KYC documentation, and credit assessment
documents, along with the loan amount, terms, and repayment method, will
be submitted to the Group’s directors for approval. Once approval is granted,
the final loan agreement will be executed by our director of the Mainland
subsidiary, along with the borrower and the guarantor.

The directors of the Hong Kong money lender or the relevant Mainland
subsidiary will maintain personal contact with the borrowers periodically
throughout the duration of the loan. They will begin reminding the borrowers
about repayment approximately one month before the respective due dates.
The following are our standard procedures for handling delinquent loans:

A demand letter will be sent to the borrower requesting immediate repayment.
Our legal counsel in Hong Kong or the Mainland will be instructed to issue a
demand letter to both the borrower and the guarantor, demanding immediate

repayment.

Formal legal action will be initiated if:

(@  The borrower refuses to repay; or

(b)  No settlement arrangement is reached within 14 working days from the
date of our legal demand letter.

Ever since the current management permitted the granting of such term
loans, there has been no signs that any Loan would become delinquent.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Money Lending Transactions (Continued)

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Company’s subsidiary in the
Mainland China (Mainland) entered into two lending agreements (“Loan”) with
independent third-party companies in the Mainland. This is an increase from
the previous year, in which there was one lending agreement with a Mainland
company. The total amount of loans was RMB4 million, compared to RMB2.4
million in 2023. Each loan had a duration of twelve months started from the
drawdown date, with an interest rate of 6% per annum (the same rate as in
2023).

In the reporting period, the Company’s money lending business in Hong Kong
entered into a lending agreement with an individual, who is an independent
third party. The loan amount was HK$2.5 million, with a term of twelve
months beginning from the drawdown date. The interest rate for this loan was
set at 8% per annum, and it is scheduled for full repayment on 20 June 2025.

Battery Management and Charging Business

On 30 December 2022, the Group had purchased the entire interest of Beijing
Mingxin Zhilian Technology Co., Ltd.* (3t I BE {5 %5 B 597 5 R 2 &) (“‘Beijing
Mingxin”), and the battery management and charging business of the Group
was mainly conducted through it, which utilizes 10T and big data platforms
to provide the smart and safe charging solutions for electric bicycles, as well
as smart city safe power management and smart fire protection. Its products
under the “5U” brand series cover smart and safe charging products such as
smart charging cabinets, battery replacement cabinets, charging piles, smart
power management platforms, fire-fighting loT cloud platforms and other
intelligent cloud platforms.

However, after several months of collaboration with the marketing team and
the operations team of Beijing Mingxin, the Group decided to dispose of the
entire equity interest of Beijing Mingxin on 30 June 2023 at a consideration
of RMB7.5 million (“Disposal”) because Beijing Mingxin would potentially put
a serious strain on the Company’s resources to cater for the lengthy time
and substantial investment required to build up a sizeable and sustainable
business network for the smart charging cabinets, battery replacement
cabinets, charging piles, smart power management platforms, fire-fighting
loT cloud platforms and other intelligent cloud platforms. The management of
the Company considered it more beneficial if the Company was to devote the
resources required for this segment to other business segments. As such,
subsequent to the Disposal, the Group ceased the battery management and
charging business and no revenue was generated from such business and
no income will be recognized in our financial statement after the completion
of the Disposal on 30 June 2023. For details, please referred to our
announcement dated 30 December 2022 and 30 June 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Dongguan Hotel Project

On 2 May 2023, the Company entered into an agreement with a purchaser
to dispose of the Group’s entire interest (“Sale Shares”) in Honest City
Enterprises Limited (BE¥k b % B R A 7]) (‘the Disposal Company”) and
to assign those loans owing by the Disposal Company to the Company as
at Completion on the Completion Date (“Sale Loan”) to the purchaser, and
the purchaser conditionally agreed to purchase the Sale Shares and take
up the assignment of the Sale Loan at the consideration of HK$45.9 million
(“Disposal”). The major asset of the Disposal Company is the 48.45% interest
in a parcel of land located at 6 East Huanshi Road, Tangxia Town, Dongguan
City, Guangdong Province, the PRC (FEARKEAMBEERER=ME
[E B3R T B X 65%) with a total site area of about 25,235.63 square metres
and a hotel erected thereon with a total gross floor area of approximately
38,873 square metres, which is owned by the Company’s indirect Mainland
Subsidiary (‘Property”).

On 18 July 2023, as more than 50% of the votes were cast in favor of the
resolution for the Disposal (the “Resolution”), the Resolution was duly passed
by the shareholders of the Company by way of poll at the special general
meeting of the Company held on 18 July 2023. The Completion of the
Disposal will be any day within 6 months after the 18 July 2023 or on a date
mutually agreed upon in advance by the parties in writing.

The Group acquired the indirect interest of the Property in 2017. The Group
had been looking for opportunities to re-develop the Property over these
years and had maintained minimal investment in refurbishing the Property.
Management of the Property had been out-sourced and the Group had
been receiving stable but not remarkable returns. As the real estate market
in the PRC has been depressed and such situation is likely to persist in the
coming few years, the Board considers that the Disposal represents a good
opportunity for the Group to realize its investment in the Disposal Group, and
improve its liquidity and overall financial position, and reallocate its financial
resources for optimizing the operational efficiency and to enhance the return
to the Group. For details, please referred to our announcements dated 2 May
2023 and 18 July 2023, and the circular dated 27 June 2023. Such disposal
was completed on 30 October 2023.

The Group intended to use the net proceeds from the Disposal of
approximately HK$44,900,000 as general working capital of the Group, and
for development of the existing projects of the Group as well as potential
business and investment opportunities which may arise from time to time.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
24 Annual Report 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK

Energy Prices are relevant to the Group’s business in the foreseeable future.

The ongoing conflicts in Ukraine and in the Middle East have significant
implications for the world economy, affecting various sectors and markets.
The impacts of the Russian-Ukraine war and the Israeli-Palestinian conflict
on the global economy are multifaceted. Increased energy costs, food
supply disruptions, inflationary pressures, and shifting trade dynamics are all
significant consequences that can influence economic stability and growth in
various regions worldwide. The interconnected nature of the global economy
means that these conflicts can have far-reaching effects beyond their
immediate geographic areas.

Ukraine War: Russia is a major energy supplier, especially to Europe. The
conflict has led to disruptions in oil and gas supplies, resulting in increased
energy prices globally. European countries are particularly vulnerable, leading
to higher inflation and increased costs for consumers and businesses.

Israel-Palestine Conflict: While this conflict has less direct impact on global
energy prices than the Ukraine war, tensions in the Middle East has led to
fluctuations in oil prices due to geopolitical uncertainties.

It is worth noting that the United States exported more liquefied natural gas (LNG)
than any other country in 2023.

Similar to 2022, Europe remained the primary destination for U.S. LNG
exports in 2023, accounting for 66% of U.S. exports. In 2023, Europe (EU-27
and the UK) continued to import more LNG from U.S. to compensate for the
loss of natural gas previously supplied by pipeline from Russia.

China has also increased LNG imports from the United States during the past
20 months.

In light of the growing demand for low price green energy and the negative
impact of fluctuating natural gas prices, the Group will prioritize the
development of low-cost green energy. This is a resource that the Group can
produce efficiently without relying on supplies from any particular country.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

O UTLOO K (Continued)

A.

26

Green Energy Business

After several months of diligent study, observation, and negotiation,
the management of the Group decided in June 2024 to acquire a 51%
equity stake in a new energy company (Innovative Ecoglory Technology
Company Limited®), committing a total investment of RMB5.14 million
as paid-up capital. Our investment assessment was grounded in the
proof of concept and specific laboratory results obtained during our
evaluations. The Target Company was established in December 2023,
with a registered capital of RMB10,800,000.

In August 2024, we successfully secured official validation of our
technology from government examination authorities, paving the way
for the inaugural trial production of our Oxyhydrogen Gas System
with the Group’s self-developed cold nuclear fusion technology. The
technology facilitates cold nuclear fusion within the machine, producing
the Hydrogen-Oxygen Mixed Combustible Gas. Authoritative testing
has demonstrated that this gas has a higher calorific value than natural
gas and hydrogen. Furthermore, certified environmental assessments
confirm that its emissions are nearly zero during combustion, marking
a crucial step for humanity in reducing reliance on fossil fuels. The
Group’s first Oxyhydrogen Gas System was delivered to a customer
in Guangzhou, where it commenced production of Oxyhydrogen
Gas in the last week of September 2024, enabling this enterprise
in implementing a production model centered on energy efficiency
and emissions reduction. This signifies a crucial step forward in our
advancement within the field of new green energy.

The preliminary data collected over the past week has been promising,
indicating the generation of highly efficient energy at a remarkably
low cost. Consequently, the management anticipates that this Green
Energy Project will generate attractive profits for the Group in the
foreseeable future.

While our first customer undergoes trial use of the Oxyhydrogen Gas
System, the Group has initiated negotiations with numerous biomass
power plants, manufacturing enterprises, and major oxygen consumers
within the country and a number of major potential customers in
Zhejiang Province. In concomitant with the Group's financial planning,
the management is dedicated to establishing a more substantial
production facility in conjunction with the anticipated contract values
over the next 12 to 36 months. We will keep shareholders informed of
any significant developments in the Group’s Green Energy Business
through timely announcements.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

O UTLOO K (Continued)

B.

Renewable Energy Business

Our original business plan focused on selling Huawei’s inverters, which
have been highly esteemed by EU customers due to their competitive
pricing, exceptional performance, and reliability. However, the
escalating geopolitical conflicts involving Western countries continue to
pose significant challenges for the Group. The USA and EU’s embargo
on Huawei products for political reasons serves as an example of the
unfair obstacles facing those looking to sell products in the EU.

On the other hand, given the decreasing duration under the Feed-in Tariff (FiT)
scheme in Hong Kong, the Group is shifting its focus toward medium
to large-scale projects. We are also planning to expand the sale of our
solar photovoltaic (SPV) systems and key components in international
markets. Negotiations are currently ongoing with potential partners in
the PRC, the UK, and several Southeast Asian countries.

Development of Smart City Solution Business

In recent years, the nation has placed a high priority on the
development of the data center industry. The 14th Five-Year Plan
and the 2035 Vision Outline clearly state the goal of “accelerating the
establishment of an integrated national data center system, enhancing
coordinated intelligent scheduling of computing power, constructing
several national hub nodes, and developing clusters of large data
centers, as well as building Class E and 10E supercomputing centers”.

Currently, China’s data center industry is transitioning from rapid
growth to high-quality development. The rollout of policies related to
national integrated data centers and new types of data centers, along
with the implementation of the “East Data, West Computing” initiative,
has provided clear direction for the collaborative and integrated
development of data centers, continually optimizing the layout of the
national data center industry. Taking advantage of these opportunities,
the Group is committed to expanding its Smart City Solution Business
and actively seeking new market prospects. We are currently in
negotiations with several potential customers across different cities in
the Mainland, which present significant revenue opportunities for the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

O UTLOO K (Continued)

C.

28

Development of Smart City Solution Business
(Continued)

During the review period, we have made notable progress in securing
new projects. These contracts highlight the Group’s ability to attract
new customers and effectively deliver our Smart City solutions.

The Group’s expansion into these new projects and potential contracts
reflects our expertise and reputation in the Smart City Solution
industry. With a robust pipeline of projects under negotiation, we are
well-positioned to capitalize on the growing demand for advanced
technological solutions in various cities across the Mainland.

Looking ahead, we are optimistic about the revenue potential of our
IDC Business. We believe these projects will not only enhance our
financial performance but also strengthen our reputation as a trusted
provider of data center solutions and technological services.

The Group’s strategic focus on delivering innovative and customized
Smart City solutions and IDC services will drive growth and improve
our market positioning. By leveraging our expertise, building strong
business relationships, and providing exceptional value to our
customers, we are confident in our ability to achieve lasting success in
the Smart City Solution Business.

In conclusion, the Group’s outlook for the Smart City Solution Business
and IDC centers is promising, with a strong pipeline of projects and
ongoing negotiations with potential customers. We remain committed
to delivering high-quality solutions and expanding our market presence,
ensuring long-term profitability and value creation for our stakeholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK (Continued)

D. Potential Investment

In June 2023, Power Favour Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to acquire approximately 51.15% of the issued shares of
the Intelligent Children’s Palace for a consideration of approximately
HK$33.68 million (“Acquisition”). If successful, this acquisition would
be regarded by the Group as a very substantial acquisition (“VSA”)
and would represent a significant effort by the Company to bolster its
market position.

However, following the execution of the share purchase agreement,
the Company became subject to inquiries and scrutiny from the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). Between June
and September 2023, the Company received both written and verbal
inquiries, as well as a show cause letter, requesting further information
and clarification regarding the acquisition. In response, the Company
diligently addressed the concerns raised by the Stock Exchange.

In September 2023, the Company received a Listing Decision, which
indicated that the acquisition constituted a Reverse Takeover (‘RTO”)
under Rule 14.06B of the Listing Rules. This ruling carried significant
implications for the Company and required further action. Accordingly,
in October 2023, the Company submitted an application to the Listing
Committee, seeking a review of the Listing Decision. The Listing
Committee reviewed the Company’s application in November 2023 and
ultimately upheld the Listing Decision, confirming the RTO classification
(the “LC Decision”).

On March 28, 2024, the Company received a ruling (the “LRC
Decision”) from the Listing Review Committee of the Stock Exchange,
which reaffrmed the LC Decision that the Acquisition constituted
a reverse takeover under Rule 14.06B. While we did not dispute
the LRC’s assessment that the relevant time for the size test ratio
assessment was the date of the Acquisition in June 2023, we contested
that it should simply be classified as a very substantial acquisition, as
the Group had demonstrated that it was not a listed shell.

Management is currently contemplating whether the Group should
pursue action regarding the acquisition before the long stop date of
31 December 2024. For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 25 July 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Financial Position and Gearing

The Group’s financial position remained positive with reasonable gearing.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had approximately HK$14.7 million (2023:
approximately HK$9.1 million) liquid assets made up of deposits, bank
balances and cash.

Current assets were approximately HK$220 million (2023: approximately
HK$131 million) and current liabilities amounted to approximately HK$158
million (2023: approximately HK$37 million). With net current assets of
approximately HK$62 million (2023: approximately HK$94 million), the Group
maintained a healthy level of financial liquidity. Gearing ratio at 30 June 2024
is zero as the Group had no borrowings as at 30 June 2024 (2023: N/A).

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had no short term or long term borrowings (2023:
HK$ Nil). Finance costs for the year were approximately HK$40,000 (2023:
approximately HK$172,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

Fund Raising Activities

A.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group completed a fund
raising exercise to strengthen its financial position and raised total gross
proceeds of approximately HK$205 million, with the net proceeds
therefrom having been applied as follows:
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Date of
announcement  Fund raising activity Fund raising activity  Intended use of Proceeds ~ Actual use of proceeds
it + ¥4
MRS 5478 RERE FEREREARE FERERR AR
18 May 2021 Rights issue on the Approximately For repayment of loan due HK$126 million was utilized for repayment of the loan owing to Guangdong
(Note 1) basis of three rights HK$198 million to Guangdong Finance Finance Limited and HK$41 million was utiized for repayment of
2021F5A18H shares for everyone  #7198,000,0007% 7T Limited under a facility promissory note payables; and approximately HK$22.8 million was utilized
(k1) existing share held agreement entered into for trading business; and approximately HK$3.6 million was utilized for the
on the record date at between the Company renewable energy projects; and the remaining balance of approximately
HK$0.10 per rights and Guangdong Finance HK$4.6 million was fully utilised during the finance year 2023 in funding its
share Limited and promissory renewable energy business.
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Note 1: On 6 December 2021, 31 valid acceptances in respect of a total of Mgkl R2021F 128618 » # E311 4 & #

543,873,330 rights shares allotted and 26 valid applications for a total of
114,287,801 excess rights shares under the rights issue were received. In
aggregate, acceptance of and applications for a total of 658,161,131 rights
shares were received. Based on the acceptance and application results, the
rights issue was undersubscribed. Pursuant to the terms of the underwriting
agreement, the underwriters (Get Nice Securities Limited and Kingston
Securities Limited) eventually took up the 1,393,331,413 undersubscribed

shares.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

Fund Raising Activities (Continued)

B.

32

On 27 June 2024, the Company and the Placing Agents entered into
the Placing Agreements, pursuant to which the Placing Agents have
agreed to place, on a best effort basis, 136,764,000 Placing Shares (ordinary
share) to not less than six Placees at the Placing Price of HK$0.175 per
Placing Share upon the terms and subject to the conditions set out in
the Placing Agreements (the “Placing”).

The Placing Price represents (i) a discount of approximately 13.79%
to the closing price of HK$0.203 per Share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on 27 June 2024, being the date of the Placing Agreements;
(i) a discount of approximately 13.96% to the average closing price of
HK$0.2034 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last
five trading days immediately prior to and excluding the Last Trading
Day; and (i) a discount of approximately 18.80% to the average closing
price of HK$0.2155 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for
the last ten trading days immediately prior to and excluding the Last
Trading Day.

The Placing was completed on 19 July 2024, the net proceeds
received by the Company, after deducting placing commission and
other fee is approximately HK$23 million. The net price of each Placing
Share received is approximately HK$0.168.

The Company intends to use approximately HK$8 million of the net
proceeds for general working capital of the Group, HK$10 million as
working capital specifically for renewable energy business and data
centers, and remaining HK$5 million for investment in the green and/or
renewable energy sectors should the opportunities arise. The Company
expects to use the proceeds before 30 June 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

Treasury Policy

The Group is committed to manage its financial resources prudently and to
maintain a positive liquid financial position. The Group finances its operation
and business development by a combination of internally generated
resources, capital market instruments and banking facilities. All the borrowings
were used by subsidiaries of the Company in the form of fixed loans, margin
loans and promissory notes. As all the Group’s borrowings were denominated
in their local currencies, the currency risk exposure associated with them was
insignificant. The Group does not engage in any speculative derivatives or
structured product transactions, interest rate or foreign exchange speculative
activities. It is the Group’s policy to manage foreign exchange risk through
matching foreign exchange income with expenses and, where significant
exposure to foreign exchange is anticipated, appropriate hedging instruments
may be used.

Capital Commitments

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had a capital commitment of approximately
HK$5.5 million in relation to the capital injection of a subsidiary located in the
PRC (2023: Nil).

Charges

Save as disclosed, the Group did not have any charges on assets as at 30
June 2024.

Contingent liabilities

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had on record a contingent liability of HK$1
million for which provision is not made since, after due consultation with
lawyers, the directors are of the view that a provision is unnecessary as the
chance of winning the case is high. The Group’s subsidiary is the plaintiff in
this High Court case claiming a subcontractor for costs incurred and wasted
in performing a main installation contract amounted to at least HK$0.5 million
plus and the loss of profits in the main and other contracts totalled HK$5.3
million as a result of the defective and substandard work of the subcontractor.
QOur claim is supported by a lot of evidence including but not limited to a
Defects Report prepared by qualified independent professional engineers.
Save as disclosed, the Group had no other material contingent liabilities as at
30 June 2024 (30 June 2023: nil).
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MANAGEM ENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

Significant investments held, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, and future plans for material investments or
capital assets

Save as disclosed, there were no significant investments held, no material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, and
future plans for material investments or capital assets during the year ended
30 June 2024.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. WONG Man Winny (“Ms. Wong”), aged 50, has been an executive
Director and the Chairperson of the Board since October 2017. She was the
executive director and Chairperson of Kantone Holdings Limited (stock code:
1059) for the period from 19 October 2017 to 30 December 2021. Ms. Wong
served as the licensed representative of Business Securities Limited from
2003 to 2004. She has over 10 years of experience in corporate management
and investment. Ms. Wong is the sole director of Worldwide Peace Limited,
which is a substantial shareholder of the Company which falls to be disclosed
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”).

As at 30 June 2024, Ms. Wong is deemed to be interested in 110,589,750
shares in the Company, representing approximately 16.17% of the issued
share capital of the Company, through Worldwide Peace Limited, which is
beneficially wholly owned by Ms. Wong, under the SFO.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LIU Ka Lim (“Mr. Liu”), aged 68, has been re-designated as a non-
executive Director with effect from October 2020 and continues to serve as
an authorised representative of the Company. He was an Executive Director
of the Company from October 2016 to October 2020. He has over 30 years
of professional experience in the field of finance and accounting. He is a
fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is
also a member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute and a
Certified Carbon Auditor registered under the Energy Institute of UK. Mr. Liu
is currently a non-executive director of Kantone Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). He was an executive director of Kantone Holdings Limited from
October 2016 to October 2020. He is also a director of serval subsidiaries
of the Group. From March 2004 to August 2006, Mr. Liu was the chairman
of Galileo Capital Group Limited (now known as Imperium Financial Group
Limited), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. From January
2011 to June 2013, Mr. Liu was a non-executive director of United Pacific
Industries Limited (now known as Superactive Group Company Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

As at 30 June 2024, Mr. Liu beneficially owned 498,000 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 0.07% of the issued share capital of
the Company.

Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica (“Ms. To"), aged 44, has been a non-executive
Director since July 2017. Ms. To is currently a Barrister-at-Law. Ms. To
holds a postgraduate certificate in laws from University of Hong Kong
and a graduate diploma in English and Hong Kong law from Manchester
Metropolitan University. Ms. To was admitted as a barrister of the High Court
of HKSAR in 2009. Ms. To has more than 15 years of experience in the
legal field. Ms. To is currently a non-executive director of Kantone Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai (“Mr. Leung”), aged 60, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since June 2017. Mr. Leung has
extensive experience in accounting and finance. Mr. Leung received a
Bachelor of Arts degree in Accountancy from the City University of Hong
Kong. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Leung is currently an independent non-executive director
of Kantone (stock code: 1059), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Leung served as a financial controller and
company secretary of a private company during 2003 to 2006. From 1996 to
2003, he served various roles including financial controller, company secretary
and finance manager in several listed companies within the ITC Corporation
Limited (now known as PT International Development Corporation Limited)
(stock code: 372), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. He also worked as a senior accountant from 1992 to 1996
in Hopewell Holdings Limited, which was de-listed from the Stock Exchange
on 3 May 2019. Mr. Leung was also an independent non-executive director
of China Aluminum Cans Holdings Limited (stock code: 6898), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, during the period
from June 2013 to June 2016. Currently, Mr. Leung is the chief financial
officer and company secretary of Da Ming International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1090), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. CHAN Yik Hei (“Mr. Chan”), aged 34, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since June 2017. Mr. Chan graduated
from Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 2011 with a
bachelor’s degree in Electronic & Computer Engineering. Mr. Chan is a young
inventor and entrepreneur in Hong Kong. In 2004, he won the Second Award
in Engineering Category in the 55th Intel International Science and Engineering
Fair in the United States of America for his invention of a smart security
robot. An asteroid no. 20780 was named after him. In 2006, Mr. Chan’s
autobiography “Chan Yik Hei, The Young Man Who Grabbed The Star* (4
EVFRSF) was published, and became one of the bestsellers on the
Hong Kong Book Fair. He was also the torchbearer of the 54th Olympic torch
relay in Hong Kong and a member of the management committee of The
Church of Christ in China Tam Lee Lai Fun Memorial Secondary School. In
2016, he was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the HKSAR Government.
Mr. Chan is one of the founding shareholders of Bull.B Technology Limited,
which provides (i) online platform and development services; and (i) mobile
application development services, including FinTech platform development
and educational apps.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
Dl RECTO RS (Continued)

Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand (“Mr. Wong”), aged 68, has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company since March 2018. From
January 2004 to August 2006, Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive
director of Galileo Capital Group Limited (now known as Imperium Financial
Group Limited) (stock code: 8029), the shares of which are traded on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from
the University of British Columbia. Formerly a foreign correspondent, he held
various key communications roles in government agencies, the Hong Kong
Jockey Club, a major international charity, and tertiary academic institutions.
He is currently responsible for public relations and communications at an
educational institution.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. NG Kwok Leung (“Mr. Ng”), aged 42, has been appointed as Chief
Financial Controller and Company Secretary of the Company since June
2024.

Mr. Ng obtained a Master of Science in Professional Accountancy from the
University of London, and obtained a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) degree in
Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He has over 20
years of experience in corporate finance, accounting and auditing fields. Prior
to his appointment, Mr. Ng had served in companies listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and an international accountants firm.

Mr. Ng is a fellow member of the ACCA, fellow member of the HKICPA and
Certified Internal Auditor of the Institute of Internal Auditors.
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The Directors would like to present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in system sales including renewable energy systems and the related
engineering work, software development, licensing and customization, of
system products including loT which, in turn, includes smart construction site
and smart city, trading of gasoil and trading of cultural products, and strategic
investment.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business, an indication of its likely future development
and an analysis as well as particulars of important events affecting the
Group that have occurred since the end of the year ended 30 June 2024 are
discussed in the “Chairperson’s Statement” and “Management Discuss and
Analysis”, sections from pages 5 to 34. On the other hand, a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group is set out in the “Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 52 to 77. The above discussions form part of
this report.

In addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group puts great emphasis in environmental protection and energy
conservation to enhance the capacity of sustainable development and
undertake relative social responsibility. Through the establishment of an ever-
improving management system, energy conservation and environmental
protection were strongly promoted, leading to the remarkable achievement of
environmental management.

Pursuant to Rule 13.91 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), the Company will publish separately
an Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG”) Report simultaneously
with this report in compliance with the provision set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations, in particular, those of which may have a significant
impact on the Group. Save as otherwise disclosed and as far as the Board
and management are aware, the Group has complied with all related laws
and regulations in all material aspects which may have significant impact on
the business and operation of the Group during the year under review.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company believes that employees, customers and business partners
are the key to maintain continuous sustainable development. The Company
is committed to be people-oriented and build up good relationship with
its employees. The Group provides on-the-job training and development
opportunities to enhance its employees’ career progression. Through different
trainings, staff’s professional knowledge in corporate operations, occupational
and management skills are enhanced. The Group also values the health and
well-being of its staff. Employees are provided with health insurance coverage
for their medical expenses. The Group also works together with its business
partners to provide high quality products and services to achieve the goal of
sustainable development and contribution to society.

There was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
distributors and/or customers during the year under review.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
pages 84 to 85 and in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 30 June 2024 (2023: Nil). Capital will be reserved for the
expansion of the Group’s business and to capture investment opportunities
arising in the future. There is no arrangement that any shareholder of the
Company has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The board of directors of the Company established a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) in December 2018, pursuant to which the Company may declare
and distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, the Board shall take into account,
among other things, the actual and expected financial performance of the
Group, retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group, cash flow, working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future expansion plans of the Group,
the liquidity position of the Group, general economic conditions, business
cycle of the Group’s business, future prospects and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company and any other relevant factors that the Board may
consider relevant.

The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to compliance
with applicable laws and regulations including the laws of Bermuda and the
Company’s Bye-laws. The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy
from time to time and there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in
any particular amount for any given period.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year under review are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 88 and Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY

Details of the distributable reserve of the Company as at 30 June 2024 are
set out in Note 38 to the financial statements.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on pages 202 to 203.

INTEREST BEARING OTHER BORROWING

The group had no interest bearing borrowing outstanding as at 30 June
2024.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Company during the year ended 30 June
2024 amounted to HK$10,500 (2023: HK$11,200).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets of the Group during the year are set out
in Notes 17 to 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. LIU Ka Lim
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai
Mr. CHAN Yik Hei
Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand

In accordance with bye-law 87(1) of the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-
laws”), one-third of the Directors for the time being, (or if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation so that each Director shall be subject to retirement at
least once every three years.

In accordance with bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, any Director appointed
by the Board at any time either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at that meeting.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation) as at the date of this report.
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DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO RULE
13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, there is no other change
in the Directors’ information required to be disclosed during the year under
review.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND
DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

The Company has a share option scheme under which eligible persons,
including directors of the Company or any of their respective subsidiaries,
may be granted options to subscribe for shares of the Company.

Details of the share option schemes of the Company are set out in Note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the share option
schemes of the Company.

Other than the share option schemes described in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 30 June 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying share and
debentures of the Company or any of their spouses or children under eighteen
years of age or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)) which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set forth under Appendix C3 of the Listing
Rules were as follows:
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1. As at 30 June 2024, these shares of the Company were held by Worldwide Peace 1. MR2024F6 A30H  AARZERMHBARRQRIR

Limited, which is wholly-owned by Ms. Wong Man Winny, the current chairperson and
executive director of the Company. Ms. Wong Man Winny is deemed to be interested
in the shares of the Company, representing approximately 16.17% of the issued share
of the Company held by Worldwide Peace Limited.

2. The letter “L” denotes the Director’s long position in the shares of the Company.

* The percentage represents the number of shares involved divided by the number of
the Company’s issued shares as at 30 June 2024.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company or any of their spouses or children under eighteen years of age had
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (as defined in Part XV of
the SFO) as at 30 June 2024 as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” below,
no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company, its subsidiaries, holding company
and any of their subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his/
her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors is interested in any business apart from the Group’s
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” below,
no contract of significance has been entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Group did not conduct any non-exempt
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group had entered into certain
transactions with parties which were regarded as “Related Parties” under the
applicable accounting principles. Details of those related party transactions
are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. The
transactions which are considered as connected transactions under the
Listing Rules are further disclosed in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER

As at 30 June 2024, the following person (other than the interests of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Directors’ interests and short positions in securities” above) had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO:
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Approximate
percentage*

Number of of the issued

Name Capacity shares share capital
HEBITREZ

8 514 R%H & A BAE 2
Worldwide Peace Limited Beneficial owner 110,589,750(L) (Note 1) (Fif&E1) 16.17%
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Note: The letter “L” denotes the shareholder’s long position in the shares of the Company.

* The percentage represents the number of shares of the Company involved divided by
the number of the Company’s issued shares as at 30 June 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2024, according to the register of
interests required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO,
there was no person who had any interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

The Company and its subsidiaries had no outstanding convertible securities,
options, warrants or similar rights as at 30 June 2024.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed the
Company’s listed securities during the year ended 30 June 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws
of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group sells its products to customers, some of whom act as its
distributors, and purchases materials and components from suppliers, some
of whom act as its merchandisers.

For the year ended 30 June 2024, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers, on individual entity basis, accounted for approximately 88% of
the total revenue for the year and sales to the largest customer, on individual
entity basis, included therein amounted to approximately 52%. Purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers, on individual entity basis, accounted
for approximately 90% of the total purchases for the year and purchases from
the largest supplier, on individual entity basis, included therein amounted to
approximately 26%.

None of the Directors, their close associates, or any shareholders, which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital, had any interest in the share capital of the five largest
customers or suppliers of the Company.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2024, the Group employed about 41 full-time and part-time
staff around the globe (2023: 34). Staff costs for the year ended 30 June
2023 were approximately HK$12.7 million (2023: approximately HK$11.9
million).

The remuneration of the employees of the Group is determined with reference
to market terms and the performance, qualifications and experience of the
individual employee.

Emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the Human Resources and
Remuneration Committee of the Company after considering factors such as
the Company’s operating results, individual capabilities, performance, salaries
paid by comparable companies, and time commitment and responsibilities of
the position.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme that may serve as an
incentive to Directors, eligible employees and consultants where appropriate.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or
trusts, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect
of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any Directors. Such permitted
indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors was in force during the
year and remained in force as of the date of this report.

The Group has taken out a directors’ liability insurance to cover Directors’
liabilities to third parties. During the year ended 30 June 2024, no claims were
made against the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme as disclosed in this report, no equity-
linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares, or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares, were entered into by the Company during the
year or subsisted at the end of the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration paid by the Group to the Directors of the
Company and senior management of the Group for the year ended 30 June
2024 are set out in Note 10 to the financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no significant event affecting the Group occurred subsequent to 30
June 2024.

AUDITOR

Cheng & Cheng Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

Ms. WONG MAN WINNY
CHAIRPERSON

Hong Kong
30 September 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

The Board and the senior management of the Company are committed to
establishing good corporate governance practices and procedures. The
maintenance of high standard of business ethics and corporate governance
practices has always been one of the Group’s goals. The Company believes
that good corporate governance provides a framework that is essential for
effective management, successful business growth and a healthy corporate
culture, thereby leading to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasize a quality
Board, sound internal controls, transparency and accountability to all
shareholders. By applying rigorous corporate governance practices, the
Group believes that its accountability and transparency will be improved
thereby instilling confidence to shareholders and the public. The Company
has been conducting its business according to the principles of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules during the year ended 30 June 2024.

Throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2024, the Group has complied
with the code provisions in the CG Code. The Board will review its corporate
governance practice annually and make necessary changes if necessary.
Meetings were held throughout the year under review and where appropriate,
circulars and other guidance notes were issued to Directors and senior
management of the Group to ensure that they were aware of issues regarding
corporate governance practices.
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BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Group’s business, strategic decisions and performances and
is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. In practice, the Board takes responsibility
for decision making in all major matters of the Company including the approval
and monitoring of all policy matters, the setting of objectives, annual budgets
and overall strategies, the entering into material transactions, appointment
of Directors and other significant financial and operational matters. The day-
to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are
delegated to the senior executives and the management. Their responsibilities
include the implementation of decisions made by the Board, the co-ordination
and direction of day-to-day operation and management of the Company
in accordance with the management strategies and plans approved by the
Board. The Board receives full support from senior executives to discharge
its responsibility. Prior approval must be obtained from the Board before
entering into any significant transactions. The statement of the auditors of
the Company in relation to their reporting responsibilities for the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages
78 to 83 of this report.

Composition

The composition of the Board during the year and up to the date of this report
was as follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. LIU Ka Lim
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LEUNG Man Fai

Mr. CHAN Yik Hei

Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand

One of the independent non-executive Directors has appropriate accounting
and financial management expertise. The number of independent non-
executive Directors is more than one-third of the Board. Biographical details
of the other Directors are set out in the paragraph headed “Directors and
senior management profile” on pages 35 to 38 of this report.
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BOARD (continueq)

Composition (Continued)

The presence of three independent non-executive Directors is considered by
the Board to be a reasonable balance between executive Directors and non-
executive Directors. The Board is of the opinion that such balance can provide
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders and
of the Group. The independent non-executive Directors provide to the Group
with a wide range of expertise and experience so that independent judgement
can be exercised effectively. They have also participated in Board meetings
and general meetings, dealt with potential conflicts of interest, served on audit
committee, human resources and remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company and scrutinized the Group’s performance and
reporting. Through their active participation, the management process of the
Company can be critically reviewed and controlled.

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise
and have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics
and integrity. All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the
Company’s affairs. The Board believes that the ratio among executive
Director, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
is reasonable and adequate to perform check and balance function over the
Board in the decision-making process.

The Board is responsible for the appointment of new Director and nomination
for re-election by shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company.
Under the Bye-laws, the Board may from time to time appoint a new Director
either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any new Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office until the next annual general meeting after his/her appointment and
shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting.

Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of Chairperson
and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
Chairperson and the Chief Executive Officer should be clearly established and
set out in writing.

The role of Chairperson is being performed by Ms. Wong Man Winny, who
is also being the Executive Directors, and she is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and development of the Group and the effective functioning
and leadership of the Board.

The Company has no such title as the Chief Executive Officer and therefore
the daily operation and management of the Company has been monitored by
the Executive Director and assisted by the non-executive Directors as well as
the senior management.
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BOARD (continueq)

Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer (Continued)

The Board is of the view that although there is no Chief Executive Officer,
the balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the Board,
which comprises experienced individuals and who meet from time to time to
look after the operations of the Company.

INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and each of them has declared fulfiment of all the
guidelines for assessing independence in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Company considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

All independent non-executive Directors are identified as such in all corporate
communications containing the names of the Directors. In addition, there is
no material relationship between Board members.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
are appointed without a specific term but subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.

BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in person or through other electronic means of
communication at least four times every year to determine the overall strategic
direction, objectives and to approve interim results, annual results or other
significant matters. Draft notice and agenda for regular meetings are provided
to all Directors for comments and inclusion of any matters for deliberation
at the meetings. Apart from holding regular meetings, senior management
from time to time provides to the Directors information on activities and
development of the business of the Group. The company secretary assists
the Chairperson in preparing agenda for the meetings and ensures that all
applicable rules and regulations in connection with the meetings are observed
and complied with. Except for ad hoc Board meetings to deal with urgent
issues, the agenda and Board papers are then sent to all Directors at least
3 days prior to the meeting. The company secretary also takes detailed
minutes, keeps records of matters discussed and decision resolved at the
meetings.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS' E=EZg€€ZRRBREAEw
MEET'NGS (Continued)

Directors’ attendances in the general meetings and the meetings of the RNEERNBITZREREREFE %T?é

Board, audit committee, human resources and remuneration committee, EB& - ANBBRLEFNLEES RELES
nomination committee and investment committee held during the year are set RERBZE@@m &= F B A& W0 T :
out below:
Human
Resources and
Audit Remuneration Nomination Investment Annual/
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee special
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting  General Meeting
attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/
Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible
Name of Directors to attend to attend to attend to attend to attend to attend
Btk BHE/
BiliE/ BHE/ RERLEZ BitiE/ Bt/ REREREZ
REREREZ FRERLEREZ ADERR FRERLEEZ RERUEREZ RREFAEH
ESHA ESgel ZNZECeE FMZSeed REZE8SH REZEEEE RRKAAS
Executive Directors
HTES
Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson) 8/8 - - - - 2/2
ERRL(EE)
Non-executive Directors
FHUITES
Mr. LIU Ka Lim 8/8 - - - 212 2/2
BREREE
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica 8/8 - - - - 2/2
H#Fs L
Independent Non-executive Directors
BIKGITES
Mr. LEUNG Man Fai 8/8 2/2 11 1/1 2/2 2/2
AYEEE
Mr. CHAN Yik Hei 8/8 2/2 11 1/1 - 1/2
BoH%H%E
Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand 8/8 2/2 7 11 - 2/2
BEENEE

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
56 Annual Report 2024



TRERBSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEET'NGS (Continued)

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss and formulate
the overall strategies of the Group, monitor financial performances, review the
annual and interim results, and make decisions on significant matters. The
execution of daily operational matters is delegated to the senior executives of
the Group.

The company secretary records the proceedings of each Board meeting in
detail by keeping minutes, including the record of all decisions resolved by the
Board together with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if any).
Draft Board minutes are circulated to all Directors for comment and approval
as soon as practicable after the meeting. All minutes are open for inspection
at any reasonable time upon request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information at all times and
they may make further enquiries if it is necessary to do so.

They also have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the company
secretary, who is held responsible for providing Directors with Board papers
and other related materials. The company secretary also ensures that proper
Board procedures are followed and that all applicable laws and regulations
are complied with. If the Directors consider necessary and appropriate, they
may retain the service of independent professional advisers at the Group’s
expense.

In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a substantial shareholder
or a Director, such matter will be resolved in a physical meeting instead
of passing written resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors with
no conflict of interest will be present at meetings to deal with such conflict
issues.

The Board committees, including the audit committee, the human resources
and remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the investment
committee, have all adopted the applicable practices and procedures used in
Board meetings.

The annual general meeting and other special general meetings of the
Company are the primary forum for communication with its shareholders and
for shareholders’ participation. All shareholders are encouraged to attend the
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings on
their behalf if they are unable to attend.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Company held its annual general
meeting on 20 December 2023. Details of major items discussed in those
general meetings are set out in the circulars of the Company dated 21
November 2023.
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TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR
DIRECTORS

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors, must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities as
Directors and of the business of the Group. As such, the Group provides a
comprehensive and formal introduction to each newly appointed Director
upon his/her appointment. Briefings and orientations are provided so as
to ensure that new Directors are familiar with the role of the Board, their
legal and other duties as a Director as well as the business and governance
practices of the Group. Such programmes are tailor made for each Director
taking into account their background and expertise.

The Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable training to
all Directors for their continuous professional development. During the year
ended 30 June 2024 and up to the date of this report, all Directors engaged
in business activities in their respective fields as continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills so as to
ensure that their contributions to the Board remain informed and relevant,
and they participated in the following training:

EEZ2HIIRXE

EREZ(ERINTEERBIIFATE
B BEEREEREZTZARREUR
AEBZE® At AEBREBE2HERE
MEFEZERAGARSFRHEZARER
N WERHBNE RDHNA - ARERH
EEATEFTT2AE REEREFZE
REEMBE UARAEBZEBREARR
B ZEFdaIREERESTZESRER
HMBMABREE S GIE -

ARBBIREBESTIHBEIRERTH
BENBILRTEABLEE - REE20245F
6AALFEAMBEARSES YL 288
EFEERERANBBEDEBANS LA
BEERR NMBRILE M ENE X E
RECEBABIFTEARNELHESS
EHER - RE2EZEIWT

Type of Training (Notes)

Name of Directors EENR sE @B (B RE)

Executive Directors HITES

Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson) BERHL LT (EFE) A B

Non-executive Directors FHITES

Mr. LIU Ka Lim BaRitE A B

Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica MYzt A B

Independent Non-executive Directors BAUKHTESE

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai BB A A B

Mr. CHAN Yik Hei bR 5 % A& A B

Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand E-p s A B
Notes: B EE
A Attending seminars, briefing sessions, conference and/or forums. A: HREMSE BN E gk LmiE-
B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy and/or general  B: HEFBCER /S REKESHEZRE - B

business etc.

Each Director will, upon his/her first appointment and thereafter on a yearly
basis, disclose to the Group the number and nature of offices held by
such Director in public companies and organizations and other significant
commitments.
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HUMAN RESOURCES AND
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The human resources and remuneration committee was established with
specific written terms of reference which was further revised and adopted
on 29 December 2022. As at 30 June 2024, the human resources and
remuneration committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Man Fai (Chairperson), Mr. Chan Yik Hei and
Mr. Wong Yuk Man Edmand.

The human resources and remuneration committee is responsible for, among
other things, making recommendations to the Board regarding the overall
remuneration policy, remuneration of Directors and senior management of
the Group, share option scheme, bonus structure, provident fund and other
compensation-related issues. This committee also reviewed matters relating
to share schemes under chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. This committee
consults with the Chairperson and/or other Board members on its proposals
and recommendations and has access to professional advice, if necessary.
The human resources and remuneration committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the human resources and remuneration
committee is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

During the year under review, the human resources and remuneration
committee held one meeting to review and make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of all Directors and senior management.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was established with specific written terms of
reference which was revised and adopted on 23 September 2014. As at 30
June 2024, the nomination committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Man Fai (Chairperson), Mr. Chan Yik
Hei and Mr. Wong Yuk Man Edmand.

The main duties of the nomination committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board annually, making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of
the Board, selecting individuals nominated for directorships, assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairperson
and other executive Director. The nomination committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the nomination committee is posted on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The nomination
committee shall meet at least once a year.

During the year under review, the nomination committee held one meeting
to review the composition and diversity of the Board, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and considered
the appointments of Directors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee with specific written terms
of reference which was revised and adopted on 1 January 2016. The main
duties of the audit committee include, among other things, the following:

(@) to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff responsible
for the accounting and financial reporting function or external auditor
before submission to the Board.

(b)  to review the relationship with the external auditor by reference to the
work performed by the auditor, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditor.

(c)  to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control system and risk management system
and associated procedures.

The audit committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge and
perform its duties.

Other duties of the audit committee are set out in its specific terms of
reference which is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The audit committee shall meet at least twice a year.

As at 30 June 2024, the audit committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung Man Fai (Chairperson), Mr. Chan Yik
Hei and Mr. Wong Yuk Man Edmand. No member of the audit committee is
a former partner of the existing audit firm of the Company within two years
from the date of his ceasing to be a partner or had any financial interest in
the auditing firm. The audit committee has reviewed the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls and
financial reporting matters with the management team of the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

During the year under review, the audit committee held two meetings to
review, among other things, the Company’s interim report for the six months
ended 31 December 2023 and annual report for the year ended 30 June
2023. The audit committee has also reviewed the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, report on the Company’s internal control and risk
management review and processes as well as the re-appointment of the
external auditor. There is no material uncertainty relating to events and
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. There is no disagreement between the Board
and the audit committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of external auditor.

The accounts for the year were audited by CHENG & CHENG LIMITED,
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The audit committee has recommended to the Board that CHENG & CHENG
LIMITED, be nominated for re-appointment as the auditor of the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The company secretary keeps full minutes of all audit committee meetings.
In line with practices consistent with Board meetings and other committee
meetings, draft and final version of audit committee meeting minutes are
circulated to all members of the audit committee for comments, approval,
and record as soon as practicable after each meeting.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The investment committee was established with specific written terms of
reference which was adopted on 15 August 2017. As at 30 June 2024, the
investment committee consists of one non-executive Director, namely, Mr.
Liu Ka Lim (Chairperson), one independent non-executive Director, namely,
Mr. Leung Man Fai and one executive staff of the Company. The investment
committee is responsible for, among other things, to review investment
performance and to advise the Company on their investment of cash, cash
equivalents, financial assets, margin deposits, cash collateral taking account
of the necessary constraints on the deployment of the various sources and
purposes of the funds to enhance the Company’s investment returns.

The specific terms of reference of the investment committee is posted on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The investment
committee meets at least twice a year.

During the year under review, the investment committee held two meeting to
consider and review the possible securities investments of the Group.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted the director nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) on 28 December 2018 which sets out the criteria and process in the
nomination and appointment of directors of the Company. This Nomination
Policy ensures that the Board has a balance of skills, experience, and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the Company; and ensures Board continuity
and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Nomination Policy contains a number of factors in assessing the suitability
of a proposed candidate, which include his or her ability to devote sufficient
effort to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity of the
Board as well as the effective carrying out by the Board of the responsibilities.

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, his or her independence shall be assessed in accordance
with, among other things, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange
from time to time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education,
qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he
or she has the appropriate professional qualifications or related management
expertise for filling the office of an independent non-executive Director with
such qualifications or expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules.

This Policy also lays down the nomination procedures on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors. The Nomination Committee will conduct the
relevant selection process (coupled with the relevant selection criteria) against
the nominated candidate for new directorship or director offering for re-
election and make recommendations to the Board for consideration. Where
appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed election and re-
election of director at the general meeting.
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Corporate Governance Policies and
Mechanism

The Board recognizes that a comprehensive corporate governance
management structure is crucial in helping the Company to implement its
strategies and policies effectively and consistently throughout the Group,
and safeguard the long-term interests of its shareholders. Accordingly, the
Company has established the following policies and mechanism and has
continuously reviewed them to ensure that the Group meets the requirements
of the applicable laws and regulations:

° Board Diversity Policy

° Mechanisms Ensuring Independent Views Available to the Board
° Anti-corruption Policy

° Whistle-blowing Policy

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the approach
to achieve diversity within the Board. The Company considered that
diversity of board members can be achieved through consideration of a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The Board is satisfied with board diversity. The current board gender diversity
has fulfilled the principle set out in Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)

The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits of the selected candidates
and their contribution to the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the current Board composition under
diversified perspectives is set out as follows:
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Workforce Diversity

As at 30 June 2024, the ratio of male and female in the workforce by gender
and age of the Group (including executive directors and senior management)
is 59% and 41% respectively as set out above. The goal of a workplace
diversity is to create the right environment where people feel comfortable
working together with both collaboratively and effectively in an environment
without judgment; all staff is able to reach their full potential while working
as a team. The Group considers that the current composition of workforce
diversity objective (gender ratio, plan or measurable objectives for gender
diversity, factors or circumstances affecting the gender ratio, etc) had been
achieved at acceptable level.
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Independent Views of the Board

In compliance with Code B.1.4 of the CG Code, on 29 December 2022,
the Company has established and adopted the mechanisms that was to
ensure a strong independent element, and independent views and input
are available to the board of directors of the Company (the “Mechanisms”).
The Mechanisms cover composition of the board and board committees;
independence assessment; compensation, Board’s decision making; and
review of the policy implementation. The Board will review the implementation
and effectiveness of the Mechanisms annually. At the meeting held on
30 September 2024, the Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Mechanisms and considered that the Group was satisfied
with the independence status of all the independent non-executive directors.

Company Secretary

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. NG Kwok Leung, the
Company Secretary, has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training for the Year.

Anti-corruption Policy

On 29 December 2022, the Company adopted an anti-corruption policy
(“Anti-Corruption Policy”), this policy is to outline the Company’s
expectations and requirements on prevention, detection, reporting and
investigation of any suspected fraud, corruption and other similar irregularities;
and to provide information and guidance on recognizing and dealing with
bribery and corruption, the Company has established its group-wise anti-
corruption policy that complies with Code D.2.7 of the CG Code.

Under the Anti-Corruption Policy, the Group has established the Code
of Business Conducts, and has put in place internal control mechanism
to prevent the occurrence of fraud, theft, bribery, corruption and other
misconducts involving employees, customers and other third parties.

The Anti-Corruption Policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align with
the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best practice.

Whistle-blowing Policy

The Group is committed to achieving and maintaining the highest standards
of openness, probity and accountability, the Company has established a
whistle-blowing policy which forms an important part of its effective risk
management and internal control systems.
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Whistle-blowing Policy (continued)

Under the whistle-blowing policy, the Group allows stakeholders to report
suspicious negligence, corruption, bribery and other misconduct to the Group
anonymously. All reported cases are investigated confidentially to ensure the
whistle-blower is protected.

The whistle-blowing policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align with
the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best practice.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 30 June 2024, the fee for the Company’s external auditor
for audit services was approximately HK$1,300,000 (2023: approximately
HK$1,300,000) and that for non-audit services mainly relating to (i) our very
substantial and connected acquisition was approximately HK$290,000 and (i)
internal control review, risk management advisory and ESG report matter was
approximately HK$400,000 (2023: approximately HK$651,000, mainly on
discloseable transactions, internal control review, risk management advisory
and ESG report related matters).

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of the Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors, who
have confirmed that, during the year ended 30 June 2024, each of them has
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group. The
auditor is responsible to form an independent opinion on the audited financial
statements and report the same to the shareholders of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance functions including but
not limited to developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, reviewing
and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, and reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for making decisions in relation to the overall
strategic development of the Group’s business. All Directors have formal
letters of appointment setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment. Due to the diversity and volume of the Group’s business,
responsibility in relation to the daily operations and execution of the strategic
business plans are delegated to the management of the Group.

All committees, namely the audit committee, the human resources and
remuneration committee, the nomination committee, and the investment
committee, have specific terms of reference setting out the authorities and
responsibilities of the respective committees. All committees are required by
their terms of reference to report to the Board in relation to their decisions,
findings or recommendations, and in certain specific situations, to seek the
Board’s approval before taking any actions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board will review, on a yearly basis, all delegations by the Board to
different committees to ensure that such delegations are appropriate and
continue to be beneficial to the Company as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
to provide adequate cover, as determined by the Board, in respect of the
current Board members and senior management of the Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH THE
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ Communication Policy on 29
December 2022 with the objective of providing the Shareholders with equal
and timely access to information about the Company in order to enable the
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow them to
engage actively with the Company.

The Shareholders’” communication policy is regularly reviewed to ensure
its effectiveness during the Reporting Period. The Company has evaluated
the various channels of communication with shareholders and their
implementation and believes that the Shareholders’ communication policy
remains appropriate and effective.

SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of transparency and
employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of relevant information to its
shareholders. The commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive and
transparent reporting of the Company’s activities can be reflected in various
aspects.

To maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders, the annual and special
general meetings provide an opportunity for shareholders to exchange views
with the Board.

Ms. Wong Man Winny, the Chairperson and executive Director and Mr. Liu Ka
Lim, the non-executive Director attended the annual general meeting in 2023
(the “2023 Annual General Meeting”) to ensure that shareholders’ views
were communicated to the Board. A separate resolution was proposed by
the Chairperson in respect of each separate issue at the 2023 Annual General
Meeting.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are reviewed from time to
time to ensure that the Company conforms to the best corporate governance
practices. The circular in relation to the arrangement of annual general
meeting will be circulated to all shareholders at least twenty-one (21) clear
days prior to the holding of the annual general meeting, in which it sets out
the details of each resolution proposed and other relevant information. At the
2023 Annual General Meeting, all resolutions were put to vote by poll. Tricor
Secretaries Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and
transfer agent, was engaged as scrutineer to ensure votes were properly
counted. The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a
poll on resolutions at general meeting are contained in the Bye-laws. An
explanation of the detailed procedures for conducting a poll is provided to
the shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The Chairperson and
other directors would respond to queries raised by the shareholders regarding
the voting procedures. The poll results are published in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS (continued)

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth (1/10) of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company, to require a special general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the
deposit of such requisition.

If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do so in
accordance with the relevant provisions in the Companies Act of Bermuda.

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a shareholder
should lodge a written notice of his/her/its proposal (the “Proposal”) with
his/her/its detailed contact information at Units 4214-15, 42nd Floor, Hong
Kong Plaza, 188 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong. The identity of the
shareholder will be verified with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer office. Upon confirmation by the branch share registrar
and transfer office that the request is made by a shareholder and that if the
request is proper, the Board will include the Proposal in the agenda for the
general meeting. The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholder concermned at the
general meeting varies according to the nature of the Proposal as follows:

(1) Notice of not less than twenty-one (21) clear days and not less than
twenty (20) clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires
approval in an annual general meeting;

(2)  Notice of not less than twenty-one (21) clear days and not less than ten (10)
clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires approval by way
of a special resolution in a special general meeting;

(8)  Notice of not less than fourteen (14) clear days and not less than ten
(10) clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires approval in a
special general meeting other than by way of a special resolution of the
Company.

The Company also communicates to its shareholders through its annual
and interim reports. The Directors, company secretary or other appropriate
members of senior management also respond promptly to inquiries from
shareholders and investors.

Shareholders may at any time serve their enquiries to the Board in writing for
the attention of company secretary at Units 4214-15, 42nd Floor, Hong Kong
Plaza, 188 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong.
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PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

Under Bermuda law, in addition to the right to requisition a special general
meeting, any number of shareholders representing not less than one-
twentieth (1/20) of the total voting rights of all the shareholders having at
the date of the requisition a right to vote at the general meeting to which the
requisition relates; or not less than one hundred (100) shareholders, shall (unless
otherwise resolved by the Company) at their own expense have the right by
written requisition:

(@  to require notice of any resolution which may properly be moved and is
intended to be moved at the next annual general meeting to be given to
shareholders entitled to receive notice of that meeting; and/or

(b)  to request for circulation to shareholders entitled to have notice of any
general meeting any statement of not more than one thousand (1000)
words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution
or the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

A requisition referred to above must be signed by the requisitionists in a single
document or in separate copies prepared for the purpose which between
them contain signatures of all requisitionists. A copy of the signed requisition,
accompanied by a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expenses, must be deposited at the Company’s registered office in Bermuda:

(@ in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less
than six (6) weeks before the annual general meeting unless an annual
general meeting is called for a date six (6) weeks or less after the copy
has been deposited, in which case the copy shall be deemed to have
been properly deposited though not deposited within the time required;
and

(b) in the case of any other requisition, not less than one (1) week before
the general meeting.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of
corporate information to shareholders and investors. The Company updates
shareholders on its latest business developments and financial performance
through its annual and interim reports and notices, announcements,
and circulars. The Company’s website (www.champion.hk) provides a
communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

During the year under review, there had been no significant change made to
the Company’s constitutional documents.

An up to date version of the Company’s Bye-laws is available on both the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
functions and internal control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually. Management
is responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring such systems,
while the Board oversees management in performing its duties on an ongoing
basis.

During the year, the Board has complied with the risk management and
internal control code provisions of the CG Code by establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control system. Such review covered all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls. Main features of the
risk management and internal control systems are described in the sections
below:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

Risk Management Framework

We adopt an integrated bottom-up and top-down risk review process to
enable comprehensive identification and prioritization of all material risks
throughout the Group, escalation of material risks at the right managerial
level, effective risk dialogue among the management, and proper oversight of
risk mitigation efforts.

EREERAIFEE@
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“Top-down”
Overseeing,
identification,
assessment and
mitigation of risk at
corporate level
(B LEmT]
ReEER
B BN
T {3 R 6% L B

“Bottom-up”
|dentification,
assessment and
mitigation of risk at
business unit level
and across
functional areas
[T L]
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The Board EE &
Has overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management systems and
internal control systems;
EBARAEEZEREIRGERABEZESEZ
Sets strategic objectives;
i E SRS B AR
Reviews the effectiveness of our risk management systems and internal control
systems;
BEZRERERIE RAEBEIESE 2R
Monitors the nature and extent of risk exposure to our major risks; and
ERIZARIUEERAEAZRARER &
Provides direction on the importance of risk management culture.

SEREE bz EEMHRME TS -

Management &2 [E
Designs, implements, and monitors risk management and internal control
systems; and
e BkEREARERRADELTHE K
Assesses our risk and mitigating measures Company-wide.
B4 AN A B & 75 H 2 R B RO A e

Audit Committee B ZE S
Supports the Board in monitoring risk exposure, design and effectiveness of
the underlying risk management and internal control systems.
XEEFEERARAIERIARIEERREE &N EZEHE 2§
E R -

Operational Level & & g |
Risk identification, assessment and mitigation performed across the business;
and
FEB BRI - AR R &
Risk management process and internal controls practiced across business
operations and functional areas.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

Risk Management Framework (Continued)

The risk management framework adopted by the Group is embedded in
our strategy development, business planning and day-to-day operations.
The Group adopts a control and risk self-assessment methodology and
continuously assess and manages its risk profile on a regular basis. Risks
that are relevant to the Group’s business are identified, assessed and ranked
according to their likelihood and consequence on the Group. Risk owners
are required to submit risk alerts with risk response promptly to the Board
and Audit Committee for ongoing review and monitoring. Action plans were
formulated and implemented during the year to address the areas of concern
effectively.

Internal Control System and Continuous Improvement

The Company has in place an internal control system which is based on
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(“COS0”) framework for internal controls and has five components, namely
Control Environment; Risk Assessment; Control Activities; Information and
Communication; and Monitoring. In developing our internal control system,
we have taken into consideration our organizational structure and the nature
of our business activities.

We have put in place a phased improvement plan and progressed to future
enhance our internal controls and risk management system. The phase of
the plan focused on adopting a more risk-based (instead of process-based)
approach to risk identification and assessment. This approach enriches
our ability to analyze risks and respond to opportunities as we pursue our
strategic objectives. Management reporting to the Audit Committee has also
been enhanced, including the presentation of special reports on selected risk
topics.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

Internal Control System and Continuous Improvement
(Continued)

Due to the changing business environment and development, including in
annual budgeting and planning, we are still integrating internal controls and
risk management into our business processes. Instead of treating the COSO
framework as a framework-update exercise, a holistic approach has been
adopted by us, taking into consideration the Company’s circumstances,
including its ongoing internal controls and risk management improvement
plan as well as other strategic initiatives (e.g. corporate social responsibility
strategy and reporting). All of these enhance our ultimate objective to make
our risk management system a “live” one that is practiced on a day-to-day
basis by operating units.

The Group also adopts and implements an inside information policy and
procedures to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness, and
timeliness of its public disclosures. The following measures have been taken
from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach
of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number of employees
on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession of inside
information are fully conversant with their obligations to preserve
confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into
significant negotiations.

o The Executive Director is the designated person who speaks on behalf
of the Company when communicating with external parties such as the
media, analysts, or investors.

Internal Audit

The Group has engaged an external professional consultant to take the
primary role to perform the Internal Audit (“IA”) function, and professional
staff with relevant expertise of the Group are designated to assist in the 1A
function. The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily operation and
carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal control systems by
conducting interviews, walkthroughs, and tests of operating effectiveness.

An IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the established
plan,
conducted annually and the results are reported to the Board via the Audit
Committee afterwards.

review of the risk management and internal control systems is
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and
prospects may be affected by a few risks and uncertainties. The following are
the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other
risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not known
to the Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.

Business Risk

Trading Business

The risk exposure in oil trading is comparative limited as the Group adopted a
very conservative approach in selecting customers and stringent credit policy
in trading gas oil.

Technology Business — Renewable Energy

As a long-term investor-operator in the renewable energy sector, the Group is
subject to Hong Kong government supportive policies, climate, economy and
other execution risks. Although the Covid-19 pandemic has not subsided, the
Group is confident that it would accomplish the delayed projects in an orderly
manner.

Technology Business — Smart City Solution Business

Loss of market share and uncertainties are risks we must face with great
changes taking place for each passing day in the internet and technology
world. The Group needs to continue exploring opportunities in technology
innovation to broaden its market share and keep investing in products
research and development.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The sales, purchases and expenses incurred in our renewable energy and
smart city solution business are mainly denominated in Hong Kong, US Dollar
and Renminbi. Since Hong Kong Dollar remains pegged to US Dollar, the
Group does not foresee a substantial exposure in this area, and will closely
monitor the trend of Renminbi to see if any action is required.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(Continued)

Legal Risk

Legal risk is the risk that unenforceable contracts, lawsuits or adverse
judgments may disrupt or otherwise negatively affect the operations or
financial conditions of the Group. The Group has complied with the relevant
laws and regulations during the year.

Review of Risk Management & Internal Controls
Effectiveness

For the year ended 30 June 2024, the Board, through its review and the
reviews made by IA function and Audit Committee, considered that the
risk management and internal control system were effective and adequate.
No significant areas of concemn that may affect the financial, operational,
compliance controls, and risk management functions of the Group has been
identified. During year the review, the Board also considered the resources,
qualification, and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions, and their training and budget were adequate.
Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance is significant
in strengthening investor confidence and attracting investment. The
management will devote considerable effort to strengthening and improving
the standards of the corporate governance of the Group. Any views and
suggestions from the shareholders to promote and improve our transparency
are also welcome.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

1 R o1 6 BT A R 9)

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHAMPION TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Champion
Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 84 to 201, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 30 June 2024, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2024, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

FRAREAREE

MREZFERREBRMANEXRHE R
HAHMGEAVBBRRNEEREZASEENSE
B ZUEREAERMELZBREA M B R
RELABRARETFTURE -RATEYHE
LERBESIMEHER -

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

HEEXSHE EMETERRNAEERARERSHE

We identified the impairment of trade receivables as a key audit Our procedures in relation to the assessment of
matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated recoverability of trade receivables included:
financial statements as a whole and the estimation of impairment — F /9 5 {7 /& Uk BF 2 0] B 1 5 m AT R BN 12 Fr B2 95

losses entails a significant degree of subjective estimation and
assessment.

BMBEEERORER AERETEE BAzGnEY
EHMBMRERBABEEN  MRERLNEF S REE
T2 JE # 3 BE AT A B2 M e - °

As disclosed in the note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements, the trade receivables net of impairment amounted to  ®
HK$142,837,000 as at 30 June 2024. The Group has recognised
expected credit losses amounted to HK$7,201,000 for the year
ended 30 June 2024.
BEEHVEREM T4 E - &1 E2024F6 4308 -
FE R BR FR (FNBROR B 18 ) 858 BB 5 142,837,007 - EEEH °
F2024F6 A0 BN BFENEBAREHREEERRABE
7,201,0007T °

Management performed periodic assessment on the recoverability
of the trade receivables and the sufficiency of provision for
impairment based on information including credit profile of different
customers, ageing of the trade receivables, historical settlement
records, expected timing and amount of realisation of outstanding
balances.

EEREETHTGRERKREFROATBKERREEFOTRE D
M-RENEEEFETIRAELPOERMRA  BIWERNOFR
AN BEEELSE UARBHNRERENERFHEMN

TH -

Management also considered forward looking information that may
impact the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding balances
in order to estimate the expected credit losses for the impairment
assessment. The management engaged an independent external
valuer to assist in estimation of expected credit losses of trade
receivables.
ERENERTARFETFERBRGERERNNAENLE
Ao AEEREFETNERCEABE - BRBEST — L
T8 N Y HNER AT il B 175 B 14 B FE W AR SR ey TR BR{E P S 18 o

We focused on this area due to the management’'s estimation
of impairment on trade receivables based on the expected
credit losses model involved the use of significant management
judgements and estimates.

BMEHBILEY AAEREEREAAGEREREELY
EWEFOREG IR TEENERABNGE -

Obtaining an understanding of how the expected
credit losses on trade receivables are estimated by
the management;
THREEEBNMMNGERKERNELRER
&1

Evaluating the independent external valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;
BN I AR E X EENE
B

Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions used in
expected credit losses estimation;

FHER AN ERAEEERERABREGESR
HREENEET:

Testing the ageing of trade receivables, on a
sample basis, to the supporting documents and
the credit term granted;

LA 77 OB S e W AR Ry FF R o AT - AR
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Reviewing the accuracy of management’s
judgement by comparing against historical
management’s actual write offs;
AREATEEEERMIRNE L BIRETL
8mEEEEA B ERT

Discussing with the management on their
assessment based on the business relationship
with customers in relation to overdue trade
receivables with/without settlement; and
HIE IR E R AR IR B P ) 75 R E @ AP
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Examining on sampling basis, evidence related to
post year end cash receipt.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated

responsibility is to read the other information and,

financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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B M 2% BED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors of the Company.
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B %A
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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B M 2% BED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

Lam Chun Sing
Practising Certificate Number: PO6998

Hong Kong, 30 September 2024
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mEEmREMERERE R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

£ 2202446 A30H I 4 E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 2 FEx FHBT
Revenue I 2= 6 208,612 25,292
Cost of sales HEKRAE (197,212) (21,242)
Gross profit EF 11,400 4,050
Other income, gains and losses HEaA -~ e kEE 7 2,246 3,176
General and administrative expenses —MRATER X (22,692) (19,418)
Impairment losses recognised for inventories REERABERE - (6,488)
Impairment losses on finance lease receivable FEWmmEHEERERSE - (234)
Written off of property, plant and equipment ME - BERZEZEHE (450) —
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets FRAEEEZRERSE (1,890) —
Impairment losses recognised for trade and MW E & E A AR R
other receivables HEEE (10,410) (684)
Impairment losses on loan receivables EREFREREE (58) (121)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMB QR 2z W ) 11 32,136 —
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets at fair BAFEFABRZEREE
value through profit or loss DNEE(BER) M (19,453) 10,738
Loss on disposal of financial assets at fair value ~ H & B BIEFIZ A FETE
through profit or loss CREERES (32) (1,386)
Fair value loss on investment properties BEMEZ NFEERE 20 (3,533) (1,136)
Finance costs B 75 B AR 8 (40) (172)
Loss before taxation MRB AT 1B 9 (12,776) (11,675)
Income tax credit/(expense) Frsfime, (X H) 14 554 (597)
Loss for the year from continuing operations HELLERZAFEEFIE (12,222) (12,272)
Discontinued operations BRIEEEEE
Profit for the year from discontinued operations ~ B4 IFAE &£ 2 REEHEF 12 - 548
Loss for the year REZEBR (12,222) (11,724)
Other comprehensive expense: Ht2EXH:
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to HEnsHMrBEERY
profit or loss: BHA :
Exchange difference arising on translation of INEBREREEZ
foreign operations EHERE (692) (9,344)
Reclassification adjustment on translation i B B 1 R B FT AR B
reserve released on disposal EHEE2ENDE
of a subsidiary A (1,814) (69)
Other comprehensive expense for the year AEEHMZE S (2,506) (9,413)
Total comprehensive expense for the year rEEZEXHARE (14,728) (21,137)
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mEEmnRkAtEERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

# £202446 A30H |L 4 E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 2 FTER FAT
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to AAREBAEBEREE
the owners of the Company: (B#8), "&%F
— from continuing operations —REBBELEER (12,420) (12,745)
— from discontinued operations —REDRIEREET - 562
(12,420) (12,183)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to FERBRRESEEAFE
non-controlling interests: wmA(B8)
— from continuing operations —RERBEBELEER 198 473
— from discontinued operations —REERIEEEER - (14)
198 459
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the E{EARFEE2HE (X H),/
year attributable to: WAL :
Owners of the Company EN/NETETZEDN (14,758) (19,608)
Non-controling interests FE1 M P PR A 30 (1,534)
(14,728) (21,137)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income forthe A AT HBAEEAEEEE
year attributable to owners of the Company: (X)Wt A &% :
— from continuing operations —REBELLER (14,758) (20,165)
— from discontinued operations —-REERIEEEER - 562
(14,758) (19,603)
(Restated)
gl
(Loss)/earnings per share SR (EE) 2R
Basic and diluted — from continuing and ERAREHEE-REFEL HK(1.82) cents HK(1.78) cents
discontinued operations ERERIEREED 16 7 Al A
Basic and diluted — from continuing operations £ 7R J &L E — 2k B BB K HK(1.82) cents HK(1.86) cents
BT Al AL
Basic and diluted — from discontinued HEAREEE-—RAERIE N/A HKO0.08 cents
operations REE TEA Rl

The notes on pages 91 to 201 form part of these consolidated financial 5591 E 201 B AT 2 Ml i AL T4 A MK RE
statements. ZHKE S o
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e BRI R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

202446 A 30 H 30 JUNE 2024

2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 2 FExT FB T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% WEREE 17 7,045 4,515
Right-of-use assets TREEE 18 = -
Investment properties WEWE 20 34,262 37,959
Interest in an associate RN o s 21 2 2
Prepayment for property, plant and equipment ~ #1% - iRE LR EEMNR 24 1,074 —
42,383 42,476
Current assets REBEE
Inventories IR 23 7,407 7,335
Trade and other receivables FEUE 5 Kk E AR 5K 24 180,671 40,765
Loan receivables EUE & 25 6,624 2,474
Financial assets at fair value through profit or BEAFETAEREZ
loss EHMEE 22 10,421 34,223
Tax recoverable BRI QBT E 184 —
Cash and cash equivalents BehRe%mE 26 14,699 9,147
220,006 93,944
Assets classified as held for sale DERBEGFENEE 13 = 37,610
220,006 131,554
Current liabilities REBERE
Trade and other payables ERE 5 REMBER 27 151,245 23,875
Contract liabilities aHaGE 28 847 717
Lease liabilities HERE 29 969 840
Customers deposits XFRES 3,895 3,895
Amount due to a director B —R2EEHE 30 - 2,000
Tax payables JE SRR3R 864 1,257
157,820 32,584
Liabilities directly associated with assets HAOMRRHERFEERAE
classified as held for sale EEFEBENEE 13 - 4,899
157,820 37,483
Net current assets RBEEZFE 62,186 94,071
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERARBARG 104,569 136,547
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e MR R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

202446 430 H 30 JUNE 2024

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B & FTHER F& T
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 925 -
Deferred tax liabilities EERBEE 32 7,175 8,049
8,100 8,049
Net assets EEFE 96,469 128,498
Capital and reserves BAREE
Share capital & A 33(b) 6,838 27,353
Reserves 1 33(c) 89,656 83,899
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RAREEARGEER 96,494 111,252
Non-controlling interests JEER B R ER (25) 17,246
Total equity SR 96,469 128,498

The consolidated financial statements on pages 84 to 201 were approved SF8AE201BFiHi v A MK RECHES S
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 September 2024 and 7202489 A30 A #it#x K X #E T3 - W i T 5

are signed on its behalf by: EEREESF:
WONG MAN WINNY LIU KA LIM
=8 BEEK
Chairperson Director
FE EF

The notes on pages 91 to 201 form part of these consolidated financial 91 ZE201 B & 2 M ix Al S5 A B K RE
statements. ZHBE S -
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HRERAERBER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

# F 202446 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAAREARE
Capital
Share Share  redemption General Capital Merger Translation  Accumulated Non-controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests  Total equity
EXRE FERRR  RAEZ
Bx  RHEE fE  -BEE  EARE  ANEE EXGG 2R A B a8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TAT TAL TET TET TEr TAL TEL TE#r TER
(note (note (note (note (note (note
33(c)i) 33(c)ti) 33(cli) — 33(clv) ) 3l
(i3 (i3 (i3 (i3 ik ik
BEN 0N S 30h)  %30W) 380
At 30 June 2022 and R02F6A0BR
1 July 2022 022F7A1R 27,353 2214617 50" 1,366,008 1,093,039 8,358 6,757 (4,585,322 130,855 18,764 149,619
Loss for the year EEEE - - - - - - - (12,183 (12,183 459 (11,724)
Exchange difference arising ANEBBEREEL
on tranglation of foreign ERER
operations - - - - - - (7,351) - (7,351) (1,993) (9,344)
Reclassfication adjustmenton (£ &M B2 REFMEREN &
tranglation resenve released B2 EFHRFE
on disposal of subsidiaries - - - - - - (69) - (69 - (69)
Total comprehensive income/ £ 2ERA /(%) 28
(expense) for the year - - - - - - (7.420) (12,183) (19,603) (1,534) (21,137
Non-controling interest capital ~ JEERR B2 &
contribution - - - - - - - - - M 11
Disposal of subsidlaries HEMBAR - - - - - - - - - (95) (%)
- - - - - - - - - 1 1
At 30 June 2023 R202356A30R 27,353 2,214,617 50 1366003 1,093,039 8,358* (663)° (4,597,500 111,252 17,246 128,498
At 30 June 2023 and R0BF6ANER
1 July 2023 2023F7A1R 27,353 2,214,617 50 1,366,003 1,093,039 8,358 (663) (4,597,505) 111,252 17,246 128,498
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - - (12,420) (12,420) 198 (12,022
Bichange differencearising ~ REISNXHAEMEEL
on tranglation of foreign EZEE
operations = = = = = = (524) = (524) (168) 692)
Reclassffication adjustment on & B2 &8s Fr B B (B 5
translation reserve released B2 EAT A EHE
on disposal of subsidliaries - - - - - - (1,814 - (1,814) - (1,814)
Total comprehensiveincome/ ~ E2 AR/ (B%) 4%
(expense) for the year - - - - - - (2,338) (12,420) (14,758) 30 (14,728)
Non-controllng interest capital 3£ 2B % it &
contribution = = = = = = = = = = =
Capital reduction BAHR (20,515) 20,515 - - - - - - - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBEAR - - - - - - - - - (17,301) (17,301)
(20515 20515 = = = = = - = 07301 (17301)
At 30 June 2024 R2024568308 6,838 2,235,132 50 1,366,003 1,093,039 8,358* (3,001)* (4,609,925)* 96,494 (25) 96,469
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated surplus of approximately — * WERBREFPERBEGAVMBRARZEEGRRK

HK$89,656,000 (2023: surplus of approximately HK$83,899,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

#789,656,00078 T(2023%F : & # #183,899,000
ABIT) °

FNE0MEMBALMERUEFEAPTBHERE
ZHARCER Y o

The notes on pages 91 to 201 form part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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RERERIR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

#HZE 202456 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B & FER FAT
Cash flows from operating activities REEBZBEER
Loss before taxation from continuing REFBELEER 2
operations M B A& 1R (12,776) (11,675)
Profit before taxation from discontinued REERIEEEEBL 2
operations B % A& - 624
Adjustments for: R
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - E KR E 2T E 132 308
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEECIE 82 168
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets BRATEFABRRZ
at fair value through profit or loss SREEZRAFE
e () 19,453 (10,738)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & B A E oz e 11 (32,136) (2,648)
Loss on disposal of financial assets HTESREERRE 32 1,386
Fair value loss on investment properties WEWMEZ A FEBE 20 3,533 1,136
Amortization of intangible assets mVEEHH - 79
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets FREEE 2REERE 18 1,890 —
Impairment losses on finance lease FE U b & M & SRIB 2 RE
receivable BB - 234
Impairment losses recognised for trade PIEWE 5 K& H Ah BR 5K
and other receivables FriER 2 mEE 18 10,410 634
Impairment losses of loan receivables JE U FROR A S 1B 58 121
Impairment losses on inventories FEREREE - 6,488
Property, plant and equipment written off WMEEME - BE L& 450 -
Finance costs B 7 A AR 40 242
Interest income M EMA 7 (755) (2,699)
(9,587) (16,290)
Increase in inventories FEZEm (72) (933)
Decrease in finance lease receivable JE U g & FH S FOE 2 R 1,205 4,388
Increase in trade and other receivables FEUWE 5 Rk EAbBR K 2 38 hn (152,148) (4,544)
Increase in trade and other payables FERTE 5 M H i BR R 2 38 AN 99,709 21,452
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities aHaEzEMm Chd) 130 (1,713)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operation ES G-Ik k- (60,763) 2,360
Income tax paid B ATER (880) (271)
Net cash (used in)/generated from CEEBTER ()15
operating activities ZRe FE (61,643) 2,089
BEREEEFRAR
ZEZWNFFR 89



:éﬁ': é IE, % AL Eb %‘:Z
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

# F 202446 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2024 2023
2024 F 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$000
B 5 FTHER FA T
Cash flows from investing activities REZBHZ2EHER
Purchases of property, plant and equipment RNEVE WEKEE 17 (3,150) (5,329)
Purchases of financial assets BESREE - (6,360)
Proceed from disposal of financial assets HESMEEMBSHKA 4,317 3,474
Interest received from loan receivables B E R B 406 —
Interest received 2 WF B 442 157
Loan to third parties ETE=MEX (6,807) (2,590)
Prepayment for property, plant and equipment  TE ¥ % - i E & &1 (1,077) —
Repayment from third party KEEZTHWEZTER 2,584 —
Net cash inflow from HENBRARRAZRE
disposal of subsidiaries R 11 45,897 1,289
Net cash outflow for acquisition of subsidiary WENBARIBSRL F58 - (7,372)
Additional of intangible assets REEBREE = (369)
Net cash generated from/(used in) WREZESIE/(FTF) 2
investing activities e FE 42,612 (17,100)
Cash flows from financing activities RMETFE 2HESMR
Repayment of other borrowing EEHEMEE = (1,478)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAE 26(b) (918) (960)
Interest paid for lease liabilities HEABEMNAE 26(b) (40) (113)
Interest paid for interest bearing other borrowing E B EAth 1ﬁf§ Eop IS - (129)
(Repayment to)/advance from a director (1BE) / REEEZHK 26(b) (2,000) 1,850
Capital contribution from non-controlling interest  JE 1% J 1 25 ) & - 111
Advance from a third party KEE=ZFTHEK 26(b) 27,998 —
Proceed from borrowing BT EIR 26(b) - 3,582
Net cash generated from financing activities BE EEFAE 2R L FE 25,040 2,863
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BehBE&EE2EM
cash equivalents CR) #8 6,009 (12,148
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the  F#IR & KR & EZ5
year 9,150 24,493
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes B owE (460) (3,195)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of theyear F &R E R RS ZH 26 14,699 9,150
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents BeEMReEFEIM
Bank and cash balances RITRIR & 5 26 14,699 9,147
Bank and cash balances included in AADEARERAELE
a disposal group classified as held for sales AR M IRTT MRS 13 - 3
14,699 9,150

FNE0NEMBELMERRFHRAMBRR
ZHERED

The notes on pages 91 to 201 form part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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SE T BHRRHE

NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#HZE 202456 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

1.

GENERAL

Champion Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was originally
incorporated in the Cayman Islands but subsequently re-domiciled
to Bermuda and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”). The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of the Company
are disclosed in the Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Hong
Kong dollar (‘HK$”), which is also the Company’s functional currency.
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries and an associate are set out in notes 39 and
21 respectively.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2023 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the October Insurance Contracts
2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two model Rules

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

1.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) —Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong

The Group has several subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong which are
obliged to pay LSP to employees under certain circumstances. Meanwhile, the
Group makes mandatory MPF contributions to the trustee who
administers the assets held in a trust solely for the retirement benefits
of each individual employee. Offsetting of LSP against an employee’s
accrued retirement benefits derived from employers’ MPF contributions
was allowed under the Employment Ordinance (Cap.57). In June
2022, the Government of the HKSAR gazetted the Employment and
Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) which abolishes the
use of the accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF
contributions to offset severance payment and LSP (the “Abolition”).
The Abolition will officially take effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition
Date”). In addition, under the Amendment Ordinance, the last month’s
salary immediately preceding the Transition Date (instead of the date
of termination of employment) is used to calculate the portion of LSP in
respect of the employment period before the Transition Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications of the
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong” which
provides guidance for the accounting for the offsetting mechanism
and the impact arising from abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of this, the Group has implemented
the guidance published by the HKICPA in connection with the LSP
obligation retrospectively so as to provide more reliable and more
relevant information about the effects of the offsetting mechanism and
the Abolition.

The Abolition did not have a material impact on the Group’s financial
results and financial position.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Amendments to HKAS 1

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants®
Supplier Finance Arrangements?

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards Volume 11*

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and  Amendments to the Classification

HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments*
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
amounts reported and disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the HKFRSs (which include all the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the HKICPA and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss that are measured at fair value. Historical
cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique.
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements
is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment (“HKFRS 2”), leasing transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 16 Leases (‘HKFRS 16”), and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories (‘HKAS 2”) or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets (‘HKAS 36”).

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group’s equity therein.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (i) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity
as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or, when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which includes
an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create outputs. The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue producing
outputs, including an organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related processes or they
significantly contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs
and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced without
significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue producing
outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business combination under
common control are accounted for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair
value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related
costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

For business combinations in which the acquisition date is on or after
1 July 2022, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the
“Conceptual Framework”) except for transactions and events within
the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which the Group applies
HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework
to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business combination.
Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to
employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19
Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS
16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition
date, except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends within
12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is
of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when
compared with market terms.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree,
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-
assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant subsidiary’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that
arise from additional information obtained during the “measurement
period” (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that do
not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability
is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that
have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
and measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the
end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Group
reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively
during the measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known,
would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is
regarded as met only when the asset (or disposal group) is available for
immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are
usual and customary for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its
sale is highly probable. Management must be committed to the sale,
which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed
sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control
of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met,
regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in
the relevant subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell, except for financial assets within the scope of HKFRS
9, investment properties which continue to be measured in accordance
with the accounting policies as set out in respective sections.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are set
out below.

The investments are initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments measured at fair
value through profit or loss (FVTPL) for which transaction costs are
recognised directly in profit or loss. These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their classification.

Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into one of the
following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

—  fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)
recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the investment comprise
solely payments of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both
the collection of contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair
value are recognised in other comprehensive income, except
for the recognition in profit or loss of expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and losses. When the investment is
derecognised, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income is recycled from equity to profit or loss.

—  fair value at profit or loss (FVTPL) if the investment does not meet
the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity security is classified as financial assets at
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held for trading purposes
and on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
irrevocable election to designate the investment as financial assets at
FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections are made
on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if the
investment meets the definition of equity from the issuers perspective.
Where such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
until the investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
accumulated losses. It is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends
from an investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether classified
as financial assets at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or loss
as other income.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FESFHHERXmw
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued) U 25 7 72 ()

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

(@  The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs.

(b)  The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs.

() The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration
(or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. A contract
liability would also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised.

The Group recognises revenue from sales of goods (including cultural
products, gasoil, design and sale of renewable energy products and
solutions and systems, smart city solutions and related software
licensing) are based on the consideration specified in a contract with a
customer and the Group excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. The Group satisfies a performance obligation when it transfers
control of the cultural products, gasoil, design and sale of renewable
energy products and solutions and systems and related software
licensing to a customer. Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at
the point in time.

For smart city solutions, the Group establish an intelligent management
system for construction site. The Group recognised revenue from smart
city solution when the Group satisfies a performance obligation that
transfer the control of the solution to a customer.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

|N FORMAT'ON (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

The revenue from provision of installation services is recognised over
time.

The revenue from provision of installation and development of Data
Center service is recognised over time as the Group’s performance
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs. Input method is used to measure the progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation which is to recognise
revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of a performance obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the
satisfaction of that performance obligation, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or services.

Rental income, including rental invoiced in advance from assets under
operating leases, is recognised on a straight-line basis over the relevant
lease term.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e.
the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer. When the
Group acts as a principal, it recognises revenue in the gross amount
of consideration to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
the specified good or service transferred. The Group is an agent if its
performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified
good or service by another party.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FESTHXR®

|N FORMAT'ON (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

Indicators taken into account by management of the Group to
determine whether the Group acts as a principal or an agent include,
but are not limited to, the following:

(@  whether the entity is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise
to provide the specified good or service;

(b)  whether the entity has inventory risk before the specified good
or service has been transferred to a customer or after transfer of
control to the customer (for example, if the customer has a right
of return); and

(c)  whether the entity has discretion in establishing the price for the
specified good or service, indicating that the entity has the ability
to direct the use of that good or service and obtain substantially
all of the remaining benefits.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their

residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line

method, at the following rates per annum:

Plant and machinery and 10%-50%
communications networks

Furniture and fixtures 20%-33":%

Motor vehicles 25%

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties which are being
recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the Group under
operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses

including any

arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the property
is derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. The recoverable
amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
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For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro-rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
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determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

|N FORMAT'ON (Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contact that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of properties that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. TEEHHRw

|N FORMAT'ON (Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE@®

The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBEEAEEA @)

Right-of-use assets (Continued) EHEEE (&)

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and REEAKREMYETRAFEERG
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are measured at ENMEIN EREEERKAREE

cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of investment property as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposit

Refundable rental deposit paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instrument (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
values guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. \Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised
as receivables at commencement date at amounts equal to net
investments in the leases, measured using the interest rate implicit
in the respective leases. Interest income is allocated to accounting
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the
Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Research expenditures

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (‘ECL”)
on the following items:

— financial assets measured at amortised cost (including cash
and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and loan
receivables); and

— finance lease receivable.

Measurement of ECL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses
are measured as the present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls for receivables are discounted using
the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof where the effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECL is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECL, the Group takes into account reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort.
This includes information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

|N FORMAT'ON (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Measurement of ECL (Continued)
ECL are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECL.: these are losses that are expected to result from
possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting
date; and

— lifetime ECL: these are losses that are expected to result from
all possible default events over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL on the basis that there are no significant
financing components. ECL on these financial assets are estimated
using internal credit rating based on the Group'’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and
an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

Loss allowance for finance lease receivable is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECL and assessed individually.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

3.
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Significant increases in credit risk 1= BB B2 K iE £ H
In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has At eRIANEERRBVIFZERIA
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares REGARBLEAR XEBSHEERE

the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In
making this reassessment, the Group considers that a default event
occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to
the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial
instruments external or internal credit rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment
of a significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual
basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk
ratings.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECL are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the
financial instruments credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in
the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of
the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is
credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following
observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

—  abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments;

—  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

— it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

—  the disappearance of an active market for a security because of
financial difficulties of the issuer.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or finance lease
receivable is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are
recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in
which the recovery occurs.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required
to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

|N FORMAT'ON (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method except for cost of
cultural products, which are assigned by using specific identification
cost method.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of
financial position include:

(@  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory restrictions
that result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with
original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
Such overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Trade
and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for borrowing costs.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable and
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary difference.
In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when
it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the directors of the Company that made strategic
decisions during the year.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. When a fair value
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in
profit or loss. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollar) using
exchange rate prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case, the exchange rates at the date of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024

3.

FESTHRERER®

7 B2 ]
AERERAZEEDMEEATELE
REERZXABRE BN TAER-
TEREERRECEBRERAFEFL
RERRNARAEST RFAEIR
BRRFHEREN KRR -

s

RUESKSBEERB I WHERRE  UZE
BUOREEBANIN 2EBOMNE) T2
S DEIXZFEBZEMEXRER - R
BEMTER  LINETIEZEBIER
TRZAZEMEXREHNHRE - HIFE
HKEBNAFERGEIEENER T E
B AlZBENEABRESD IR AR
THER-MIFEEBEBENAFERENK
ERAREMEEmKEPER  MZER
B (E (] 42 B AR 5 75 0 EL At 2 T UK 2R P
R UINERBELRARFEZIFEERR
B R EEHRE -

HEEBHEARENREERRAME
EZERZEDREELSRHERER
W o

REVNGEMBHRER AREXBHE
ERRBENREREPRTEFZEAE
FHELBAEBZERERENET) -
B WA R 32 75 iR R HA ] 1 O R 4
O BRIFPANERAERE RZBER
TRAERRSEAZER - ELZ
ELEZRWAE) IR EME KRR
At (EELFHEET) Rat o



SE T BHRRHE

NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#HZE 202456 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or
loss.

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees
in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund.

Retirement benefits to employees in the Mainland are provided through
a defined contribution plan. The Group is required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The Group is required to contribute certain percentage of its payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions after payment of the fixed
contribution.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

120

Related party

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to
the Group if that person:

or

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of the Group
or the Group’s parent;

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

M

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)() has significant influence over the
entity or is @ member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personal services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Related party (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.

SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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44 a =
4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND 4. ERAMRMETAEE
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION MZ2EEREm®
U N C ERTA' NTY (Continued)
(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying (@ EAXAEEEFHBEZE
the Group’s accounting policies =l
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, REATEESHHRER  B1EE
management has made the following accounting judgements: EEH AN 5T # B -
Classification of inventories BEZ2DE
The Group holds certain cultural products for resale in the R EE ?% FETXEMKAR
ordinary course of business. Although the value of cultural ¥BARBEFEERS #AXLE
products may appreciate over time, it is the Group’s intention to mAEEREAE  ASBEREE
hold such assets for trading. Accordingly, those items of cultural ZEEEERZRAE Al ZE
products are classified as inventories under current assets. XtEMBEDEARYEER
TZFEE-
Deferred taxation on investment properties ERREMEZELERIE
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from RAEFALAFEEXNGFEZR
investment properties that are measured using the fair value EMEELECEEREER A%
model, the Group has reviewed its investment property portfolios EEHNEREYFEEASG 5D
and concluded: PRNCE
In respect of the Group’s investment properties located in the MAEBAAPEARLFIE([F
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the management has B z&EMEmS BEEH
determined that these properties are held within a business AR EMENREEAZE
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the H - RIEREMER KIS HEH
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over FmEZEREERE EmMERTL
time and consequently the sale presumption in HKAS 12 is BB B Z% R 1255 B B8 7%
rebutted for these properties. As a result, the Group continues EMEZBR It AEBBRIRZ
to measure the deferred tax relating to these properties using ZEWERBER MUY EE AR
the tax rate that would apply as a result of recovering their value BRAMME  BEFEZEWEZ
through use. RIERIE o
Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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4. EXRHAERMEFTTIEE
MH2EFEREFE@

4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying (a) J?”E\FH AEESTHREZE

the Group’s accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Judgement is required in determining the timing of satisfaction of
performance obligation. The Group derives revenue from sale of
gasoil, and related software including renewable energy systems,
smart city solution and cultural products. The Group carefully
evaluates the terms and conditions stipulated in contract and/
or sale order with a customer and assesses when the control of
the goods has been transferred to the customer. In addition, the
Group also assessed whether the Group is acting as the principal
(i.e. whether the Group has the primary responsibility for the sale
of goods, bears the risks of loss and obsolescence, and also
has full discretion over the goods). The directors of the Company
have determined that the control is passed to customer upon
the goods are delivered to the agreed destination. This is also
the point in time at which the right to consideration becomes
unconditional, only the passage of time is required before
payment is due.

Lease

The Group applies reasonable judgement to determine the
lease term for lease contracts in which it is a lessee that include
renewal option. The assessment of whether the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise such options impacts the lease
term, which significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets recognised. The Group considered the
exercise of the renewal option is uncertain, therefore, the lease
term does not include the renewal option.
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44 a =
4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND 4. ERAMRMETAEE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION MZ2EEREm®

UNCERTA' NTY (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (b) EFFFABEM ZRIR
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, LTABBERRZEZRSE UK
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the R E BT EREEET TRE M
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material ZEMEZRR  SFHREZLRIR
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within XEBREERARCEEER
the next financial year. T—EHHRFEFEHBRERNAEZ

BBRERE -
Estimation of fair value of investment properties ERREWMEZ AT EME
Investment properties located in Mainland as at 30 June 2024 1K2024F6 A30R8 + iz A B A
are stated at fair value based on valuation reports, issued by MIEEMERBEFEFTHERA
Stirling Appraisals Limited (2023: Stirling Appraisals Limited), by A (20234 - R EFIMAR A A B
using direct comparison method. BEW ARSI - Z 2 FEDER
FREELEAEME-
Investment property included the leasehold land where the hotel KEMEBFEN20283F6 300 &
property erected and located in the Mainland as at 30 June 2023 FEBYBEYENTRAMEE
are stated at fair value based on valuation reports, issued by i BRIBBEAPEFHERAA
Stirling Appraisals Limited, by using adjusted market comparable HEMMBEREYR - ZAFETD
method. HARAREN TSR LAE-E-
In determining the fair value, the valuer has based on property HEMEER SR EEMS AL
valuation techniques which involve certain estimates including REESEETHRANYEGER
comparable sales in the relevant market. fit - AAEEAF(E -
In relying on the valuation reports, management has exercised IR E KRR (B WS 1T 50 -
their judgement and is satisfied that the method of valuation is WEMABBEERENRREEHR
reflective of the current market condition. T e
Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
U N C E RTA' NTY (Continued)

4, ERHERESTTAEE
Mz EEREFEm

(b) 1l 5t E M 2 R (a0

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of investment properties as at 30 June
2024 and 2023 were HK$34,262,000 and HK$37,959,000
respectively. Further details, including the key assumptions used
for fair value measurement, are stated in note 37.

Impairment allowances on financial assets (including
trade and other receivables, finance lease
receivable and loan receivables)

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually.

The Group uses internal credit rating to calculate ECL for trade
receivables which are assessed individually. The provision rates
are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision is based
on the Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort.

At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The Group determines the provision of impairment of other
receivables, loan receivable and finance lease receivable based
on ECL. The Group assesses the ECL for each of the other
receivables, loan receivables and finance lease receivable
individually based on the financial position and the economic
environment in which the borrowers operate.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL of the Group’s trade and other
receivables, loan receivables and finance lease receivable are
disclosed in note 5.
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4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based
on the current market price of similar products and historical
experience of distributing and selling products of similar nature.
[t could change significantly as a result of market condition.
Management assesses the estimations at each reporting date.

At 30 June 2024, the carrying amount of the Group’s inventories
was HK$7,407,000 (2023: HK$7,335,000).

4.

EXHERAEFTIAEE
M2 EFERFE@

(b) fHETFEEM 2 KR @
FEZTERFE

BpzEfEERMGITEMNRS
RARHERIGTE REHET
REBEBUERZRITHERD H
HEERUMEERZBERLR
mEd  YEEETHRMELER
i  ERERSWMSE BBFEZ
EME -

R2024F6A30H  REBHFE Z
BR T & /7,407,000 7T (20234 :
7,335,000 7T) ©

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5. M T A
Categories of financial instruments eI AEER

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE& T &L

Financial assets EREE
At fair value through profit or loss BAFEFTAER 10,421 34,223
At amortised cost 1R 5 K A 200,197 50,747
210,618 84,970

Financial liabilities SRERE
At amortised cost 2 5H PR AR 151,245 25,875
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,894 840

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, trade and other receivables, finance
lease receivable, loan receivables, bank balances and cash, trade and
other payables, amount due to a director and lease liabilities. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Credit risk

As at 30 June 2024, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to trade and other
receivables, finance lease receivable and loan receivables, the
management of the Group will only allow customers with good credit
history to pay on credit. In addition, the management reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account future discounted cash flows, to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, no trade receivables have
been written off for both years.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer rather than the industry
or country in which the customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers. At 30 June 2024, 73.53%
(2023: 65.05%) of the total gross trade receivables was due from
the Group’s largest customer and 94.78% (2023: 94.36%) of the
total gross trade receivables was due from the Group’s five largest
customers.

ol

€@ T Hum
EREEREERBE

AEBFEe@m T ARERATER
ABHZERMEE BREZREMIEK
Ko EEBEEENRE BRER R
THRHERRE BNEZREMER.
BN —R2EEFENEERGE ZF2
BMTAZHBHANSHEME - B%E
SRTAER AR WAREZSE
BZEREN TN EREEREREE
% B R DAE R T E B 30 B AU BUE

RN

FEERK
MR2024F6 A308  AEBRAR S H A
EAREBTEAERASBELANKRE
KMBEAZZEANEERR  JTHES
MERRAKAMIENCHEREBREE Y
REEEAE -

SEEREERENRE S REMBKRK
FRUBMERAERBELRERER ZEER
B AEBEEEERABRIFEERR
BeBRPREGEE WO BEEENR
EHERREHNSENEZEZEER K
B8 Wat RBBERRRE R - A5
R 3R E & B AR LR SR EE
Begilt ARAEZER/AKEZE
ERRD KERE -

EREHMBREBARREEVBRE
B BRAERKOARER flmgE
BAERBEACEARERF A&
EeMEZEKRESRE - ARAIES
B EMF I EM R E SRR

=7 5
o /4

AEBFEAYNEERBREIEXSREFR
MENBFBYE MEIRPEEME
MITEXRBREE AHEXEERR
FEEFEAEEHEANREFEEKRR
BB 2= AE o 20246 H30H K& E
BRSEAEFPHRBERERE ZERE
¥H 1) 73.53% (2023 F : 65.05%) ' i1 2N &
ERERKARXTEFHREMLERE SRR
48 FE H)94.78% (20234 : 94.36%) °

BEMNBREEERAA

—s-meaey 127



e B RRME
NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# F 202446 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Individual credit evaluations are performed as part of the acceptance
procedures for new contracts. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which
the customer operates. The Group generally requires customers to
settle progress and final billings in accordance with contracted terms.
Trade receivables are generally due within 30 days (2023: 30 to
180 days) from the date of progress certificate or the date of billing.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade
receivables during the year are as follows:

€@ T Hum
BEEABREEEERBE®

FEERK &)
BREAFHRFTANEMNRERN—
Ho ELEFHEEREZFLBAEZNSMN
HEELFE BIA N EREE S - I E EE
EEMABERUREESELERHTER
KERBEBENER -AEE—REK
BEERANERI TP EARRREE-
FEWE BRI —MREEEFHREZAHNR
Fl 2= B Hi #£ 5130 (20234 : 3021808 )
NEH - AEE—RTEMREF WEK
R e

AEERBRKRESEFREERENEHIE
I

Non-credit

impaired

FEERE

HK$’000

T

At 1 July 2022 M2022F7A1H 255
Impairment losses BIEEE 103

Exchange difference P& i, = %8 (12)
At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 7202346 A30H &202347A1H 346
Impairment losses B EE 7,201

Exchange difference HEHER (18)
At 30 June 2024 R2024%6 A30H 7,529

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. R T Ew
Financial risk management objectives and FERREEEEZERBEE @
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) FEER K (&)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are mainly due to: FEWESERBERENEHETEZ L
B -

2024 2023
2024 20234
Increase/(decrease) Increase
in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL
2HAHREE > HEHREER
BEE MR 2) B 183 hn
Non credit- Credit Non credit- Credit
impaired impaired impaired impaired
FEERE FERE FEERE EERE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TERT T T T T

Settlement in full of trade 2 VW EREE I E A&
debtors with a gross 302,000/ 7T 2
carrying amount of A EAFEB180H
HK$302,000 that were  HJ FE UK & 5 BR 5%
over 180 days past due (20234 : )
(2023: Nil (302) —~ . -

Origination of new trade  $/7 % i1 #i K (3£ 90 H
receivables net of those  HIEULE 5 BE X

settled, as well as (BB EBID)

increase in days past

due up to 90 days 7,503 - 103 —
As at 30 June 2024, the Group has exposed to credit risk on other MR2024F6 A30H @ AE B AT EWE
receivables. As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the HEERBEERR - EAXNEB{ERRE
Group impairment loss of HK$3,209,000 for other receivables (2023: MEEN D AEEESRE E2024
HK$581,000) was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 30 FOANHIEFEZEEREREME
June 2024. The management of the Group considers the probability of U BR 3R 1B & $83,209,0008 7T (2023
default based on the financial position of the debtors and the economic 4 : 581,000/ 7T) © It T A K B E E
environment of the debtors operate. BIEEB AN BRI RELEERL

EIRIEMBEEEONAEEEE -

The management of the Group considers that credit risk for other AEBEEERAUBEERBENEM
receivables which are not credit-impaired is low and credit risk for those FBRFENEFEERBERE BREERE
are credit-impaired is high. MEMERKFTBENEERBRES -

SENHEEERAT
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. R T Ew
Financial risk management objectives and BERREEEEREE @
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EE Rk (#E)
Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of other $ FERKHEMERREEFNEES
receivables during the year are as follows: AT

Credit Non-credit

impaired impaired Total
FEE
FERE B szt

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TETT TET TEIT

At 1 July 2022 R2022%7 A1H 2,917 25 2,942
Exchange difference TE i = 28 - (14) (14)
Impairment losses BB R B — 581 581

(Reclassify to asset held for sales) (DA AEFEFEEE) — (32) (32)
At 80 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 1A 202346 A30H & 202347 A1H 2,917 560 3,477
Impairment losses BB RSB 3,769 (560) 3,209
Exchange difference N =% (10) — (10)
At 30 June 2024 7202446 A30H 6,676 — 6,676
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€M IAmw
HERMEEEENRBE@®

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) FEER K (&)
Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables are mainly due to: EWEMERRERENEHETER
B :
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
Increase/(decrease) Increase
in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL
ZHEHEE > HEHEER
188 (Grl 4) B 1838 hn
Non credit- Credit Non credit- Credit
impaired impaired impaired impaired
FEERE EERE FEERE EERE
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FTHER FAT FAT
Settlement in full of other 2 UK EXEE EI1E &
debtors with a gross 560,000 7T 2 %8
carrying amount of HiHE180 B A &
HK$560,000 that were i E 4 BR 7% (2023
over 180 days past due ~ 4F : &)
(2023: Nil) (560) - - —
Origination of new other 3 1% 35 #i K &=
receivables net of those 180 B # JiE I H fth
settled, as well as ERNBREEE
increase in days past 1)
due up to 180 days - 3,769 581 —
BENEEEERAR
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. R T Ew
Financial risk management objectives and BERREEEEREE @
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EE Rk (#E)
As at 30 June 2024, the Group has exposed to credit risk on loan R2024466 30  AEBAX EKE
receivables. The management of the Group considers the probability of HMEERRK AEBEEEERERER
default based on the financial position of the borrowers and guarantors A FIHER A B B 75 K00 A R 18 3R A K
and the economic environment the borrowers operate. Therefore, EREEIRBRE BENQH ] RN -
provision of expected credit loss of HK$58,000 (2023: provision of I ERERERNEHEEBERE
expected credit loss HK$121,000) on loan receivables has been made. 58,000/ 7T (2023 4F : 121,000 7T) °
Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of loan AEERERRKERBEEGENEDNBFR
receivables during the year are as follows: W

Non-Credit impaired

FERE
HK$'000
T
At 1 July 2022 R2022%7 A1H —
Impairment losses B E 1B 121
Currency realignment PE H % (5)
At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 202346 A30H &2023F7A1H 116
Impairment losses VERIENSEi! 58
At 30 June 2024 202446 A30H 174
Other than concentration of credit risk on the largest customer and RTEERBEFTREATEPRERF
liquid funds which are deposited with several banks with high credit FRESEEARZETRITIZABDA
ratings, the Group does not have any other significant concentration of N AEETEFMNEMERNEFEER
credit risk. R IBER -

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level
of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Groups operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Groups remaining contractual maturity
for its financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows.

To the extent that the interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount of interest payment is estimated based on the interest rate at
the end of the reporting period.

ol

E@MITEw
BEEBREEEERBE®

RENE € @ b
PRBECRREEMS  AREEE
nRehReEREEEERR
ERZKFE MERAKEEECRAY
BMERSRKBAFRZFE-EERE
ERBECRBRALREREETER
R

WA EEEGR  TRANAEE R
ERMEBBIHNBENFEH - JIRTIER
SESRAREREEZERABARE
BREMRINN HMETESRARLZ
FMBEUMHEEERARER K
BREMNERAEZEER

IS EFEZMNBTIRERE M
BRZMNERGHERBEANEAREE -

Effective  Within one Total Carrying
interest yearoron Between Between undiscounted amount at
rates demand 1-2years 2-5years cash flows 30 June 2024
2024 &
—FAR REEER 6H30H
BRA=E RER —Z=-f ZZIHfF BeREE M EREE
% HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$°000
Bak FERT FTERT FTERT FERT TERT
2024 20245
Financial liabilities 1% # 88 Bk &R 5t B )
at amortised tHEE
cost
Trade and other ENE S REM
payables RR - 151,245 - - 151,245 151,245
Liabilities at RBHERATEN
amortised cost af&
Lease liabilities HEBE 4.23 1,030 944 - 1,974 1,894
152,275 944 - 153,219 153,139
BENEEEERAR
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. R T Ew
Financial risk management objectives and BERBEEEEZERBEE@®
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RENE € & (&)
Effective ~ Within one Total Carrying
interest  year oron Between Between  undiscounted amount at
rates demand  1-2years  2-5years cash flows 30 June 2023
R 20234
—ER REER 6A30H
R A% REX —Z2-F Z—ZHE BemBsE MEREE
% HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BO FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT
2023 2023 F
Financial liabilities 1% # 88 Bk &R 5t B 1
at amortised =
cost
Trade and other ENE S REM
payables R — 23,875 — — 23,875 23,875
Amount due to BN —ZEEHE
a director - 2,000 — — 2,000 2,000
Liabilities at REBHERETEN
amortised cost a8&
Lease liabilities MERE 7.7 873 - - 873 840
26,748 - - 26,748 26,715

134

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments

for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if changes

in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates

determined at the end of the reporting period.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank deposits.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to finance
lease receivable, loan receivables and lease liabilities.

The Group does not enter into any arrangement to hedge cash flow
interest rate risk. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk should
the need arises.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate deposit and bank balances
at the end of reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming that
the amount of balances outstanding at the end of the reporting period
was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis
points) increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis points)
higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
loss after tax for the year ended 30 June 2024 would increase or
decrease by approximately HK$73,000 (2023: increase or decrease by
approximately HK$46,000).

In the managements opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent interest rate risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.

ol

€@ T Hum
BEEBREEEERBE®

FEER
AEBEHERZERITERZESR
F =R B o

AEEEHAHEELRERETR &
WERRHERBEZAFENZRRE

ANEE B AL ET S A LB A B IR
ERANXER - AT EEEEEIE
2R ERER YRNF2RFEEEHEKR
) 2 [\ [ B e S DR AR A

BBE DM
INTHREREDNERSHRUZEFRK
METHEGFRAEAZZHEZRBMETE -
AT HEEERIABFEH LR R
BEZESBRBEFHREESE -FA
50 25 (20234 : 50E ) 2R - KK
EREHANRZABUREEHNIEL 2
A o

fis A & _E F sk T BR50E 2 (2023 4F : 50
E MM EEMAZEAZERTE .
AEEEHET2024F6A30B LFEZH
1% E5 1B 2 40 £ R 24> 338 N 49 73,0008 7T
(20234 : JF > 1% hn 4946,00078 7T) ©

ERERAFED 2 BRI ERBRER
R RERE DL TR R E A
REH -
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. €@ T AEw
Financial risk management objectives and BEREEBERBER G
policies (Continued)
Equity price risk B% < B 1% B B
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity investments Hﬁ B B B A B IR 2N 48 Bk F K (B Bl
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the BHEEREYMBMBRAEEAFET
values of individual securities. The Group was exposed to equity price MRk AEEEEEER S ERE
risk arising from individual equity investments classified as financial ANEEGFAERzEMERE ([:E22) 2
assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 22). AT E MEERRAEL R
The Group’s listed equity investments classified as financial assets AEESEAEAFTETABEZSRE
at FVTPL are listed on the Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted BEZEITRAKRERBZM LT I
market prices at the end of the reporting period. R EBRAMBzMEGE-
The market equity index for the Stock Exchange, at the close of BRAREFRAZEIREHAR IR
business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of the EXERBELERFE 2SR AEES L/( )32
reporting period, and its respective highest and lowest points during BERNFAZES REEBEOT
the year were as follows:
30 June 2024 High/Low 1 July 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
6H30H BE/ BE 7A1H
Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index B —BEEEH 17,719  20,361/14,794 19,003
The Group manages its exposure by closely monitoring the price AREBFBEVERAGETZTEZZRA
movements and the changes in market conditions that may affect the HEBENEREH LM EHERHE
value of these equity investments. FrZ B Rk o
Champion Technology Holdings Limited
136 Annual Report 2024



e M RRIE

NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#HZE 202456 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Equity price risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all
other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on
their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.

5. @t T B @

BEEMREEEEREE @

PR 7S (B 15 BB (30
TRINTEMEEMEEDRIFETER
A AERABRBEEZBERT  HEAX
REZAFELRAEAREHK 2 &
RE - DRBEHRNVEEETE -

Decrease/
(increase) Increase/
Carrying in loss after (decrease)
amount of Increase/ tax and in other
financial (decrease) accumulated components
investments in price losses of equity
BREEER H R &%
SRRE BEiREm, RIEHER #H BB 2
BRE{E CR2) ®WL/(Em) @i Ch2)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET THET
2024 2024 5
Equity securities listed EBEBEEMZ
in Hong Kong: EAES 10,421 37.63 3,921 -
(37.63) (3,921) —
2023 2023 F
Equity securities listed EEELETZ
in Hong Kong: N 34,223 55.51 18,999 —
(65.51) (18,999) —
BERNBREEERLA
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. R T Ew
Financial risk management objectives and BERREEEEREE @
policies (Continued)
Foreign currency risk SNES L B
Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement in foreign NERBREBTYEAEETBEER
currency exchange rate which will affect the Groups financial results ERESRIIINEELSHRER - AEHE
and its cash flows. Certain trade receivables and bank balances of ATERE S ERRRITE BTN
the Group are denominated in foreign currencies. The Group does BEETHE o AN B I &S R AT A I8
not engage in any foreign currency hedging instruments. It is the TRE-AEHEZ-—BHEZFBEHI
Groups policy to manage foreign currency risk through matching AR EEREAINIERE - &85
foreign currency income with expense, and where exposure to foreign ZEHEIINERRKRE  BRASGE2H T
exchange is anticipated, appropriate hedging instruments will be used. TH-
Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency AAalZEHBRARFEUIINE T E
denominated monetary assets and liabilities, which expose the Group PEBEERBE SAEEMAELINE
to foreign currency risk. e
The carrying amounts of the group entities foreign currency EEERUIINEFECEBEEEREE
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting BERBESHBZERERT
date are as follows:
2024 2023
2024 & 2023 4F
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
B5E =R BE afE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FTHERT FAT FAET
Euro BT 1,941 (793) 2,510 (793)
United States dollar ES 59 - 181 —
Renminbi AR 15 — 15 —
Hong Kong dollar BT 6,102 - 8 —
Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The group entities are mainly exposed to foreign currency risk from
Renminbi, Euro and United States dollars. Under the pegged exchange
rate system, the financial exposure on exchange rate fluctuation
between Hong Kong dollar and United States dollars is considered
insignificant by the directors of the Company and therefore no
sensitivity analysis has been prepared.

The following table details the group entities sensitivity to a 5% (2023:
5%) increase and decrease in Euro and Renminbi against each group
entity’s functional currency. 5% (2023: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents managements assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5% (2023: 5%)
change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates a
decrease in loss before taxation where Euro and Renminbi strengthens
by 5% (2023: 5%) against each group entity’s functional currency. For
a 5% (2023: 5%) weakening of Euro and Renminbi against each group
entity’s functional currency, there would be an equal and opposite

ol

€@ T Hum

MERBEREBRERBE@®

SNEE R B ()

HMBRED W
AEFBEETIBAREZIERAR KB
AR BT RETT - 75 5 2 & & 1
T ARBEERAEBTRETEERK
B W R RA - B I E R R g
EoHre

TRERFARBERTEYE T RA
RESZSEBEERB I NEEE 2EX
F T F5% (20234 1 5%) 2 R E °
5% (20234 : 5%) Ty /it & B A & M =
TERABREINERAREATEAZ &
RELER  EREREEREBYHINEEERS
BrAg@s i HRES>MERE
LASNBSTEZ RERHEKIEE - WA
T [E & % 3)5% (20234F : 5%) ¥ H F 45
ZHBREREL AT LU NEEBE RN
MAREHSEEEEBINEEEFAE%
(2023F : 5%) RS KR ATEE T -
MR TRARBLSEBEERNGEEY

impact on the profit or loss. 87 E5% (20234 : 5%) @ Bl & Y18 K R
BREREEZHERFE -
2024 2023
2024 F 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Euro BT 57 86
Renminbi AR 1 1
Hong Kong dollar BT 305 -
In the managements opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative ERERE HRESMALRERRK
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does Bk I:ﬂﬁ CTBEREERERRIY AR
not reflect the exposure during the year. B A A L B o

Fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts

of financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

SHAERSMAMZA
P
ARAREFRRBREBHERANGEMB

KRG EMEERABLHEEER
HATEMAE -
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT

140

INFORMATION

(@) Revenue

Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable for
goods sold and services provided by the Group to external
customers.

The revenue of the Group comprises the following:

(a)

& 7 ME #

i &=

WaEAEERAIRETPEE
EmMREHERE 22K EER

KA e

AEBEZWEE

BTFI&E:

internal management reports prepared in accordance with

accounting policies conforming to HKFRSs, which are regularly
reviewed by the directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker, for the purpose of allocating resources
to segments and assessing their performance. For the year
ended 30 June 2023, the Group ceased its sales and leasing of
charging business products operations (“Charging Businesses”)

upon the disposal of the shareholding in Beijing Mingxin Zhilian
Technology Co., Ltd.* (1t 7 B {5 %5 B 2. 4i1 5 BR 2 71) (“Beijing
Mingxin”).

any segments of the Group since Beijing Mingxin became the
subsidiary of the Company in January 2023 and was disposed of

in June 2023.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024

The Charging Businesses were not included in

2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FAT
Revenue from contracts with ERBVBEHRELEBNE 1558
customers within the scope of EEANRZHEANZ
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts &5 & #9487
with Customers
Technology — Smart City Solution BE-E2HmERrE 179,878 12,181
Technology — Design and sales of B —R&H K& 7] H AR
renewable energy products and EmlkihE
solutions 28,734 13,111
208,612 25,292
(b) Segment information (b) 2EEHR
The operating segments have been identified on the basis of RESBIDBBEREEEN TR

NG

HER &R M6l E 2 A ED
ERREERN THARAES
({ﬁﬁzgﬂ«%&ﬁﬁ%)m%ﬁ%ﬁu
AEERTEDEWTHEERER -
HE2023F6 A30R IFFE » A&
BEEHELtRAEEBEMAER
ARl ([ RAEDHREE  =F1E
THEMHEREEBERNL
E((RBEK] HRLEEBHER
2023F 1A AR RBIMH B R
A MR2023F6 AEEHEIL R
BiE AR EEXEBITEEEAE
ENEAgE P ALEFRE
FER At BB A R TR E
MEIERERIEEEETR -



6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(b)

Segment information (Continued)

In a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the chief operating decision maker, the
Group has presented the following five (2023: five) operating and
reportable segments under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments.

e Sales of cultural —
products

includes income from trading of cultural
products

includes income from sale of business
solution including software and
hardware for construction site and

e Technology: Smart
City Solution Business

related businesses

e Technology: —
Renewable energy

includes income from design and sales
of renewable energy products and
solutions

e Tradingof gasoiland  —
related business

includes income from sales of gasoil
and income from vessel charter (shipping
business)

includes income from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

e Strategic investments  —

Segment results represent the profit or loss before taxation
recognised by each reportable segment, excluding interest
income, gain or loss on disposal of subsidiaries, fair value gain or
loss on investment properties, finance costs, unallocated income
and expenses such as certain administration costs etc. This is
the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for
the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

mEMBRRNE
NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#HZE 202456 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

6. W

K

TEER @

BTHRNBESHEAEZLERSE
EOEE B AEERBEAVE
HREEAESHEE DT
T A8 (20234 « A ) &£ & K& Al i

EHHH -

o HEXLE - BREXLERE
Em 5 ZHA
o HEBE - BEHEIWK
AN S HEXHH IR
ES 3 HEBBRIR
ZWA
o B - BRRARHEE
AELRER BERRER
B RZBA

o KmHMEH - BREEKRHE

RIAEES R#MmEE (M
EBEH) WA
o REMURE - BRERAFEF
AEHZERME

EZWA

DREEREE RS D BMER
ZBBANE N HEE - AEENE
WA-HEMBAR ZKEXE
B O REVEZLATVFERELE
B MBRARRD 2 WA R
X(ETITBRASE) - TR E
BRERRERS 2 ET A
AHEEEEROERFMEDE
KRB o
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

6. Wa ks EERmw

7 BE R @\
BB RS EEREHMT :

(b) Segment information (Continued)

(b)

Information regarding the above segments is reported below:

Trading of gasoil and related

Technology business
E B85 REEEY
Sales of Trading of
cultural Smart City ~ Renewable Strategic  gasoiland  Shipping
products Solution energy investments others  business Consolidated
X
HE BEHH TBE R REM
XILE @ BRE% BR R& WES MEXK )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TERT TER TERT TER TER
Year ended BZ2024%6A30A
30 June 2024 LEE
REVENUE 6=
External and total revenue HOMAE RAYE

Recognised at a point in

RRE—HHER

time - - 28,065 - - - 28,065
Recognised over time Rk D - 179,878 669 - - - 180,547
- 179,878 28,734 - - - 208,612
RESULTS ES
Segment result NERE (116) (2,667) 1,363 (36,578) 261 (10) (37,747)
Interest income FEWA 755
Gain on disposal of HEWBRRZ
a subsidiary 25 32,136
Fair value loss on investment X E# ¥ 2 A F &
properties BB (3,533)
Finance costs B AR (40)
Unallocated expenses, et~ RABHX—F8 (4,347)
Loss before taxation from REBELEXEZ
continuing operations BREtRER (12,776)

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. WERTEER @
IN FORMAT'ON (Continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) 7 EER @
Trading of gasoil and related
Technology business
B KnaE 5 RIEBER
Sales of Trading of
cultural Smart City Renewable Strategic  gasoil and Shipping
products Solution energy  investments others business  Consolidated
P
HE BEHm ABE R KA,
XER  BAE BR  RE WER  REEH 2o

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TREL TRL TEL TEL TET TEL TRL

Year ended BE2023F6A30H
30 June 2023 LEE
REVENUE W&
External and total revenue HIMEE R B
Recognised atapointintime R E—HHHER - 12,181 12,308 - - - 24,489
Recognised over time BEEER - - 803 - - - 803
- 12,181 13,111 - - - 25,292
RESULTS E3
Segment result PEER (6,838) 1,759 905 (4,291) (10) 7 (8,482)
Interest income FEKA 2,699
Fairvalue loss oninvestment & EME 2 AFE
properties E# (1,136)
Finance costs B A (172)
Unallocated expenses, net KPERZ %8 (4,584)
(11,675)
S—
BEREEEFRAR
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. KERkIsEERw®
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) 2 EER @
Information regarding the above segments is reported below: ER LS BERZFHROT :

Trading of gasoil and
Technology related business

B REmE S REBEY

Sales of Trading of
cultural ~ Smart City  Renewable Strategic  gasoiland  Shipping

products Solution energy investments others business Unallocated Consolidated
R 8
HE BEEw T84 R REf
X{Em BRE R BR RE WE S MEXY OB )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiERL TET TiEL TiER TEx TER FER TEL

Year ended 30 June 2024 HE202456A30R

LEE
Amounts included in the measure  F 1A 5 & 2 I Fl 5,
of segment profit or loss: EEzEE:
Depreciation of property, plant ~~ #1% * BER&REZ
and equipment & - 3 114 = = = 15 132
Depreciation of right-of-use FRESELNE
assets = = = 82 - - - 82

Fair value loss on financial assets £ 72 F &4t A& 2
at fair value through profit or SREELATE

loss R - - - 19,453 - - - 19,453
Loss on disposal of financial HESREELZER

assets - - - 32 = = = 32
Written off of property, plantand ~ #1% - BIE kR & 2 i 8

equipment - - 450 - - - - 450
Impairment losses recognised/  FLIEME 5 R E 18R

(reversed) for trade and BRZRAEER/

other receivables (REBERE) - 10,627 56 - (273) - = 10,410
Impairment losses on loan ERETREER

receivables - 15 = = = - 43 58
Impairment loss on right-of-use ~ F R EE 2 BERE

assets - - - 1,890 - - - 1,890

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. WERDTEER®
IN FORMAT'ON (Continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) 7 EER @
Trading of gasoil and
Technology related business
RE Kmh g5 RABEK
Sales of Trading of
cultural SmartCity ~ Renewable Strategic  gasoiland ~ Shipping
products Solution energy  investments others business  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
o
HE BEHM EE R REf
XLER BRF R R RE NE 5 WEXH AR &A

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TET TET TET TAL TET THET

Year ended 30 June 2023 HZ2023%F6H30A

LEE
Amounts included in the measure i 74 5t & 2 18 7 5
of segment profit or loss: BEzeE:
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #1% * BiE k& B2
and equipment nE 7 4 39 - - - 20 70
Depreciation of right-of-use EREEAENE
assets - - - 168 - - - 168

Fair value gain on financial assets 12 &t A 2
at fair value through profit or SREEZATE

loss g - - - (10,738) - - - (10,738)
Loss on disposal of financial HESREELEE
assets - - - 1,386 - - - 1,386
Imparment losses on finance ~ EMB AR EF B2
lease receivable HEFE - - - - - - 234 234
Impairment losses recognised for 51 UK E 5 T £ b BR3¢
trade and other receivables WRZAEEE - 606 - - 70 - 8 684
Impairment losses on loan EREFRERE
receivables - 121 - - - - - 121
Impairment loss on inventories 7 & 2 FER B 6,488 - - = - - - 6,488
No information about segment assets and liabilities is HRITERERSERKRBFME
presented as such information is not regularly provided to the FHMFELEAREREEH
chief operating decision maker for resource allocation and PHEERABENER HAES
performance assessment purposes. DIEBER -
BEREEEFRAR
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. WERTEER @
IN FORMAT'ON (Continued)
(c) Geographical information (c) HEE
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue REEDNEREPREEMEM
and non-current assets by location of customers and by location oz WmRIERBEEDITE
of assets respectively: PR T :
Revenue Non-current assets
g 2% kRBEE
Year ended 30 June As at 30 June
HZ6H30HLELEE MA6AH30H

2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 5 20284 2024 F 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx THET THER TR

The People’s Republic  # #E A R A0
of China (the “PRC”) (ThEl) - 21
including Hong Kong BB KRR

and Macau 208,612 25,292 42,383 42,476
(d) Information about major customers d EEXFzZzER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing RERFEEGNASEEELTR
over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as follows: W1I0% 2 EP WA

2024 2023

2024 F 2023

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET T T

Customer A BEA 107,878 —

Customer B =FB 41,868 —

Customer C EFC - 6,633

Customer D =FD - 5,463

Customer E =FE - 2,784
Customer A and B contributed revenue from Smart City Solution HZE2024F6 A30B ILFE BF
during the years ended 30 June 2024. ARBHEEEZIHMBART R =

EH BB -
Customer C and D contributed revenue from Smart City M2023F6 A30H Lt FE ' FFC
Construction and Customer E contributed revenue from MDHHEERMERWEELE
renewable energy during the year ended 30 June 2023. B RPEH T B AR RKEED
Rk
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7. OTHER INCOME, GAINSAND LOSSES 7. HEMW A - WFE R BB

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FH& T
Continuing operations BEREER
Interest income F B WA 755 2,699
Exchange (loss)/gain, net BN (Fi8), /W= 38 (65) 615)
Others (note) Hh (B 53) 1,556 1,092
2,246 3,176
Note: Others included rental income from investment properties and other sundry Mz HbBEREMENHS WA - BUTHEL
income. B Ho fth 4 BE U e
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BFFEEXA
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F& T
Continuing operations HEREETR
Interest on leases HEZFE 40 113
Other interest HAapF 8 - 59
40 172
BEMNEEBERALT
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9. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 9. BREAIEE

2024 2023

2024 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET T T
Loss before taxation from continuing operations 7 B 13 48 48 & % 7% 7 & B Al &5

has been arrived at after charging/(crediting): T3 & 4%, (Gt A) AT
TH B

Directors’ remuneration (note 10(a)) ZEE2H < (F7E100) 6,732 6,732

Staff costs excluding directors’ remuneraton EERA (T BEEESMHE) 5,776 5,013
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RNBFFTEIE R (EERIN

other than directors (note 31) (MF5E31) 183 177
Total staff costs REKA 45 12,691 11,922
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, W% - HiE R RE 2T E

included in general and administrative (GtA—M RITHZ HA)

expenses (note 17) (FF5E17) 132 70
Depreciation of right-of-use assets included in  # & &E 2 47 &

general and administrative expenses GTA—MRITHZHA)

(note 18) (MF3E18) 82 168
Short term leases EEHE 40 100
Auditors remuneration 1% 25 B B

— Audit service — ZHED RS 1,300 1,300

— Other services — HAbR% 693 400
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense DR A H 2 7 E KA 27,383 20,842
Gross rental income from investment properties 1% & ¥ % 7 & WA (251) (290)
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred for 38 : AREFEE AT L KA L

investment properties that generated REVMXEH EE
rental income during the year LR 36 37
215 253
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10. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION,
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors and chief executive’s remuneration

Directors emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefit of Directors) Regulation
are as follows:

Year ended 30 June 2024

mEMBRRNE
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#HZE 202456 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

10.EEME  E5H AL
KaREEEME

@ EERESTHAEZ

[

RIBEE B A MRHIE 3831 HE R
A(REEENZER)RAF2
Mo RECEEMENT

BZE2024F6H30HILEE

Defined
contributions
and
Performance retirement
Salaries related benefit Total
and other incentive scheme directors
benefits payments contributions emoluments
REMRK
ek RBRIERHA EBHREF ESHe
e HtEN BH2Ks 5§ HEE am
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx THEx TER TER TER
(note (i)
(GEA)
Executive directors HITES
Ms. Wong Man Winny 3 ' 3,456 = = 18 3,474
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Liu Ka Lim BRRLE 2,400 - - 18 2,418
Ms. To Yin Fong Cecilica 2+ 480 - - - 480
Independent non-executive BYFHTEE
directors
Mr. Leung Man Fai R E 120 - - - 120
Mr. Chan Yik Hei ®Ra%%E 120 - - - 120
Mr. Wong Yuk Man Edmand ~ E A X4 120 - - - 120
6,696 - - 36 6,732
BENEEEERAR
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10. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION, 10.EEMEe - EaH AL
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST REREEEMEw
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors and chief executive’s remuneration (2 EBRESITTHRAERZ
(Continued) M < (@)
Year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE2023F6H30ALLFE
Defined
contributions
Performance and retirement
Salaries related benefit Total
and other incentive scheme directors
Fees benefits payments  contributions  emoluments
REHETIR
ek RIERSA BIRER E
e HoRH ZnzRse AT EI 3R RS

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TEX TET

(note (i))
(P =E ()
Executive directors BITES
Ms. Wong Man Winny 2HZ LT 3,456 - - 18 3,474
Mr. Wu Yun Jing (note (iv)) R EREHEM) - - - - -
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Liu Ka Lim BEREE 2,400 - - 18 2,418
Ms. To Yin Fong Cecilica M F L 480 - - - 480
Independent non-executive BYFHTEE
directors
Mr. Leung Man Fai R EEAE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Chan Yik Hei R5% &% 120 - - - 120
Mr. Wong Yuk Man Edmand & A& Xt 4 120 - - - 120
6,696 — — 36 6,732
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10. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION,
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors and chief executive’s remuneration
(Continued)

Notes:

The performance related incentive payment is discretionary as
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company having
regard to the Group’s financial results and performance of the directors
of the Company.

The remuneration for non-executive directors comprises directors fees
and other emoluments which vary with the number of committees in
which they serve.

During both years, no emolument was paid by the Group to any
of the directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or retirement from employment with the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the directors of the Company
had waived any emoluments in both years.

Mr. Wu Yun Jing resigned on 25 May 2023.

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for the
executive directors are generally emoluments paid or receivable
in respect of those persons other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Director fee paid to non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors were for their services as directors of the
Company.

10.EEME  BeH AL
FEREEEME @

(@) EBERESITBRAEZ
[ lEAC 3

G

@

(i)

RIERRERZEZSBHIBNKT
B mARBAZHEMERERER
V2EAKEUBEEARARAE
ETERAMERE -

FRTESCHEBRESFHEER
HuMe SEFEEHEZEZES
BEMAMAR -

PNRESFERRE NEERERE
MARBEENME  fERBM
ARE B RN AR E B 2 828
HEARE R ERERBERAHEE-
MEFEN BEARREERE
ERBE -

R B %L D M2023F5H25H
BT -

AHTEEINAGT2HE 2

BAEMERN -—BBAZFAL
RHUEEEARARTREKNE QA
ZEBEBIEMRB ZE N
JE BN <&

ARRRFHITEZTREILIFEH
TEEFEEARAESTMRES
NEZ®RE -

BEMNBREEERAA
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10. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION, 10.EEMe BEaH AL

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Employees with highest emoluments

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included three (2023:
three) directors of the Company. Details of the emoluments
of those directors for the year ended 30 June 2024 and 2023
during their directorship period are set out above. The aggregate
emoluments of the two (2023: two) highest paid employees of
the Group, not being directors of the Company, are as follows:

FEREEEME @

EeFES
rEBREERHFALTERBRE
=R(2023%F : =ZR)ARFESE -
ZEE FE £2024F K2023F6
ASOR L FE TR E =B M
SHBRREX -AEEEHTA
(20235 : — &) B = FEB (W
ARBER) S BRBOT

(b)

2024 2023

2024 & 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Salaries and other benefits e Rk H A4 F 1,562 1,680
Layoff compensation BB E 45 -
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 38 7K 48 K| 51 2 £ 3 35 36
1,642 1,716

Emolument of two (2023: two) employees were within the
following band:

MG (2023%F : —R)EEZEI&N
FRHEE :

Number of employees

EEAH
2024 2023
2024 5 20234
HK$500,001-HK$ 1,000,000 500,001 # 71,000,000 7T 2 2

HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000

1,000,001 % 721,500,000 % 7T = —
1,500,001 % 7£-2,000,000 % 7T = —

152

There were no amounts paid during the year (2023: Nil) to the
five highest paid employees in connection with their retirement
from employment with the Group, or inducement to join.
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11. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 2 May 2023, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
to sell all of the equity interest of Honest City Enterprises Limited (“the
Disposal Group”) to an independent third party at the consideration
of HK$45.9 million in order to streamline the Group’s resources. The

transaction was completed on 30 October 2023.

M. EHEMB QA2 W

M2023F5 A2  AEBEBIE=FH
FIVEEHE UHERREERRA
AIM 2 E100% K E B REABE
45,900,0007T * BRI ANEE R - X5
B R 2023910 A30H 52X °

Consideration received: BERRAE :
HK$’000
F& T
Cash consideration received 2R S RE 45,900
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost upon REEEBMAEEFENEERBR
disposal of business: DT
HK$'000
FE T
Investment property WEWE 4,498
Finance lease receivables AR ERBERR 30,848
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 & E AR 2,405
Cash and cash equivalents BehkReEE 3
Trade and other payables FEUNE 5 Rk B AL AR 3K (2,841)
Tax payables FET R SR (2,034)
Net assets disposed of BEHEFEE 32,879
BEMNEEBERALT
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11. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 11. HEK B A 7 2 W @)

(Continued)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE— B AR AU :
HK$'000
FAT
Consideration received B E 45,900
Net assets of the subsidiary MEBARMFEE (32,879)
Cumulative exchange difference in HARELEFESERNBARFEEN
respect of the net assets of the RFtE R ER
subsidiary released on loss of control 1,814
Net assets attributable to non-controlling MEBAREERE=EGFEE
interest of the subsidiary 17,301
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & BB R A IS 32,136
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HEEENRESRAFRE:
HK$’000
FAT
Consideration received in cash and RekBHeIFEEWNRE
cash equivalents 45,900
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of & : B ER S RIR S E 5 &)
Net cash inflows arising on disposal PE—FEHRBAREENBESRAFE
of a subsidiary 45,897

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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11. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Year ended 30 June 2023

On 30 June 2023, the Group entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with an independent third party, Beijing Yiguo Hongtu
Technology Co., Ltd., to dispose of its entire 100% equity interests in
Beijing Mingxin, which is incorporated in PRC, for a cash consideration
of RMB7,500,000 (equivalent to HK$8,095,000) in order to streamline
the Group’s resources. The transaction was completed on 30 June
2028.

Consideration received/receivable:

M. EENE QT 2 WHEm@

B E2023F6 H30B LLFE

R2023E6 5300 © AN @ BB E =
FAREBRZEREERARZIEER
ek DA & db A (s (R B &k i Ak
M)W EE100%KE ReREAAR
#& 7,500,000 7T (48 & 78,095,000 7T ) -
BB AEBZER - X5 E R2023F6
A30H 5K °

B/ U HE

HK$’000
TETT

Cash consideration received/receivable Bl TENCR SR E

8,095

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost upon REEXEBEMAEEFENEEREE
disposal of business: DHT
HK$'000
FAT
Goodwill EES 7,078
Plant and equipment B & 1,715
Intangible assets EBREE 1,170
Inventories FE 801
Trade receivables FEUNE 5 BR 3K 2,251
Other receivables JE M5 A BR 3R 6,706
Cash and cash equivalents ReEkReERE 870
Trade payables JERTE SRR (2,589)
Other payables FEAS H At BR X (8,174)
Borrowings (R (4,217)
Net assets disposed of EHEFEE 5,611
BEMNEEBERALT
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11.

GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Year ended 30 June 2023 (Continued)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary:

M. EEHNE QT 2 W& @

B £2023F6 A30H L F E @)
5 — T BB 23 ] 0 M

HK$’000
FAT
Consideration received and receivables Bk ER R E 8,095
Net assets of a subsidiary —HNBARNFEEE (5,611)
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of B 55 2 122 | # s 12 JR BT /B A &)
the net assets of the subsidiaries released on  FE EH R 5T IE X =4
loss of control 69
Net assets attributable to non-controlling MEB AR EERE=EEFERE
interest of the subsidiary 95
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary I A B 2,648
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEENRSRAFRE:
HK$’000
FAT
Consideration received in cash and RekBeSEEWNRE
cash equivalents 2,159
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of & : B HER & MR & &5 (870)
Net cash inflows arising on disposal of HE - EAREER
a subsidiary BREmAFE 1,289

12. Discontinued operations

12.ERLEREXRT

156

The Group completed the disposal of entire equity interest of Beijing
Mingxin Zhilian Technology Co., Ltd.* (it J BA{= & B K 1T B BR A 7))
(“Beijing Mingxin”), on 30 June 2023 at a consideration of RMB7.5
million (“Disposal”), Beiing Mingxin ceased to be a subsidiary of the
Company upon the completion of the Disposal.

The principal business and activities of Beijing Mingxin was to provide
smart and safe charging solutions for electric bicycles, as well as smart
city safe power management and smart fire protection. The Group
ceased to sell those charging solution products that are used to be
sold by the Beijing Mingxin. Accordingly, the activities related to Beijing
Mingxin were classified as discontinued operations.

The profit for the period from the discontinued operations of Beijing
Mingxin is set out below.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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. . . — o ot
12. Discontinued operations (continued) 12.BRLEREEKEw
The profit for the period/year from discontinued operations: ERIEEEEBHNE FREF
Beijing Mingxin
ERBAE
2023
2023
HK$'000
FAT
Revenue Wz 3,515
Cost of sales 58 AR (1,379
Gross profit EH 2,136
Other income, gains and losses HEAlA - Wz REE 36
Distribution costs Palki= 10N (1,758)
General and administrative expenses — M RITEEZ (2,368)
Finance costs B 7 AR (70)
Loss before taxation BBl RT & 1R (2,024)
Income tax expenses FriSfi = 1 (76)
Loss for the period/year from discontinued ERIMEEEBNE FRNER
operations (2,100)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, HEBKIEEEEBHRE
net of tax (MK BIE) 2,648
Profit for the period/year from discontinued BRI EEBNEFREF
operations 548
Cash flows from discontinued operations RECRIEKLEEBTNREERE
Net cash generated from operating activities CEEBEEA RS FHE (616)
Net cash generated from investing activities BREEBFEE 2R FEE (999)
Net cash used in financing activities BMEESER RS FE 1,959
Net cash increase in cash and cash equivalents 34 NIR& S5 2 & 11K & F 58 344
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BELERETE 238
Amortization of intangible assets M EEHRH 79
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense GFEXNAERAERX 247
BEMNEEBERALT

—z-—mezx 197



SETBHRRHEE

NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# F 202446 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

13. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR
SALE AND LIABILITIES DIRECTLY
ASSOCIATED WITH ASSETS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

On 2 May 2028, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
to sell all of the equity interest of Honest City Enterprises Limited (“the
Disposal Group”) to an independent third party at the consideration
of HK$45.9 million. Accordingly, the following assets and liabilities of
the Disposal Group have been classified as held for sale as at 30 June
2028.

The assets and liabilities associated with the Disposal Group classified
as held for sale as at 30 June 2023 are as follows:

DTREFESENEE
REDBERBBESE
EEEMEBHNER

MR2023F 5828 AEBEF Y E B W
% M—EZBYFEF=-HFHERRDCES

ANE(HEEBEBDMMAERER  RE
7%4595%/%75 & It - 7202346 A30
H LUTHESEMNEERABE S HE
RIFIERE -

R2023E6 30 - BIHEE B HE A
BIESEHEBNEERAGBNOT

HK$000
FAT
Investment property "EWE 4,533
Finance lease receivables BEREERBER 32,053
Trade receivables JEURE 5 BR3K 1,021
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEH 3
Assets classified as held for sale NERFEGERE 37,610
Other payables H b JE T 5B 2,849
Tax payable FET IR 2,050
Liabilities directly associated with assets HAOBARESEEAEEZEBENAE
classified as held for sale 4,899

Non-controlling interest of the disposal group.

Proportion of
ownership interests and
Place of incorporation voting rights held by
and principal place of  non-controlling interests

HERENFZERERS

Profit allocated to Accumulated
non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests

Name of subsidiaries  business as at 30 June for the year ended 30 June as at 30 June
R6H30H HZ6A30ALFE
ot {1 B 32 3t B % IR IR R T PEFEERRR R6A30H RKst
HEARERE TREXBHY BEREGRREELS Bz FERBRAER
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

2024 F 2023 F

Golden Field and its Hong Kong/PRC - 49%
subsidiary &/ h
e RANBERR

2024 F 20234 2024 2023 F

= 473 = 17,271
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14. I8 HE R (X H)

Current tax:
— PRC enterprise income tax
— Hong Kong profits tax

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FB T T T
BUHAR 18 -
—HEEMEH 1,397 940

—BENEHR

1,397 940
(Over)/under provision in prior years: BEFE 2 GBEBE) BE
R :
— Hong Kong profits tax —BBNEH (224) 13
— PRC enterprise income tax —HEEMRSH (886) —
(1,110) 13
Deferred tax: RAET I -
— Credited for the year —F AR (841) (356)
Income tax (credit)/expense FiEs (%) S (554) 597

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
Mainland subsidiaries is 25% for both years. For income generated in
the Mainland earned by subsidiaries incorporated outside the PRC is
subject to withholding tax at 10% (2023: 10%).

No provision for Hong Kong Profit Tax has been made as the Current
years taxable profit has been set-off by previous years loss (2023:
16.5%).

BREFPERCEMSRE(LEERER
EDRCEMBREBTHGH  +H
Nt Z M BRARRMEARNZHEN A
25% o FA R B 3B S i AR S & BB 2 A
1 /B At 15 /9 U A ZE 210% (2023
F 1 10%) B TEINH -

HREMFEZHREBBEENR &
F R A &S TS 1E#E (2023
£ :16.5%) °

SENHEEERAT
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14. INCOME TAX CREDIT/ (EXPENSE)

(Continued)

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the loss before
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

AEEZBBALESA
BmRZGEBATERERET

14. R BHER(ZH) @

BakEt2E K

2024 2023
2024 F 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHER FA T
Loss before taxation MR B AT & 1R (12,776) (11,675)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% BEEBNEFHE16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) (20234 : 16.5%) 7H & 2 Bi 1A (2,108) (1,926)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries B E M B]E R 4 % ) =N
operating in other jurisdiction ZARAME 2 E 471 329
Tax effect of temporary difference RERNEREZERHEE
not recognised 1,713 —
Tax effect of income exempted or not subject A H ff, &1 )% I [& 7 24 2 4% %Fﬂ B4
to taxation in other jurisdiction BARBRAZH G E (5,415) (3,346)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible fortax ~ HEFB A B R 22 2
puUrposes MBTE 4,062 1,450
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERHEBEIREZE 2,523 4,402
(Over)/under provision in respect of prior years E2{F F 5 B #) (BEE B ), 5
TR (1,110) -
Tax relief MEBENRE T E (404) —
Utilisation of tax losses previously not PRBTRERHIERIE
recognised (286) (273)
Others Eih - (39)
Income tax (credit)/expense for the year FRMER(ER),/ S H (554) 597

15. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 30 June
2024 nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of reporting
period (2023: Nil).
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==
16. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 16. 5 &% (&518) & F
The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share attributable to owners ARREEAEBLHZEBERELREBER
of the Company is based on the following data: BTIEREGE
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET T T
From continuing operations: BESEETR
Loss for the year attributable to owners RABEEANEERFEERE
of the Company (12,420) (12,745)
For discontinued operations: ERIEAEE T
Profit for the year attributable to owners KRB HEEAEBERFEE R
of the Company — 562
Total (12,420) (12,183)
Number of ordinary shares ZBRK D& ’000 ’000
TR F &
(Restated)
(E51)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares st E &R E K (F8) &BF 2
for the purpose of basic (loss)/earnings per LBAR INAE F
share 683,831 683,831
The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate the ARTEMEFESREN(BE) &
basic (loss)/earnings per share for both years have been adjusted to MR EmRMETFOREELRAE - A
reflect the share consolidation during the year ended 30 June 2024. = iR & 2= 20246 A30 8 IE F E & &7
&0 o
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share for the years ended 30 June 2024 and R E 22024 F 202396 4301 I F
2023 were the same as the basic (loss)/earnings per share as there EUWEEEHTELLTABR BMMEFE
were no potential ordinary shares outstanding during both years. ZEREE (BB BINRATRER(E
B)/BFHER -
BEREEEFRAR
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17.¥Y % - BER®%E

Plant and
machinery
and Furniture
communications and Motor
networks fixtures vehicles Total
BE - HER
BEAZ HAREE "E #at

HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET TR THTL

Cost 5

At 1 July 2022 F2022%7 B1H 3,078 8,296 1,962 14,236
Acquisition of subsidiaries W BE T B A &) 1,270 — — 1,270
Currency realignment (R (320) 61) - (381)
Additional NE 5,313 16 — 5,329
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 11) 11 & K & 22 & (Hf 3£ 11) (1,948) — - (1,948)

At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 74202346 A30H &

2023F7H1H 8,293 8,251 1,962 18,506
Acquisition of subsidiaries =N - — - -
Currency realignment fE 5 A% (42) © - (45)
Additions NE 3,150 — — 3,150
Written off 88 2,161) - - 2,161)
At 30 June 2024 20246 A30H 9,240 8,248 1,962 19,450

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17.9% BERRE@®

(Continued)

Plant and
machinery
and Furniture
communications and Motor
networks fixtures vehicles Total
BE HER
BEAZ HGRARRE "E 5t

HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET TET TET

Depreciation and impairment 7 & REE

At 1 July 2022 M2022F7A1H 3,854 8,217 1,962 14,033
Currency realignment bE (59) (58) - (117)
Provided for the year FREB 308 - - 308
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 11) & KT B2 & (MisE11) (233) - - (233)

At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 120236 4308 &

2023F7HA1H 3,870 8,159 1,962 13,991

Currency realignment [E 5% 4 @ - (7)
Provided for the year FARE 130 2 - 132
Eliminated on written off i 35 5 (1,711) - - (1,711)
At 30 June 2024 20246 A30H 2,285 8,158 1,962 12,405
Carrying values REE

At 30 June 2024 20246 A30H 6,955 90 — 7,045
At 30 June 2023 7202346 A30H 4,423 92 — 4,515

BEREEEFRAR
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18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18.EAEEE
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
T REF RE PR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T FAT FAT
Carrying amount RESEE
At 30 June 2022 and A2022F6 H30H &
1 July 2022 20227 H1H — 168 168
Depreciation expense TEBA — (168) (168)

At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 74202356 A30H &

2023 7H1H — — —
Additions NE 1,972 — 1,972
Depreciation expense WEEHR (82) — (82)
Impairment loss WA EE (1,890) — (1,890)
At 30 June 2024 20236 A30H — — —

For the year ended 30 June B ZE2024F6H30H
2024 IEFE

Expense relating to short-term HEHHEHERHEMEER

leases and other leases with AHER - HESHT

lease term ended within 1218 A A& R

12 months 40 — 40
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRLEE 998 - 998

For the year ended 30 June B E2023F6H30H
2023 EFE

Expense relating to short-term HEHEEREMES

leases and other leases with AEA HESHE

lease term ended within 12 1218 A A& R

months 100 — 100
Total cash outflow for leases HEReRLES 1,052 121 1,173

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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18 RlGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

19

For both years, the Group lease various offices and motor vehicles for
its operations. Lease contracts are entered into fixed term of 2 years
(2023: 1 to 8 years) but may have extension options included. The
Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain
to exercise the option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant factors
that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal option.
After the lease commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease
term if there is significant event or change in circumstances that in
beyond its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise)
the option to renew (e.g. a change in business strategy). As the Group
considered the exercise of the extension option is uncertain, therefore
the lease term does not include the extension option. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of difference
terms and conditions.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF RIGHT-
OF-USE ASSETS

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the business performance of the
renewable energy segment and sale of surveillance equipment segment
were below expectation, the management of the Group concluded
there was indication for impairment and performed impairment
assessment on right-of-use assets.

The Group estimates the recoverable amounts of the relevant segment,
which are considered as individual CGUs to which the assets belong.
The recoverable amounts of the above CGUs have been determined on
the basis of value in use.

The value in use calculations use cash flow projections based on the
latest financial budgets approved by the management of the Company
covering a 5-year period. Cash flow projection during the budget period
was based on the operating costs, budgeted sales, growth rate and
gross margin during the budget period and the budgeted sales and
budgeted margin have been determined based on past performance
and management’s expectations for the future changes in the market.

18.

19.

FAEEE®

WA AEFEHRESERAEMA
BL#TLEE HESCRNETHRA
2F (2023F : 1£8%F ) B e B IF L
e AEEETHEEAEBTEND
FEAEEERFRBHE - b2
CERTHAEAREITEENRERREM
KESHINEERZ REERKB A
BoMEBEEEAETHIBRELCBLE
o2 ) & [ W B2 2 EL AT E (SR TTE) B
BIEE (PR REEE)NEN A
SESEHMTHHER - REER AT
FENEEZETIEE AL AEH
TEFEENEEE HEKRRXEREE
FlIERGEREN HPREsEEZR
R TR AN 1 -

£ HEEENREFG

HE2024F6A30HIEFE - AR AT B
SRR RERERBIHEDBOE
BREERES ASEEREERAT
ERENRR  WEHEREEELETRE
T o

AEBERBAABIOBENAREESE &
UDBRRAREEMBNERARERE
B blREREEMNHTREDEER
EEEMREENER ERE -

EREENAEERENARRIEEE
HENSHMERENSFHRASRA
A FEARNRSRABRASEREER
HEMEERA BEHER BEX
MEMNE BEHEENBEENXE
BREBEBENEENMEEREHRRT S E
e TR HIBEE ©

BEMNBREEERAA

—z-—meey 165



SETBHRRHEE

NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# F 202446 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

19. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF RIGHT- 19. & A& E R E (G @

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

166

O F- U S E ASS ETS (Continued)

Based on the result of the assessment, the directors of the Company REFELER AREEERERS N
determine that the recoverable amount of the CGUs is lower than the EEUNARESHERRESREE
aggregate carrying amount of the CGUs and impairment on right-of- fImEiRme s YA E2024F6A
use assets of HK$1,890,000 was provided for the year ended 30 June ?EE LE 4F % fF 1£1,890,0007% TT &) JAl fE
2024. AT oE ©

20. REWE

Properties

located in

the Mainland

R B P it 4 35

HK$’000

FAT

Carrying value at 1 July 2022 MR2022F7 B1B 2R E 47,275

Currency realignment PE 5, 78 & (3,647)

Fair value loss on investment properties KEWMEZ A AFEERE (1,136)

Reclassified to assets held for sale ENOBEREREEE (4,533)
Carrying value at 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 7202396 A30H &

2023F7A1HZREE 37,959

Currency realignment B 3, 8 2 (164)

Fair value loss on investment properties KREMEZ ATFEEE (3,533)

Carrying value at 30 June 2024 A20245F6 A30H 2 BRE B 34,262

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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. R—EBREQTZER

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

HK$°000 HK$’000

FB T FAT

Unlisted shares, at cost EETRR - EmARAE 2 2
Share of post-acquisition losses FEIR IR R B 1R - —
2 2

Particulars of the Group’s associate at 30 June 2024 and 2023 are as

follows:
Principal Class of
Place of place of shares
Name of company incorporation operation held
& il B 32 TE g2l
NCIEY it B R B i 43 58 Bl
Champion Oriana Power ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary
Management Limited
(“Champion Oriana
Power’)
BEENESR B A Bl
BERRT
(BEELZRK)

Champion Oriana Power, the only associate in which the Group
participates, is an unlisted corporate entity whose quoted market price

is not available.

R20244F 20236 A0 AER 2 A

BhEZFHBOT:

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued capital
held by the Group
FEEREERT
JR A< T 1B 2 Lk Bl

2024 2023
2024 % 2023 4

Principal activity

FEEH

20% 20%

20% 20%

Provision of solar
energy and
related products

R RIS 82 A AR
BEm

LA ERTERNEZREE AL
EEM-SEIBEAT KD ETE

ATEE A

BEMNEEBERALT
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21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 21.

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s interest in
an associate, which is prepared using accounting policies in conformity
with the accounting policies adopted by the Group and accounted for
using the equity method, is set out below:

R—EBERATZER®

AEER-—HBERRAZEDEZMBEE
MBERESHIERMBZETHE HHE
AEBRRMZETBR -3 A@EHM
BERAEDEARR  EHE2EHIAT

2024 2023

2024 20234

HK$°000 HK$’000

FEx FAT

Total assets BEEBE 10 10
Total liabilities BERE (11) (11)
1) (1)

Revenue I &= - —

Loss and total comprehensive expense AFEEBEEREZEX HEE

for the year

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22.
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

BAVPEFAERZZE
MEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Unlisted equity investment FEMRAKRE

— Company A (note (i)) — DA A ) - —
Listed equity investments in Hong Kong (note (i) & & £ 1 B AN 4% & (B 7 (i) 10,421 34,223
10,421 34,223

Represented by: AR 31 & I8 57K -
Current assets BN HA &6 1 10,421 34,223
Non-current assets IEBNEAER 19 - —
10,421 34,223

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROF'T OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

On 29 March 2019, Allied Joy (Hong Kong) Limited (“Allied Joy”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and two other independent third parties
established a company (defined as “Company A”), which was incorporated
in British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) with limited liability. Allied Joy subscribed
for 25 ordinary shares of total US$250,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,965,000) of Company A. Pursuant to the Memorandum and Articles
of Association of Company A, it required more than 50% of the voting rights
of shareholders to pass all the resolution (including appointment and removal
of directors of Company A. The other two shareholders, together hold 75%
of the equity interests of Company A, have joint control over Company A and
appointed all directors in Company A. Upon the completion of the subscription,
the Group holds 25% of equity interest in Company A. The Group has no
right to appoint any director in the board of directors of Company A which is
responsible for making decisions of the relevant activities of Company A. In this
regard, the directors of the Company conclude that the Group does not have
significant influence over Company A and hence conclude that the investment
in Company A is accounted for as a financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss of the Group.

The fair values of the listed shares in Hong Kong are determined based on the
quoted market closing prices available on the Stock Exchange. For details,
please refer to securities investments section in Management Discussion and
Analysis in the 2024 annual report of the Group.

23. INVENTORIES

mEMBRRNE
NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#HZE 202456 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. AT EFAEBEZZE
B & = @

]

23. 17

MR2019F3 298 ' ARAMEEWE A
AENR (BB AR AR (VEHRD 8B INE
UBIYE=ZFAKIL—BRAR(EEAID
FAD ZRREEBHBRHES((HEEB
EERBEEDEMALAERETRA -
JER A A RIAR BB T250% & @A - &5t
250,000 7t (18 & 7 471,965,000 7T ) °
BIEARANBEBERRNMAMAA - 1A
REBEQAFNAESNEGMER)HEA
RAAFB B BBS0%MEERNRFERB
THEBB ZHIMEBRREREFTIFAARA
ZT75% B AR - Bkt P RZES T QA
A TEGTARANFTAEES - TRR
R NEBEREE R AAZ25%R) AR # -
AEBEREAATNAESSERES M
ZEESHASYRARANBBESET

ARBIREHEENTEN YELGHAE
i MERRAANKREARRASEZA
FEAABECEREE -

TR LETIRMG 2 DT ETRE A TIES
bk mEET EHFAES  F2H
AR B 2024 F F P [EIRE 7T im KD
THRESFIRE D

4

— =

2024 2023
2024 £ 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTEx T T

Raw materials JR#t 3,113 3,671
Work in progress T2 m 720 223
Finished goods BN 3,574 3,441
7,407 7,335

Notes:

@

Included in finished goods are cultural products (including precious stones and
antiques) of HK$1,260,000 (2023: HK$1,260,000), which are held for trading
and resale in the ordinary course of business.

HEABBEREEXEBEFRIEE
BERBEZXLER(BERAEGRE
iy &) 31,260,000 7T (20234F : 1,260,000
BT

BEMNBREEERAA
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23. INVENTORIES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

170

As at 30 June 2024 and 2023, all the cultural products of the Group were
stored in a warehouse run by a world-renowned security company, which is an
independent third party to the Group.

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2023, the Group engaged the valuer, B 72 {= & & &} i 52 &
BRERQFBEERE") to assess the current market values of all 225 pieces of
cultural products as at 30 June 2023 based on the grading and classification of
the cultural products and the current condition of the cultural products. Based
on the valuation of the cultural products as at 30 June 2023 by B 72 {5, the
management of the Group determined that their net realisable values were
below their carrying amounts as of 30 June 2023 and the shortfalls resulted in
further impairment loss of HK$6,488,000 for the year ended 30 June 2023.

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 30 June 2024, the Group engaged the valuer, Access Partner
Consultancy & Appraisals Limited (“Access Partner”) to assess the current
market values of all 225 pieces of cultural products as at 30 June 2024 based
on the grading and classification of the cultural products and the current
condition of the cultural products. Based on the valuation of the cultural
products as at 30 June 2024 by Access Partner, the management of the
Group determined that no significant variance between net realisable values
and their carrying amounts as of 30 June 2024 and no impairment loss was
provided for the year ended 30 June 2024.

The directors of the Company were of the view that, with the detailed exercise
performed by the valuer, the carrying amount net of impairment recognised so
far, reflected in the consolidated financial statements, was the best estimate of
the recoverable amount of the cultural products.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024

(i)

(iii)

=]

23. FEwm

GhE

()

2024 F K 2023F6 A30H + AEE 2 Fr
BEXLEREFTHR —Mitt RABHRE
REFIEEZRBREERN HAXEEB
NE=ZF e

MREEHZE2023F6 A0HIEFEZHEE
MEHREAMs  AEBECREGEMER
FEERIGEBRERARTEAERE)Y
ZEXERZRMUERDBEZEE B
REBEFERR  FEHE2H258XLER
M2023F6 308 2 MM I5EE - RE
Bl 7= {5 1R 2023 F 6 A 30 A ¥ XL E M & &
B AEEEEERETHE E202346A30
Amr R FEENEREDE mMe/ME
FEWE E202346 4308 L FEHE—
5 R {8 [§5 18 /56,488,000 TT ©

REBEE2024F6 AR LEEEZHE
MBHREMs  AEBECEEGHEMDR
BEMETEARAR((ERE]EHZE
MIbERZRMERDEZER  URER
AR » FF {4 2 3622514 SU b EE f 122024
F6AAZEKRMBEE RETRE
M2024F6 308 ¥ XL E RAEE - &K
SEEEEREHENERFEMRE E2024
FOA0AMBEEEL &EEAD R - M
£2024F6A30R IEFEREBEHGRE

ARREERA  KAEMETHERR
B NEEMBHRRRRZRE R E
REEZEEEAX(CERATKESREZ

REMGE -
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=] =
24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24. EREB 5 K HAERER

2024 2023

2024 F 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET F& T

Trade receivables (note i) fEUR & S8R 3R (BT aEi) 150,366 8,369
Less: provision for impairment losses B ORERBEE (7,529) (346)
142,837 8,023

Other receivables (note ii) i Uk L th BR 3R (B R 45,584 36,219
Less: provision for impairment losses AR EEERE (6,676) (3,477)
38,908 32,742

181,745 40,765

Represented as: AT & I8 R

Current portion Bl B & 10 180,671 40,765
Non Current portion JE BN HA =6 19 1,074 —
181,745 40,765

Notes: B EE -

[0) The Group maintains a well-defined credit policy regarding its trade customers (0] AEBREESEFRPETHBEZEER
depending on their credit worthiness, nature of services and products, industry K- BERZZEA RBERERZME
practice and condition of the market with credit period ranging from 30 days to B 1TARERTSBERMGETERPN T
180 days. The Groups credit policy for sales of cultural products are cash on 30HZE180REEH - AKBEHMHEE X
delivery. ERZEEREAKIMR-

(ii) It mainly represents amount due from the former subsidiaries, prepayment for (ii) EEZEREANTARNNRE W% BE
property, plant and equipment and project cost. REEEENTEMN R REBEERIE -

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of expected credit losses) EWESEXR(NBRBEHEESE) NR

presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period EHTERBRBREZAH KRR Z

is as follows: R

2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER T
0-60 days 0-60 H 93,427 6,405
61-90 days 61-90H 2 1,306
91-180 days 91-180H 24,969 —
181-365 days 181-365 H 19,789 —
Over 365 days 8365 H 4,650 312
142,837 8,023

BEREEEFRAR
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group’s finance and sales
management team would assess the potential customers credit
worthiness and define the credit limit accordingly for the customers.
Credit limits attributable to customers are reviewed regularly with
reference to past settlement history and where appropriate, information
about their current reputation. Details of the credit policy impairment
assessment of trade receivable for the year ended 30 June 2024 and
2023 are set in note 5.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of expected credit losses)
presented based on past due status at the end of the reporting period

24, EIWE 5 R EMERF @

REMNTMAFAZLPA  ASEZMB &
HEBHEKSFMEBERERP Z2EE
E UHEEMWAETRFPZ2EER B
FTEFPZEEREL2EBAERLHER
FEENBLT SHEENEEIETH
2= B o B £2024F k20236 H30H 1k
FENESRERBEREERRRETH
B

B2 3R 5 B9 R HI R R 251 2 fE B
SERNBEBEEBR) 2EB /T
-

is as follows:
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$°000 HK$000
FEx FAB T
Not past due 7 B 35 1
Less than 1 month past due wmE LR —EA 69,068 6,296
1 to 3 months past due BmE—Z=2=M@A 24,329 108
3 to 12 months past due W=+ @A 44,755 1,306
Past due over 1 year m R iR — & 4,650 312
142,802 8,022
142,837 8,023

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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=
25. LOAN RECEIVABLES 25. EIE X
2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Loan receivable B E K 6,798 2,590
Less: provision for impairment losses R EE R (174) (116)
6,624 2,474
As at 30 June 2024, loan receivables (net of expected credit losses) of MR2024%6 A30H  EW = & & &
HK$6,624,000 (2023: HK$2,474,000) were due from three borrowers (2023: (2028 : — &) Wy FE W B (30 Bk 78 23
one), unsecured and with personal guarantee. The loan receivables = & E18) B £6,624,000% T (2023 :
carry fixed interest rates at 6% to 8% per annum with maturity date 2,474,000 70) ZEERAEERFRE
within 6-12 months from the loan draw down date. AR - BREFTHEEFHNERE
8% FIHAAERREMBHEN A E+
ZEAR-
26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26.IRERBEEEH
(a) The cash and cash equivalents comprise short-term deposits (@) REeRBRLETEREIHA A=
with maturity of three months or less and cash held by the BMAKMAZERTEREAEE
Group. BEZRE -
Certain bank balances and cash of HK$8,128,000 (2023: 7% 848,128,00078 7T (20234 : 3,522,000
r— ot 2=yt N
HK$3,522,000) were denominated in RMB, which is not freely A7) % BT RITEES & R T
convertible currency in the international market. The remittance A % WEHE - W ARBILIFA
of these funds out of the Mainland is subject to exchange BmBERLRIZER ARERN
FE 1 i JE = =
restrictions imposed by the Government of the PRC. WELRZSASARTARNE

He 2 S FE ) BT AR R

SENHEEERAT
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS continued) 26. R & R BHA EE @m0

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) EREETHMELEEEN
financing activities ¥R
The table below shows the detailed changes in the Groups major TRFBIWAEBEMETSHFE
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and SFZEENEY(REBRESRIE
non-cash changes. o) FE -
Amount
due to Lease
Borrowings a director liabilities Total
(note 30) (note 29)
Ef—2
& =K EENE HEEE st
(Pt £ 30) (Bt 7£29)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
T T T T T T T T
At 1 July 2022 A2022%F7A1H — 150 1,800 1,950

Financing cash flows: BMEBRESHKE :

Repayment of lease EEMHEARG
liabilities — — (960) (960)
Advance from a director R B & F K 2 5% — 1,850 - 1,850
Interest paid BT LA (129) - (113) (242)
Repayment of EEER
borrowings (1,478) — — (1,478)
Proceeds from BB IR
borrowings 3,582 — — 3,582
1,975 1,850 (1,073) 2,752
Other changes: Hin# g :
Disposal of subsidiaries  H & [ B A &) (4,217) — — (4,217)
Acquisition of U5 BB BT /B 2 A
subsidiaries 2,258 — — 2,258
Finance costs B 75 X AR 129 — 113 242
Exchange realignment  [& 3 38 & (145) - - (145)
(1,979) — 113 (1,862)
At 30 June 2023 #2023 6 530 H — 2,000 840 2,840
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS continued) 26. R & R A EE @m0

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) EMEEHMELEEGEN
financing activities (Continued) ¥ AR (@0
*Loan from
a third party
(Included Amount
in other due to Lease
payable) a director liabilities Total
(note 30) (note 29)
*E=RER
(BEEH EBN—2
B EE=NE HEAE st
(P 5£30) (P 5£29)
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FA T FA T FA T FAT
At 1 July 2023 2023781 H — 2,000 840 2,840
Financing cash flows: MERSRE
Repayment of lease liabilities 158 H & & (& - — ©18) (918)
Advance to a director KEEZHBN — (2,000) - (2,000
Interest paid B E - - (40) (40)
Advance from a third party KRB £ = MK 27,998 - - 27,998
27,998 (2,000) (958) 25,040
Other changes: Hih 5 :
New lease entered A K| - — 1,972 1,972
Finance costs B 18 AR — — 40 40
Exchange realignment PE H 7 & (63) — — (63)
63) - 2,012 1,949
At 30 June 2024 A2024%F6 A30H 27,935 — 1,894 29,829
The amount is unsecured, interest free and had no fixed repayment * ZAREWEER BEANSERE
terms. TE AR G -
BEREEEFRAR
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j=v) =+
27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27. BHEZ R HEMERR
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FAT
Trade payables ERESER 86,770 4,560
Other payables & A< HL Ath R 3R 64,475 19,315
151,245 23,875
The aging analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice BRNESEFRNBERNTAERRIBEESE
date at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BEHIZEREDITES AT
2024 2023
2024 F 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT FAT
0-60 days 0-60 H 511 3,581
61-90 days 61-90 H — —
91-365 days 91-365H 85,195 —
Over 1 year HBiE—F 1,064 979
86,770 4,560
The credit period for purchases of goods ranged from 30 days to 120 BEEMZEEHRNFI0EE120H -
days.
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28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

ANAE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Receipts in advance from customers for FIBHIRE 2 FEWE 5KIB
provision of services 847 77
Movements in contract liabilities EHNEEEE
2024 2023
2024 F 2023
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHER FAT
At 1 July ®n7A1A 717 2,430
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of 124 AR 75 78 W R IE
billing in advance of provision of service MEREHBEEM 353 2,749
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of RERBERTAFENEH
recognising revenue during the year thatwas B ERNKREMEHENERE
included in contract liabilities at the beginning  J& 4
of the year (223) (4,462)
At 30 June M6 HA30H 847 717

The Group’s contract with the client is to assist them in installing solar
panels which will optimize energy usage and reduce costs. The Group
requires certain customers to provide upfront deposits range from 30%
of total contract sum as part of its credit risk management policies.
The Group typically transfers to revenue after completed all installation
work.

All the amount of billings in advance of performance related to
renewable energy business as at 30 June 2024 are expected to be
recognised as revenue within one year.

AEBEZTFFETNG N E B M
RRANGRER - LBCERER L REE
KA EREERAREEREKN 4
D AREERRLEEFPRHATIRNE
MBS EIRMEMNK - REBEET
RATE R R TEREBEIA -

MR2024F6 4308 BRI B AR %
BHERAOZENFEEFR —FR
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==
29. LEASE LIABILITIES 20.fHEBE
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FAT
Lease liabilities payable: [EMHEAE:
Within one year —FR 969 840
Within a period of more than one year but not ~ — 4 A _H18 T B & R &
more than two years 925 —
1,894 840
Less: amounts due for settlement within BB BE T2 AR
12 months shown under current liabilities FIHAE B RE (969) (840)
Amounts due for settlement after ERBEETI12EAE
12 months shown under non-current liabilities 2/ HA {8 18 89 30 18 925 —
— Eond
30. AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR 0. BN —BESRIE
The amount due to a director of the Company is unsecured, non- ERARR—BESHREDEERR T
interest bearing, has no fixed term of repayment and is repayable on AR EETFTERHARERERESR-
demand. Such amount was fully repaid during year ended 30 June IR IE B R 2024F6 A30H It FERBH
2024, =
As at 30 June 2023, such director of the Company, who is also a N20236F6A30H ZARREEZNA
substantial shareholder of the Company, is deemed to be interested in KRB ZEERR WRARAKR A
16.17% of the issued share capital of the Company. 16.17% 2 B BITIRARER -
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31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 31.BRIREFIGHE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Retirement benefit contributions to MASE 2 EEHEKEGTEZAN
the Group’s defined contribution scheme 2R PRAR R4 3K 189 213

(a) Defined contribution scheme (a) EEEMFEE

Certain subsidiaries of the Company participate in a retirement
benefit scheme covering a portion of their employees. The assets
of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of independent trustees.

Commenced from December 2000, the Group enrolled all eligible
employees in Hong Kong into a mandatory provident fund (the “MPF”)
scheme. The retirement benefit cost of the MPF scheme charged
to the profit or loss represents contributions to the MPF scheme
by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the MPF scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the Mainland are
members of government-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the respective local government in the PRC. The
Group is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

During the year, the total expense recognised in the profit or loss
amounted to HK$189,000 (2023: HK$213,000) and represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the schemes.

ARRETETHERA RIS
BE2HE—TRRKREANGE - %R
HEHCEERAEBEZEENH
FA YERABIXEAZESZ
EgA-e

B2000F12A 8 A"EBAER
ERCHEAEREBEETMER
scmBHIEAES((RES] T
ZloRIB=EINBR 2 BB BIRK
BHRKARIEAREE IR B ES A8
MEZLEHBESTEIEDL 2

K e

REEBRFBEAH 2B QR E
BATEAME T RFLH
BRERRAKBERGTEIKE - A&
BEANEETE L2 TERAM
ZRRBERFEELER  A%RE
BRRHEES - FHEEH/RD
NEBZRIKEF T8 2 —
HE o

FAN - RIBEER 2 M 189,000
7 7T (20234F : 213,000 7T ) A A
SEEZETEFUREZ L E
HErEIE L 2 AR -
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31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)

(b) Forfeited contributions

180

With effect from 1 December 2000, the Group has also joined
a mandatory provident fund scheme (‘MPF Scheme”) for its
employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates specified in
the rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions. Except for
voluntary contribution, no forfeited contribution under the MPF
Scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.

For the retirement benefits of the Groups qualifying employees
in the Mainland, the Group has participated in the retirement
benefits scheme operated by the local municipal government
of Shenzhen. The Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of their payroll costs to the scheme to fund the
benefits. The employees are entitled to retirement pension
calculated with reference to their basic salaries on retirement
and their length of services in accordance with the relevant
government regulations. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the scheme is to pay the ongoing required
contributions under the scheme. Contributions to the scheme are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the scheme. No forfeited contribution under the
Mainland retirement benefit scheme is available to reduce the
contribution payable in future years.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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32. DEFERRED TAXATION 32. iE & Fi 18
At 30 June 2024, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately M20245F6 A30B - AEBERBH 2
HK$663,227,000 (2023: HK$649,670,000) available for offset against % 18 5 18 £9663,227,000 7% 7T (2023 4F :
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the 649,670,000/ 7t) - Al A{EEH B & 2
unpredictability of future profit streams. These tax losses may be m A e AR RBETERT B 18 2 & F 2R -
carried forward indefinitely. MUY EEREEHEEE LEHES
8 7] £ R B A B A5 8 o
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHEAE

Fair value change of
investment properties

REMFEZ

AFEEE

HK$'000

FAT

At 1 July 2022 R2022%7 A1H 9,025
Deferred tax charged to profit or loss EERER B RNR (356)
Exchange difference & E5R (620)
At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 7202346 A30H K&2023%7 A1H 8,049
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss EEFRIEAGT ABE 841)
Exchange difference fEH =58 (33)
At 30 June 2024 R2024%6 A30H 7,175
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33. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

182

33. WA K f# 18

(@) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Groups consolidated equity is set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of
the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out in

(@ o Z22F

AEERERARES B ZF
NMEFREHBZEHEIREE
BRAESEEHRAN - ARABRAZ
18 B 26 2 R F ) & F R & B o
BT FESS -

note 38.
(b) Share capital (b) &=
Number of shares Amount
ii&vig - §E| o]
’000 HK$'000
T B& FA&T
Authorised share capital: JETERA
Balance at 1 July 2022, 30 June 2023, 1% & X EE0.01/8 Lat
and 1 July 2023 with par value of 202267 H1H -
HK$0.01 each 20236 A30H &
202347 A1H 160,000,000 1,600,000
Share consolidation B’ & o (120,000,000) -
Increase in authorised share capital A TE BR AN 3 10 120,000,000 —
Balance at 30 June 2024 ZER®EE0.018 Tt
with par value of HK$0.01 each R 202456 A30H 160,000,000 1,600,000
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3. WAL &

(b) Share capital (Continued) (b) B @)
Number of Share Share Capital
shares capital premium reserve Total
gl §c| [ R 15 % & % 2 i 5 BE
‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F& FTHT THT THT THET
Issued and fully paid share capital: & 247 & 8 & Bk A
Balance at 1 July 2022, BREREECIB TR
30June 2023 and 1 July 2023  2022F7A1H K
with par value of HK$0.01 each 20236 A30H &
2023F7A1R 2 EH 2,735,324 27,353 2,214,617 1,093,039 3,335,009
Share consolidation (note) BRtn & OF (B ) (2,051,493) - - - -
Capital reduction (note) FRA IR (B ) - (20,515) 20,515 - -
Balance at 30 June 2024, par BEREBI B TR
value of HK$0.01 each 20246 430 H & &4 683,831 6,838 2,235,132 1,093,039 3,335,009
Note: On 6 February 2024, the Company proposed to implement a MisE: M2024F2A6RH AR A ERE

capital reorganisation (“Capital Reorganisation”) which involves
Share Consolidation and Capital Reduction, as follow:

(i)

the Company proposes to implement the Share
Consolidation on the basis that every four (4) issued and
unissued Existing Shares of HK$0.01 each in the share
capital of the Company will be consolidated into one (1)
Consolidated Share of HK$0.04 each.

immediately following the Share Consolidation becoming
effective, the Capital Reduction whereby the issued share
capital of each issued Consolidated Share of the Company
will be reduced from HK$0.04 to HK$0.01 by cancellation
of HK$0.03 of the paid-up capital of the Company on
each issued Consolidated Share so that each issued
Consolidated Share will be treated as one (1) fully paid-
up share of par value HK$0.01 each in the share capital of
the Company.

The aforesaid Capital Reorganisation was effective on 19 March

2024.

TRAZEETRAEAD  BA
EEFRENE O RBARER

B as

= Hig

)

(i)

mE

AABRREZREMARE
A T WA F AR E (E0.01
BTHEBTRREFTR
BERHBEHE-—(NKRER
T {£0.0478 7T #9 & 6f B 7
MEEE R M S Of -

ZEERMH A FERE R
ANHR G E B A R A
BREBITAFRHOH
B AR0.03 T BED
BUIAMHRNNEREE
F10.04 7% 7T Al W Z£0.01 %
T Bt BREBETE
B IR 19 B2 48 1R AN R B R AR
PEREEONE T —
(RSB RFKRA -

LR AR E A B R202453 519
HEXM -
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33. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

()

184

Reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Share premium
The application of share premium account is governed by
section 40 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve represents the amount by
which the Company issued share capital was diminished
on cancellation of ordinary share repurchased.

General reserve

The general reserve represents the reserve arising from
the reduction of the nominal amount of the shares of the
Company (after the consolidation of shares of 25 ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each into 1 share in 2002) of HK$2.5
each by cancelling the paid up capital to the extent of
HK$2.4 on each share of the Company in 2002.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the amount arising from (a)
a bonus issue of shares of a subsidiary of the Company
by way of capitalising the subsidiary’s retained profits and
deemed capital contribution from a substantial shareholder, (b)
the reduction of the nominal amount of the shares of the
Company (after the consolidation of shares of 20 ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each into 1 share in 2017) of HK$2 each
by cancelling the paid up capital to the extent of HK$1.9
on each share of the Company in 2017 and the reduction
of the nominal amount of the share of the Company of
HK$0.1 each by cancelling HK$0.09 on each share of the
Company in 2022.

Merger reserve
The merger reserve represents the reserve arising from the
group reorganisation in 1992.

Translation reserve

The exchange translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 3.
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company has a share option scheme under which eligible
persons, including directors of the Company or any of their respective
subsidiaries, may be granted options to subscribe for shares in the
Company.

On 29 December 2022, the shareholders of the Company approved
and adopted a new share option scheme (the “New Share Option
Scheme”) and the share option scheme adopted on 30 November 2012 (the
“Old Share Option Scheme”) was expired. The New Share Option
Schemes were adopted for the purpose (i) to enable the Company to
grant Options to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards for
their contribution to the growth and development of the Group; (i) to
attract and retain personnel to promote the sustainable development
of the Group; and (iii) to align the interest of the grantees with those
of the Shareholders to promote the long-term financial and business
performance of the Company. Under the New Share Option Scheme,
Eligible Participants include any employee of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries; any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; also
include Related Entity Participants and Service Providers (collectively,
“Non-employee Persons”). The Directors consider that the inclusion
of the Non-employee Persons to participate in the New Share Option
Scheme is consistent with the purpose of the New Share Option
Scheme, which enables the Company to grant Options as incentives
or rewards to attract personnel outside the Group to promote the
sustainable development of the Group and align the mutual interests of
each party, as both the Company and the Non-employee Persons, by
holding on to equity incentives, will mutually benefit from the long term
growth of the Group. The basis of eligibility of any of the eligible persons
to the grant of share options shall be determined by the Board from
time to time on the basis of their contribution or potential contribution
to the development and growth of the Group. The New Share Option
Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force
for 10 years from 29 December 2022.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from the
date of the offer of grant of the option. A nominal consideration of
HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option. An option
may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the New Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by the
Board, which must not be more than 10 years from the date of the
grant. Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the
offer for the grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum period
required under the New Share Option Schemes for the holding of an
option before it can be exercised.
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The subscription price in respect of any option will be a price
determined by the Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of
(i) the closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of the offer, which must be a business
day; (i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the Offer; and (i) (where applicable)
the nominal value of a share.

The details of the principal terms and conditions of the New Share
Option Scheme were summarised in the circular of the Company dated
30 November 2022.

Other than the share option schemes of the Company aforementioned,
at no time during the Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

No options have been granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company
under the New Share Option Scheme and Old Share Option Scheme
since their adoption. The number of options available for grant under
the New Share Option Scheme at the beginning and end of the
reporting year is 68,383,084 Shares, representing 10% of the Shares
in issue as at the Adoption Date (For Related Entity Participants or
Service Providers:27,353,233 Shares). The number of shares that may
be issued in respect of options granted under the New Share Option
Scheme during the reporting year divided by the weighted average
number of shares of the relevant class in issue (excluding treasury
shares) for the year is zero (For Related Entity Participants or Service
Providers:zero). As at the date of this annual report, the total number
of shares available for issue under the New Share Option Scheme is
68,383,084 Shares and the percentage of the issued shares (excluding
treasury shares) that it represented is 8.33%. The maximum entitlement
of each participant under the New Share Option Scheme is 1% of the
total number of Shares in issue. The remaining life of the New Share
Option Scheme is 8.5 years.

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Groups overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and
accumulated losses.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a bi-

annual basis. As part of this review, directors of the Company consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the new share
issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

)

36.

The key management personnel are those persons holding
positions with authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly,
including the directors of the Company and the five highest paid

35.

BEARE kR EE @

AEBZEXNEBBAARRER ARG
HEEAK ETPEBRDBETRA  #F#EB
KM RFEE -

ARBELEBLEEHNERLERB -ER
Bz —HH ARREEEZEEEAK
AREBEAEN 2 BEARR - REAR
AEFECZEZ AKEREBETHK
- EERORETHEXBERERE
B AFEBRRBERNERE -

BEALXRS

HREEABREARLBAENR
HEKRAZMETE - HEMEH A
SEEDNBUNAR  BEARQ
AEEMhERSHAR -TEE

=

individuals. Key management personnel remuneration are as BABHFMUOT :
follows:
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FH& T
Salaries and other benefits FekEMEF 8,258 9,644
Performance related incentive payments BIERRER RS - 84
Lay off compensation 45 —
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R ARAE R ET SR 71 84
8,374 9,812
BEMNEEBERALT
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(i)

(i)

188

On 22 March 2023, the Group (as the borrower) and Ms. Wong
(as the lender), a substantial shareholder and director of the
Company had entered into a facility agreement pursuant to which
Ms. Wong agreed to lend to the Group up to HK$2,000,000 in
aggregate principle amount which was unsecured, non-interest
bearing and had no fixed term of repayment and was repayable
on demand (note 30). The transaction contemplated under the
facility agreement constituted continuing connected transaction
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listing Rules.
However, this transaction is fully exempt from the disclosure
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listings Rules
as the transaction was on normal commercial terms or better
and no security over the assets of the Company was granted in
respect of such financial assistance.

Such amount was fully repaid during year ended 30 June 2024.

On 19 July 2017, the Group (as the borrower) and Mr. Law Shing
Hung (“‘Mr. Law”) (as the lender), a director of a subsidiary, had
entered into a facility agreement pursuant to which Mr. Law
agreed to lend to the Group up to HK$1,441,000 in aggregate
principle amount which was unsecured, non-interest bearing
and had no fixed term of repayment and was repayable on
demand. As at 30 June 2023, the balance was included in other
payables under liabilities directly associated with assets classified
as held for sales amounted to HK$1,441,000. The transaction
contemplated under the facility agreement constituted continuing
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Main
Board Listing Rules. However, this transaction is fully exempt
from the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the
Main Board Listings Rules as the transaction was on normal
commercial terms or better and no security over the assets of the
Company was granted in respect of such financial assistance.

Such amount was released upon the completion of disposal of
asset classified as held for sale during the year.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024
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37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments and investment properties measured as at 30 June 2024
and 2023 on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 “Fair value measurement”. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e.
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date such as listed stocks, bonds, funds
or any assets that have a regular mark to market mechanism for setting
a fair market value.

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Level 2 assets are assets that do not have
regular market pricing, but whose fair value can be determined based
on other data values or market prices. For example, valuers adopt
valuation model for assessing the market value of the properties, such
as comparing with similar assets surrounding the properties, hence,
the fair values are quoted prices for similar assets and not for identical
assets.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable
inputs.

37. A ¥ {HIT &

DNFEER

TRARKEFHEEEFEZAEBRR
2024 F N 2023F6 A30H 2@ T A K&
KEMELNFE ELEEHBHBR
HEAFEIBHEIAFEFZIFMRAEZS
BAAFEER EAFEFEFHE

BRD2ZHERNAMAZHBASEZ
AIBREREEEMEBETE  FBEOT

-ERMGE: ERAE-EREAK
5 B0 UAAE R E B (B £ R
B % EL)ARREAATHEE
T A R R 5 AT ()% 0 (2 1
AENEREERT S L2 RECR
{EHE) B AF(E -

FE_ERAMGE KBFEF_ELB AR
B ARENEEERZTEHEGA
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BEEEXAHEMEE - HIw - HEM
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37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 37. AFEFEw

Assets measured at fair value BAFEFEZEE

Fair value Level 1 Level 3

[AFE F-EBR FZER

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TET FERT FTET

As at 30 June 2024 1K 2024F6 A30H
Assets BE
Investment properties "EME 34,262 = 34,262
Financial assets at FVTPL BEATEFABRZSMEE
— listed equity securities — TR AN 10,421 10,421 -
Fair value Level 1 Level 3
AEE FEH F=ZER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FH& T FET FB T
As at 30 June 2023 R2023%F6 A30H
Assets BE
Investment properties "EWE 37,959 — 37,959
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFAEBESZEREE
— listed equity securities — ETRAESH 34,223 34,223 -
The movements during the year in the balance of these Level 3 fair FRNZEE=-EBRLATFEAEZ2H&#EHZ
value measurements are as follows: FEREHNMT
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT F&T
Investment properties including those GMENEABIEHEZ
classified as held for sales "EYE
At 1 July R7A1B 37,959 47,275
Currency realignment PE & A% (164) (3,647)
Fair value adjustment on investment properties 1% & ) % 7 A (8 & (3,533) (1,136)
Reclassified to assets held for sale B EEREGEEE - (4,533)
At 30 June 7»6 A30H 34,262 37,959

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 7. A FEFTFEmw

Assets measured at fair value (Continued)

Currency realignment is recognised in other comprehensive income in
exchange reserve.

All the gains or losses recognised in profit or loss for the year were
arisen from investment properties and listed equity securities held
during the reporting period.

There were no transfer between level 1, 2 and 3 during both years.

The fair value of all investment properties located in the Mainland were
derived using the market comparable approach based on price per
square foot or square metre observed in recent market prices and
adjusted for certain unobservable inputs including the adjustment of
the building age, location, fair value market rent and floor level to reflect
different locations and conditions.

As at 30 June 2024, the fair value of unlisted equity securities at FVTPL
amounting to HK$NIl (2023: HK$NIl) is assessed by the management
of the Group by using income approach with discounted cash flow
method (2023: discounted cash flow method).

As of 30 June 2023, the Group has 2 pieces of leasehold land with
contractual lease terms expiring in 2032 and 2043 with a hotel property
being erected on the 2 pieces of leasehold land and with a tenancy
agreement with a hotel operator, the Group receives fixed rental from
the hotel operator during the lease term, expiring near the end of the
contractual lease term of one of the leasehold land (i.e. 2033). The
abovementioned leasehold land and hotel property mainly included 2
elements: one was a finance lease receivable representing the right
to receive rental from the hotel operator till the end of lease term (i.e.
2033) and the other was an investment property representing interest in
a leasehold land with the remaining lease term from the end of the lease
term with the hotel operator (i.e. 2033 to 2043). The above mentioned
investment property was derecognised upon disposal of subsidiary.

As at 30 June 2023, the fair value of related investment properties
amounted to HK$4,533,000. The fair value as at 30 June 2023 was
performed by an independent firm of professional valuers, Stirling
Appraisals Limited by using adjusted market comparable method.
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37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

Assets measured at fair value (Continued)

The fair value of other investment properties of the Group amounted to
HK$34,262,000 (2023: HK$37,959,000) as of 30 June 2024 have also
been valued by Stirling Appraisal Limited, by using direct comparison

method.

Investment properties/
financial assets

held by the Group
FEBEBEENRE
ME SREE

37. A EHFTEmw

BAFEFTEZEE@®

KEBH E2024F6A30H 2 £ ik &
¥ ¥ 7 A F{E 34,262,000 7T (20234 :
37,959,000/ 7T) I R ZE E{H A R A A

ERERLBCRETTHE -

Valuation techniques & key inputs  Significant unobservable inputs

HERMREEEGABE

EXTAREGAHE

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value
FUBERABEH
AEEZEEF

Investment properties
located in the Mainland
(excluding the leasehold
land where hotel property
is erected)

IR B A B 3R A 3
("BEBEDEME
2 FE L)

Direct comparison method

BERLEBE

The key input is price per square
metre

TEHABBEREF I ARER

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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Price per square metre, using market

direct comparable and taking into
account the location and other
individual factors such as age

of the property, which is ranged
from HK$15,000 (equivalent to

RMB13,900) to HK$23,500 (equivalent

to RMB21,800) (2023: HK$16,700
(equivalent to RMB14,800)

to HK$27,700 (equivalent to
RMB24,600)).

FAMETERLRYELH R

25 DA T ) 2 02 e 5 L At 1]
AREBHEZEFEAIRERN
F150008 T (HHERARE
13,9007T) £23,5007% 7T (1%
A AREE21,8007T) (20234 ¢
16,7008 T (HHERARE
14,8007T) £27,7007% 7t (HHE 7
AR#E24,6007T)) °

A slight increase in the price per
square metre will increase the
fair value significantly
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY

38. AN 1 7] B % AR R R

2024 2023
2024 & 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FE T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries R B R R 2 Ex 728 728
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables JRE M5 A BR 3R 13,255 4,874
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABRZ
profit or loss EREE 4,948 5,428
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE Uk BT /B A Bl 3R 1B 64,445 27,494
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEHE 158 2,116
82,806 39,912
Current liabilities RBEE
Accruals and other payables FERTE B R E H AR 3,883 8,605
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERT BB R Al 8 177,708 171,940
181,591 182,545
Net current liabilities mEEEFE (98,785) (142,633)
Net liabilities EEFE (98,057) (141,905)
Capital and reserves BAEARGFEE
Share capital [N 6,838 27,353
Deficit (note) B AL (M EE1) (104,895) (169,258)
Total deficit BaAE (98,057) (141,905)

ARA 2B REKE 1K2024F9 A 30
ARESgAEREETE  Wh T

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 September 2024

and are signed on its behalf by: BEERERES:
WONG MAN WINNY LIU KA LIM
EH BEER
Chairperson Director
FE EF
BEREEEFRAR
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  38. & 2 &) Bf #& #k R 3]’ )
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note 1: Movements of the Company’s reserves during the current and the prior years Ml : ARARAFEERBAFEZHEZD
are as follows: M
Capital
Share  redemption General Capital ~ Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
B
B RE BERE —REE BEXREE RitEE i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FAET FHET FET FHET
At 1 July 2022 R2022F7 A1H 2,214,617 50 1,366,003 1,075,950 (4,804,285) (147,665)
Rights issue AR - - - - - -
Capital reduction R A HI R - - - - - -
Loss and total comprehensive 7% 4F € /&5 18 [ 2 1 37 1)
expense for the year EGE ] - - - — (21,593) (21,593)
At 30 June 2023 and 7202346 A30H
1 July 2023 J2023%7HA1H 2,214,617 50 1,366,003 1,075,950 (4,825,878) (169,258)

Profit and total comprehensive 7% 4F & i FI| J2 2 i@ 4 A

income for the year B — - - - 43,848 43,848
Capital reduction B A IR 20,515 - - - - 20,515
At 30 June 2024 7202496 4308 2,235,132 50 1,366,003 1,075,950 (4,782,030) (104,895)
Note 2: As at 30 June 2024, the Company do not have reserves available for BizE2 : M2024FE6 A30H AR A I & A # 5
distribution which calculated in accordance with the provisions of the KEHE(BRBEEREQTERARAMHA
Companies Act of Bermuda and the Company’s Bye-laws (2023 : Nil). BlEt&E) (2023 : &) °

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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0.ffE AR RE

R 2024 F K 2023F6 A30H * &N QA&

39. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 30 June 2024 and 2023 are

as follows: WEARZFBRT
Nominal value of
Place of issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value
incorporation/ registered capital/ of issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WEARER HMAY/BEwY BRORAEE/EMEL/EARE ADNAFKERARAEELD ZTEH
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 2023 2024 20234
100BESTSHOPS.COM Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Provision of e-shopping and
BA LER2ER LERET internet-based activities
REEREFRVREHBN
R%
Allied Joy (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EfR(FB)ERAT B EER1ERT LaER1IEL REER
Ample Splendid Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100% Investment holding
EEERARAA LABEAREE EERI0%ER  FERI00ET REZR
Big Charm Holdings Limited* BVI Ordinary US$10,000  Ordinary US$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
GEERERRE" EBEAREE ZER10,000%7  EBER10,000%7T REER
Bliss Ease Limited* BVI Ordinary US$50,000  Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100% Investment holding
RERRLA LZREAREE EER50,000% T EiEK50,000% T REZMR
Bright Creation Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000  Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100% Trading of cultural and other
BEEBERAA 55 EER10,0008 T  L@R10,000% T products
VEREMERES
Champion (Cook Islands) Limited* Cook Islands Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
ER#B EER1ER LER1ET REER
Champion Culture Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEXLEEERAT EiE EER10,0008 7  HEK10,000E T REZR
Champion Energy Resources Co BVI Ordinary US$100 Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited ABEAREE EERI0%ZR  EERI00%T REZR
BERRERERAT
Champion Energy Trading Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100% Trading (Gasol)
Company Limited BA EER1ET LERAET E7(Kmih)
BEEREFERAA
Champion Luck International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Property investment
RERRBRAR Bk EER2ET LER2ET NERE
Champion Million Industries Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100% Property investment
HEEXBRAA EiE EER2ET LakoET NERE
Champion Pacific Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100% Property investment
BHREBRAA Bk EER2ET EER2OET NERE
Champion Solana Energy Group Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000  Ordinary HK$10,000 60% 60% Inactive
Limited EiE EER10,0008T  EEK10,000E T EEXE
BEAGHEBEERAT
Champion Sports Development Limited ~ BVI Ordinary US$1,000  Ordinary US$1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEEELRERDA LZBEARKE BER1000%8  FEKI000%T REZR
BENEEEERAR

—E_MFFR
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39. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 39. fi B 2~ Al BE wm

Nominal value of

Place of issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value
incorporation/ registered capital/ of issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WEARER EMAL/EEwS BREORAEE/RMEL/E4RE ANAFKCRORAEELA TER
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 20235 045 20234
Champion Renewable Energy Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100% Design and sales of renewable
Engineering Company Limited BE LER10,0008 7  EBEE10,000% T energy products and solutions
BEBARRIRERAA TEARRERNBATRN
RithEE
Champion Renewable Energy Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000  Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Design and sales of renewable
Company Limited Bk EER100008 T Li@AR10,000E T energy products and solutions
BEELHRERAA BERRERTNBERARN
REMHEE
Champnet Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100% Inactive
BERRBRAT B EER2ER L@fko#T UEEH
Chosen Vantage Limited Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100% Inactive
EETES EERIZR raRiEn LEEH
Cosmic Ocean Global Limited* BVI Ordinary US$50,000  Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
LRRRARL A ERERAREE EER50,000% 7  EiBR50,0005% T REZR
Culture Landmark Authentication Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000  Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100% Inactive
And Valuation Centre (H.K) Limted & 7% EER100008 7T EER10,0008TT EE:d30
X EEET L (BB BRAT
Cyber Solutions Inc. Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100% Inactive
EETES EER1ZR TARER LEEH
Diamond Edge Enterprises Limited* BVI Ordinary US$50,000  Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
EHOZAR AR RBEBRES  LBRS0000ET LiBARS0,000%T REER
d-Key Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100% Inactive
B EER1ER LERIAT LEEH
d-Key Inc. Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100% Inactive
EEDHS EERIZR TakiEn TR
ESP Intenational Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Advertising and recruitment agency
ESPEIREEEEARAA B EER2ET LTakoET EERBRREAR
Eternal Huge Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 Ordinary HK$100 100% 100% Investment holding
KERRERAR B EER100E T LRRI00ET RAER
Gleaming Developments Limited BVI Ordinary US$50,000  Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
ARBERERAA ABRARES EER50,000% T Li#MR50,0005% T REZR
Golden Field Property Limited Hong Kong - Ordinary - 51% Investment holding
MEBRERRLA BB HK$10,000,000 REZR
ERR
10,000,000/ 7T
Happy Commercial Company Limited Macau Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Provision of documentation
EXBRAA ®F MOP25,000 MOP25,000 services and arrangement and
LERAME LRRRME business consultant
25,0007 25,0007 REXHRRRBEZHR

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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39. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 39.MB AR BEm
Nominal value of
Place of issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value
incorporation/ registered capital/ of issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WEARER HMAY/BEwS BRORAEE/EMELS/EARE ANAFKERARAEELD ZZEH
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 20235 045 2023
Harilela Kantone Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 55% 55% Inactive
Telecommunications Limited Bk LER100008 7  EBER10,000%ETT EEE30
High Win Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding and strategic
RERBRES EERIZR LERIET investment
REBRERARURE
Hero King Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$100 Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Property investment
BHERERAR EBEAREE EERI0ER  EER100%T NERE
Honest City Enterprises Limited* BVI —  Ordinary US$50,000 - 100%  Investment holding
BRAGEBRAR ABRARES Ei#R50,000% T REZR
Hong Kong IT Alliance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100% Inactive
EREMNAEEARAR BB EER2AR EER2ET TEZH
i-key (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Inactive
Bk LERIER LER1IET TmER
i-key Inc. Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100% Inactive
BEGES EBR1ZT TaRiEn TEZH
Kannet Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100% Inactive
ERPBERAR i EER2ER LakoEn LEEH
Kantone Paging Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 ~ Ordinary HK$1,000 100% 100%  Trading of pagers and provision of
EEPNETARAA )i Deferred Deferred messaging services
HK$2,000,000 HK$2,000,000 EEEMHRRREABERS
LER1,000ET  LERE1000ET
BER BIER
2,000,000 7t 2,000,000 10
Kontone International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
ERERARAT 7B EER2ER EER2ET REER
KTT (Cook Islands) Limited* Cook Islands Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
ER#S EER10,0008T  EEK10,000E T REZR
Luckiest Trading (Macao Macau Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Provision of consulting services,
Commercial) Limited B MOP100,000 MOP100,000 research and development, and
HHE S (RFEE) - ABRAA LERAMY LERAME trading of cuttural products
100,000 7% 100,007 REERRYE HERFE
NREEX(LER
Lucky Edge Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$100 Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Property investment
FHMERERAR EBEAREE EERI0ER  ETBERI0ZT NERE
Lucky Global Group Limited* BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100% Investment holding
VERREEERAT ABEAREE EERI0ET  FERI00ET REZR
Magic Elite Investments Limited* BVI Ordinary US$50,000  Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
DREREBRAT" REEBRREE  TERS000%T E@RS0000%ET REER
Marcotte Limited Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
EETHS EBR1ZR LERIET REZR
BENEEEERAR
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39. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 39. fi B 2~ Al BE wm

Nominal value of

Place of issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value
incorporation/ registered capital/ of issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WEARER EMAL/EEwS BREORAEE/RMEL/E4RE ANAFKCRORAEELA TER
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 % 2023 2024 20234
New Envirotech Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$20 Ordinary HK$20 100% 100% Inactive
MEBARRAA B EER20ET LER0ET LEEH
New Telecomm Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Inactive
HASHERAA B HK$6,000,000 HK$6,000,000 HEXH
EER LEK
6,000,000 7t 6,000,000 7
Power Favour Holdings Limited* BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100% Investment holding
AREZERBERAR" EBEARES EERI0ET  FEKI00ET REZR
QQKK.COM Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100% Inactive
B EER2ET LaRoET TREYR
Roc Castle Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$50,000  Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
BeERBERAT EBEARES EBER50,000% T EBK50,000E T REZR
Skill King Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$50,000  Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
HEERERAF EBEAREE EER50,000% T EBER50,000%T REER
Silver Edge Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$50,000  Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
RABRARAA ABEARES EER50,000% 7 EBK50,000% T REZR
Solar Rise Enterprises Limited* BVI Ordinary US$100 Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
RBEERRAR EBEAREE EERI00ER  EERI00ER REER
Vast Success (Hong Kong) Finance Hong Kong Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Money lending
Company Limited BA HK$100,000 HK$100,000 HEEH
B (FE) EEHBERAA EER LakR
100,0003% 7t 100,000/ 7T
Vast Acute Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$100 Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Property investment
ERERARAT ABEBRES EERI0ER  EBERI0ER ES ¢
Y28.COM Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Provision of e-commerce,
HHEBRAA B EER2AR LERET m-commerce and internet
based activities
REERETEE RDHER
ER@0 RS
Champion Telecommunication PRC Registered Registered 100% 100% Sales of general system products
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd (note (i) HE capital capital and provision of services and
Bmma s (RN ERAR HK$8,450,000 HK$2,450,000 software licensing
(W) ZHER FMER HE-RERERRRERE
8,450,000 Tt 2,450,007 70 REMAHHE
Digital HongKong.com Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Telecommunication service and
EERERAT % LER2ET LERET strategic investment
EARBREBRE
Eamest Century Limited Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100% Inactive
EELES EER1ZR TARER LEEH

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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39. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 39.MB AR BEm
Nominal value of
Place of issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value
incorporation/ registered capital/ of issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WEARER HMAY/BEwS BRORAEE/EMELS/EARE ANAFKERARAEELD ZZEH
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 20235 2024 2023
Manning International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100% Management service
NHBRERAR BA LER100008 7  EBER10000%ETT BERE
Champion Smart Technology Company ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100% Trading in telecommunication
Limited BA L E 10,0007 7T TRRIATL system and products
BEEERRBRAT BNERRERES
United Software Alliance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100% Inactive
BABBRARAR B EER2AR EER2ET TEZXH
Y28 Innovations* Cayman Islands Ordinary HK$0.1 Ordinary HKS0.1 100% 100%  Investment holding
S EEROIET Lako1Er REZR
Champion OTS Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 ~ Ordinary HK$10,000 60% 60% Sales of general system products
BEXBREZGERAA B EER10,0008 7 EER10,000% T —REREMNHE
Champion Widex Solar Energy Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000  Ordinary HK$10,000 60% 60% Inactive
International Limited Bk LAER10,0008 7  EAR10,000% T TmER
BEERAGHERBERAR
Art Lead International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100% Inactive
BRARARAA EiE EER1ER LakEr EEEHR
Quanheyi Digital Technology (Shenzhen)  PRC Registered capital  Registered capital 100% 100%  Sales of general system products
Co., Ltd. (note (i))* HE HK$6,500,000 HK$6,500,000 and provision of services and
BAZYTRE(RI BB AR R #fER software licensing
(P3E() 6,500,000 7t 6,500,000 7. HE-REZBERR
RERS R RTE
Innovative Ecoglory Technology PRC Registered capital - 51% — Research, development and
Company Limited (note (ii)* i HK$3,223,260 operation in gas fuel energy
BRE 2 KBBAR A (B i) dHER MAKEZHE RERCE
3,223,060 .
Notes: B 5
[0) Wholly foreign owned enterprise for a term of 60 years commencing from 27 (0} N B E D FHIMR1995F6 A27H i
June 1995. 604 o
(i) Wholly foreign owned enterprise incorporated in the PRC. (i R B EMELZ B ERE-
(i) A Sino-foreign equity joint venture incorporated in the PRC. (iif R BEFMELzRIIEERE-
* Directly held by the Company * AAARBEERSE
# For identification purposes only i EXEE= ]
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39.

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The deferred shares, which are held by the Group, of an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary, Kantone Paging Company Limited entitled the
holders thereof to:

(@ afixed non-cumulative dividend at the rate of 5% per annum for
any financial year of the company in question in respect of which
the net profits of such company exceed HK$100,000,000,000;
and

(b)  on a winding-up, a return of the capital paid up on such shares
out of the surplus assets of the company in question after a
total sum of HK$100,000,000,000 has been distributed in such
winding up in respect of each of the ordinary shares of such
company.

Save as disclosed, none of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
subsisting at 30 June 2024 and 2023 or at any time during the year.

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests

The table below provides details of a non-wholly owned subsidiaries of
the Group that has material non-controlling interests:

Proportion of
ownership interests and

39.MB AR BEm®m

MAKEFREZ MIFEERZEHEEAN
MEBAREBATXENERARZEL
B T HEE AR

@ MZARNETHA—BYREE
2 #& 7 #8 #1100,000,000,000% T
B Mz ARMREESEZTER
FEBERE R

b RARBEE FR&EET
AR EREBRSIRAR
100,000,000,0008 7L1% * B #% A A
ZHBEEFREZTRM 2 M
R

B E X EEN KB R F R2024F

$% 20234 6 A 30 H sk F A {F fa] B & 15 &
EREBES -

BEEAFERRRERZ
FEEMBRARZHRE
TREHBAEAFERBEES 2 A
EEEAWBARZHE -

Place of incorporation voting rights held by Profit/(loss) allocated to Accumulated
and principal place of non-controlling interests ~ non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests
Name of subsidiaries business as at 30 June for the year ended 30 June as at 30 June
R6A30H BZ6A30BLEE
HMALE SR FERRRES T PEFFERRRE M6A30R &5t
o) A TEEEME BEERERRREELH BEzuH/(F8) FERRRESR
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 F 20234 2024 2023 F 2024 20234
Others - (14) (25) (25)
HA
Golden Field andits ~ Hong Kong/PRC - 49% 198 473 - 17,271
subsidiary A&,/
Hes R EWE
NG

BREEAFERBRRESZ ZANEENE
RACHBERBBLEZS REAZ
e RENBRARAKIBRLELEH
(MEE13)  -MFTEHERMERFEAT
PO

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests is not presented because
Golden Field and its subsidiaries are classified as disposal group (note
13), and such subsidiary had been disposed during the year.
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40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING

PERIOD

On 27 June 2024, the Company entered into two placing agreements,
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to place, on a
best effort basis, maximum of 136,764,000 placing shares.

The placing has been completed and a total of 136,764,000 placing
shares at the placing price of HK$0.175 per placing share were placed
to not less than six placees on 19 July 2024. The net proceeds from
the placing, after deducting placing commission, professional fees
and all related expenses, amount to approximately HK$23 million.
The Company intends to use approximately HK$8 million of the net
proceeds for general working capital of the Group, HK$10 million as
working capital specifically for renewable energy business and data
centers, and the remaining HK$5 million for investment in the renewable
energy sectors should the opportunities arise.

Details of the 2024 placing are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 27 June 2024 and 19 July 2024,

40. R EHREE

MR2024F6 8278 KARQARE M2 &
Wk B ARB A GFHREWIR
BENEE - &K %136,764,000 2 &
B&AD o

R2024F7H198 REFTEHEEK K
EREBEREERHATSE TR
RN B EE A B E & 136,764,000 3% A
ERHm - BLEBBEAMBRIBFEEHR
REfMe ZEERRMEEBAZR)
& #923,000,0005% 7T ° A 2 A # 145 BT 15
X I % 58 498,000,000/ T A EAREE 2
— & EE £ 410,000,000 7T A 1E
AHAEREBRBBEFONEREE
&4 N& T 495,000,000 7T 5 B #
BEEENIBERRITE-

P24 FREFEMFRBHNR AR A HH
B2024F 6 A27H K%2024%7 4198 K

Ak
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RESULTS ¥EE

Year ended 30 June
BZ6H30ALFE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 F 2023 F 2022 F 2021 4 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET FET FHETT

Revenue Y = 208,612 25,292 60,969 237,473 410,668

Loss from ordinary activities B & 5& Bf i R B A
before taxation B8

Loss from operating activites N8 18 E ith &£ 18 B

excluding other operating KA 25 BB 1A
items (12,776) (11,675) (52,610) (52,753) (41,052)
Other operating items Hinge=1E B - - - — -
Loss before taxation BRBLATES 1B (12,776) (11,675) (52,610) (52,753) (41,052)
Income tax credit/(expense)  FR3HIIK %, (X H) 554 (697) (428) (4,189 3,328
Loss for the year AEERFA (12,222) (12,272) (53,038) (56,942) (37,724)
Attributable to: FEAG -
Owners of the Company ZIN/NETES F =N (12,420) (12,745) (52,410) (59,822) (39,521)
Non-controlling interests JE 12 A% A% BR A = 198 473 (628) 2,880 1,797
Dividends f& £ - - - - -

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE

At 30 June

A6H30H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 5 2023 F 20224 2021 4 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET BT FET

Total assets BERE 262,389 174,030 179,045 414,892 458,766
Total liabilities =Rk (165,920) (45,532) 29,426 350,797 396,042
Shareholders’ funds BRES 96,469 128,498 149,619 64,095 62,724

Equity/(deficit) attributable to:  FEAE #E2E, (5 4

— Owners of the Company ~ — RNAF#EA A 96,494 111,252 130,855 (6,967) 17,305
— Non-controlling interests ~ — JEIEAZ A% A 2 (25) 17,246 18,764 71,062 45,419
96,469 128,498 149,619 64,095 62,724

BENHEBERDH
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Below is the information of the investment properties:

AT BEENEER -

Address and lot no. Existing use Lease information
b Hb K7 i ER AR HEEH
1. Unit 8A on 8th Floor, Block 4, Leased out The land use rights of the property were held

Tianji Building, Tian’an Chegongmiao Industrial Zone,
Futian District,Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province,
The PRC
FREERERYTEERBRLCEABLERE
REREATRBIBBAE T

Unit 702 on Level 7 and car parking space No.36,
Jin Men Plaza,

No. 389 Jin Wan Road,

Pudong New District,

Shanghai, The PRC

FE EBTHRRE &K EFIES
7THET702%E k3655 1F E AL

Unit 703 on Level 7 and car parking space No.37,
Jin Men Plaza,

No. 389 Jin Wan Road,

Pudong New District,

Shanghai, The PRC

B B TR RO R & 2 BE 8895t & FTE 5
7TET703E K37 ELNL

Champion Technology Holdings Limited

204  Annual Report 2024

and occupied
for office use

B

/NI

Vacant
=B

Vacant

Fo ==
-

for a term expiring on 15 November 2038 for
industrial and storage uses

ZMEN LI E R E R E2038F11 A
158 AR ITEME B &

The land use rights of the property were
held for a term expiring on 30 May 2042 for
industrial use

Z W EE L A BBR 2 2042F 5 F
30H - BRIXA%E

The land use rights of the property were
held for a term expiring on 30 May 2042 for
industrial use

ZE Y L0 R AR E2042F 5 5
30H - AR I¥A%E
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